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INTRODUCTION

Namibia is one of Africa’s least known countries. To some it is
the former German South West Africa; to others a unique case
in international law. 1t is the last African country still fighting
for independence from European rule and it suffers a unique
form of domination — occupation by South Africa. The people
of Namibia share with the people of South Africa an experience
of the racist system of apartheid that has also been extended to
Namibia. The Namibian liberation struggle led by SWAPO —
the South West Africa People’s Organisation — has to combat
the military might of the white minority regime in South Africa
and its attempts to dominate the whole southern African
region.

What, then, is SWAPQ? Who are the people of Namibia?
What is it that has shaped their identity and brought different
communities together in opposition to foreign rule? This book
attempts to answer these questions and traces the history of
Namibian resistance to both German and South African
domination.

I should like to thank Unesco for contracting this study and
encouraging me to complete it as a broad-based historical
account of Namibian resistance. Such an account, however
brief, is overdue.

Very little is known about the Namibian past and what has
been written has been heavily distorted. I also strongly believe
those who say that in order for us to understand the present we
must understand the past. Thus, this account attempts to
provide a historical perspective. It is hoped that in this way the
book will provide the reader with a panoramic setting of
Namibian resistance, as traced from primary resistance against
colonial rule to the fully-fledged armed liberation struggle of
today. I try to show how successive Namibian generations have
continued to resist German and South African domination, and
thereby place the contemporary struggle in the context of the
general opposition conducted by Namibian communities to
foreign rule.

It is to end the agony described in this book that the
Namibian people are today locked in a bitter struggle against
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Introduction

the South African regime, in order to be able freely to
determine their political destiny.

Peter H Katjavivi
Oxford

X



I NAMIBIA UP TO THE 1860s

In spite of German and South African land expropriations, the
pattern of African settlement in Namibia today generally
reflects that of the pre-colonial era. The Herero and Damara
people lived in central and north-western parts of the territory,
while in the north were the Ovambo communities, extending
into what is now southern Angola. Various Nama clans were
settled in southern Namibia, the Orlams migrating from the
Cape during the early nineteenth century. The Rehobothers
(also originally from the Cape) established their community
south of Windhoek in 1870. In Okavango there were five groups
of people — the Kangwali, Mbunza, Sambyu, Mbukushu and
Geiriku. The Mbukushu also extended into Caprivi, alongside
Subia and Lozi people. Groups from both Okavango and
Caprivi were not, however, confined to territory within the
current borders of Namibia but were part of wider societies that
crossed these borders.

The oldest inhabitants of Namibia, as of the rest of southern
Africa, are the nomadic San. They are often referred to as
‘Bushmen’ but I prefer to use the Herero word ‘Ovakuruvehi’,
meaning ‘the ancient (or original) ones’. Today the Ovaku-
ruvehi of Namibia mostly live along the Kalahari desert and in
the Grootfontein area. Modern technology, other cultures and
economic and political pressures have affected their lifestyle,
but in many ways it remains much the same as it has been for
centuries. These people have always been skilled hunter-
gatherers, finding food and water in areas where others could
not survive. They lived in small autonomous communities that
did not have permanent settlements but moved around within
a certain broad area, following the search for food. They shared
a common language group and general cultural characteristics,
although there were distinct differences between the various
groups.

The Hereros were pastoralists, their economic base being the
rearing of cattle. The Damaras and Namas also lived on the
produce of cattle, goats and sheep, and the Damaras were
skilled hunters. The various Ovambo communities, however,
were mostly cultivators and agriculturalists. Those communi-
ties living nearer the coast, and those in Okavango and Caprivi,



Namibia up to the 18605

caught and ate fish. Others supplemented their diet by
collecting wild berries and nuts.

These were separate societies with different cultures and
areas of settlement, often demarcated by rivers or other
geographical features. But they interacted with each other
considerably. Groups from the different societies wou!d
sometimes live alongside each other, and there was a certain
amount of trading between them. This was an exchange of
commodities that one or another community lacked, such as
cattle, goats, salt, tools, wooden bowls and utensils, pots, skins
(for mats and blankets), plus ornaments such as ostrich feathers
and shells. The Ovambos and Damaras were also known for
their copper smelting.

The political structures of the different societies also varied.
However, they did share certain characteristics as far as they
related to the question of land. The life of each society revolved
around the land and its use, Individual wealth derived from
proper utilisation of the land, although in most cases people
did not own or possess land as such. As people lived
communally, those who did not possess cattle or were not able
to produce food through cultivation of the land, for one reason
or another, were provided for within the community.

The Na}na communities were originally based on five or six
clans which claimed rights to specific areas and waterholes,
although they were not separated on strict territorial grounds.
The settlements were fairly large, numbering between 800 and
1,500 people each. Food and shelter wers provided by the
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Namibia up 10 the 1860s

for their cattle. They are a community about which little is
written, and what there is tends to portray a picture of a
scattered group of people dominated by the Namas and
Hereros. In fact, however, Damara settlements were stable ones
and included copper mining and working.? They share a
common language group and some cultural characteristics with
the Namas and, by the early nineteenth century, lived
alongside and interacted closely with both Nama and Herero
societies.

The central part of Namibia (from Windhoek up to Otavi) was
populated by Hereros. They formed fairly separate communi-
ties, linked by language and culture, but based on the
family/clan unit, without any unified chieftaincy system. Oral
history and anthropological evidence suggests that Herero-
speaking communities first came to Namibia from central/east
Africa in the sixteenth century and settled in Kaokoveld, where
the Herero-speaking Ovahimba and Ovatjimba still live today.
It was not until the eighteenth century that some of them
moved southwards, eventually being checked by the Orlam
community under Jonker Afrikaner. By the 1870s, Windhoek
(Otjomuise) was considered to be part of Hereroland.

These communities were rich in cattle, some chiefs possess-
ing ‘such enormous herds as to arouse the admiration and envy
of more than one European contemporary, especially in the
latter part of the 19th century’.’ Their settlements were
semi-permanent and there was some trading with the Ovambo
communities to the north, especially in iron and copper
articles.

The various Ovambo communities in the north of Namibia
were made up of seven groups with different but associated
languages and shared common cultural characteristics. They
possessed some cattle and a few sheep. The main means of
subsistence, however, was cultivation on the fertile river
plains, although this was a small area for a large population.
Corn, millet, maize, beans, groundnuts and pumpkins were
grown. In these societies the chiefs exercised greater contl_'ol
over their subjects than in the rest of the country. The family
was, however, the unit of production, with men being responsi-
ble for stock herding, heavy agricultural work and most crafts.
Women were responsible for cultivation, fishing, domestic
work and a few crafts.*

These were not static societies existing in a fixed form for
hundreds of years. Nor did they always peacefully co-exist. B.ut
conflict did not always run on ethnic lines as some colonial
writers would have us believe. Rather, it was the product of
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wider socio-economic changes. The internal dynamics of theﬁe
societies interacted with external stimuli for change, in the
form of increasing trade and contact with 'Europeans. .Thl.ls t E;
migration of the Orlams north into Namibia at the begmmrflg 0
the nineteenth century was in response to pressures from
European expansion in the Cape. Tf_lis in turn put prgs§ur~?r fllll;
grazing lands and water supplies in southern Namlbla.l :
process of accommodation of Orlam groups by the Nama clan l,
with attendant conflict, broke down traditional Nama socia
structures. A new form of social and economic orgamsatmg
emerged - the kommando.5 It was a smaller unit than the U'll
Nama groups and was essentially 10-50 men around a _famlhy
leader, using horses and guns acquired through trade with the
Cape to raid the cattle and possesstons of other communities.

In the mid-nineteenth century the Orlams under Jonker
Afrikaner and various Nama groups came increasingly into
conflict with the Hereros, over land, cattle and water rlghtfi-
This developed into a prolonged war between the Namas an
Hereros that lasted until a treaty was signed between them in
1870. Sporadic fighting broke out again in the early 1880s, but
by this time there were the new problems caused by German
intervention in Namibia. In the process of these wars Hendrl'k
Witbooi emerged as a leading Nama figure and asserted his
authority over many other Nama groups.

The late nineteenth century also saw the rise of a central
Herero chieftaincy, under Maharero and his son Samuel

Maharero. This came aboyt through four main processes. First,
intermarriage betwee

treaties, as they did with both
Maharero (1885) and Samuel Maharerg (1894). Fourth, Samuel
Maharero used the 1896 rebellion against German rule as an
opportunity to strengthen his OWn position, by joining the
Tmans in quelling it. (See chapter 2,)
Social stratification alse intensified in the Ovambo commu-
nities in the nineteenth century, and one account describes a
feudal class structure already

the expanding consumer desires of the kings and their
lenga wa

r leaders, which could not be met merely by
4



Namibia up to the 1860s

raiding. An increasingly oppressive tax burden thus fell
upon the shoulders of commoners, and a stratum of men
who had lost their cattle emerges.”

EARLY EUROPEAN PENETRATION

The first recorded arrival of Europeans in Namibia was when
the Portuguese sailor and explorer Diogo Cao landed at Cape
Cross in 1485. All he saw was the endless sands of the famous
Namib desert; he did not encounter any people from the
Namibian communities living beyond the desert or in the
Swakop river valley. In 1486, another Portuguese explorer,
Bartholomew Diaz, sailed round the Cape before heading back
to Portugal. He stopped and erected a stone cross at a place he
named Angra Pequena, near the present town of Luderitz. He
also reported seeing some Africans and large herds of cattle in
the area of the Fish river.?

After these two landings, no Europeans came to Namibia
until the seventeenth century. Then in the 1670s Dutch
explorers from the Cape landed in Namibia and initiated the
first face-to-face encounters between Europeans and Africans.
It was not until the late 1700s, however, that European
influence and some early settlers really began to penetrate
Namibia.

Around 1793 some Cape-based Dutch settlers moved into
Namibia, even as far north as Grootfontein, and established
themselves as farmers. Then when the Orlams migrated into
Namibia in the early nineteenth century they opened up the
south of the country to trade routes with the Cape. This brought
guns and some European-made goods into Namibia. The first
European traders actually to come to Namibia them;elves did
s0 in the late eighteenth century but these were few in number
and their activities were low-key. By the mid-nineteenth
century the number of traders had increased and their network
extended as far north as Etosha. They were still sn;a_ll-scale
entrepreneurs, but they introduced firearms into Namibia, thus
making any conflict between Namibian communities much
worse.

Early European penetration mainly consisted of such tradelrs,
plus missionaries and explorers. Indeed, it was a Swedish
explorer, Charles John Andersson, who travelled in 1856
through central and northern parts of Namibia, and ‘iater coined
the name by which the territory came to be known, South West
Africa’. Previously it had been referred to as the Trans-Gariep

5
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(‘across the Orange River’, Gariep being the old Nama name for
the Orange) but more often by region only, in terms of the local
communities, as Namaqualand, Damaraland and Ovamboland.
Other key explorers in the mid-nineteenth century were
Galton, Baines, Green and Chapman. .

Missionary activity was spearheaded by the London Mis-
sionary Society and the Wesleyans, who began to operate in
Namibia in 1802, in the south of the country. They were
followed, from 1840 onwards, by German and then Finnish
Lutheran missionaries. One of the principal Lutherans was the
German Hugo Hahn, who established the first settled Lutheran
mission at Otjikango, near Okahandja, in 1844 and his first trip
to Ovamboland was in 1857,

The missionaries, in particular those of the German Rhenish
Lutheran Mission, believed in their own ‘civilising’ mission,
which centred on the promotion of European culture as much
as on the Bible message itself. The Director of the Rhenish
Missionary Society in the late nineteenth century, F. Fabri, saw
mission work ag ‘useful’ for trade or colonial annexation and
one particular missionary, C G Buttner, ‘strove zealously t(gl
Promote German colonial government in South West Africa’.
When German colonial rule was formally established, many
missionaries therefore took cover under it, and on the whole
they kept silent about German brutalities in Namibia and the

arsh regime later imposed by South Africa.



2 GERMAN CONQUEST
& NAMIBIAN RESISTANCE

The arrival of increasing numbers of Afrikaner and German
settlers and the activities of the traders and missionaries
seriously disrupted Namibian societies. Conflict between the
Namas and Hereros over cattle and grazing land was made
worse with the advent of guns sold by traders, and this led to
the Herero chief, Maharero, signing a treaty with the British in
1876. This was supposed to offer the Herero people protection
from their enemies. Then in 1876 Britain annexed the area
around Walvis Bay.

In 1883—4 the German businessman Adolf Luderitz came to
an agreement, after lengthy negotiations with Chief Joseph
Frederick of Bethanie, which gave him the rights over the area
around Angra Pequena. The settlement was soon renamed
Luderitz. This opened up the country to German economic and
political interests and the formal establishment of German
colonial rule in the country.

In trying to establish control over Namibia the Germans
relied upon the use of force and the old colonial tactics of
divide and rule. They tried to play Namibian groups off against
each other, using competition over land and cattle to divide
them, or forced them to sign protection treaties giving away
their land. Thus in 1885 Herero Chief Maharero agreed a
protection treaty with the Germans which allocated an ill-
defined area for European settlement. But the German expro-
priation of land and cattle caused Maharero to break off the
treaty in 1888. The first German Commissioner, Dr H.E. Goring,
(father of the Nazi War Minister Hermann Géring) was forced to
retreat to Walvis Bay. It was then that the first contingent of
German troops was sent to Namibia, under Captain von
Francois, to secure the area for Germany once again.

Von Francois tried to lay down specific borders to Herero-
land and moved his troops to Windhoek to create a buffer zone
between the Namas and Hereros. Then in 1890 Maharero died
and the German colonial authorities and missionaries suppor-
ted the claim of his son, Samuel Maharero (a Christian), in the
succession, aithough the first in line was actually Nikodemus
Kambahahiza Kavikunua, son of Maharero’s older brother and
a chief of the eastern Hereros. In 1896, Kambahahiza and

7
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German Conguest & Namibian Resistance

Kahimemua, another prominent Herero chief, openly r.ebelledd
against the continuing German encroachmeqt of their lar} .
Samuel Maharero saw this as a challenge to his own authority
and sided with the Germans in quelling the rebellion. Kamba-
hahiza and Kahimemua were executed and the cattle of the
tern Hereros were expropriated.

ealsn the south of NamibiI?i, Hendrik Witbooi had, by the 1880.3,
become a strong military figure and leading Nama chief. He ha
won this position through raids on other Nama clans and on
Herero settlements, taking their cattle, horses and other
livestock. But in the early 1890s he increasingly attacked
German encampments and supply convoys. The new German
governor, Leutwein, subdued the smaller Nama clans by fOI‘Cﬁ
in 1894, taking their horses so that they could not mount suc
effective resistance to the German troops. He covered southem
Namibia with a network of small military posts, building up to
a large-scale attack on Witbooi in August 1894, after which
Witbooi was forced to sign a treaty with the Germans.

THE 19047 WAR OF RESISTANCE

Eventually, such tactics led to a widespread war of resistance to
German rule by the Nama and Herero people, from 1904 to
1907. In a letter to the German governor, Leutwein, Herero

Chief Samuel Maharero described the killings that were the
immediate cause of the war:

It has been started by the Whites (yourself}. You yourself

know how many Hereros have been killed by White
people, particularly traders with guns, and i

of my people was compensate

small stock . . . Lieutenant 7 . . started killing my people
in gaol. There died {were killed) 10 ... Ip the end he
Placed and secreted in the fort soldiers (from the Civilian
Reserve) and he called me in order to shoot me . . . [he]

sent men with guns in order to shoot me. Thereupon [
became angry and said — 'now |

. must shoot the Whites
even though I die’ . . . Thyg the war commenced. !

unarmed or non-German Europeans were t b d. Efforts
were made tg bring the Na 0 be attacked.

e mas and Rehobothers into the
upnsing as weil, but g key letter sent from Samuel Maharero to
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Nama Chief Hendrik Witbooi was taken by the Germans. It
contained the following call:

All our patience with the Germans is of little avail, for
each day they shoot someone dead for no reason at all.
Hence I appeal to you, my brother, not to hold aloof from
the uprising, but to make your voice heard so that all
Africa may take up arms against the Germans. Let us die
fighting rather than die as a result of maltreatment,
imprisonment or some other calamity. Tell all the Kap-
teins [chiefs] down there to rise and do battle.?

The Namas did join the uprising in October 1904. Indeed,
most of the communities in central and southern Namibia —
Damaras, Hereros and most of the Nama groups including the
Bondelswarts — took part in the uprising. The Rehobothers did
not. The Ovambo communities to the north were not directly
involved because they had generally not been brought under
German control, but they did aid people fleeing from German
retribution in the rest of the country.

When war was declared by Samuel Maharero, Leutwein and
most of the German troops were in the south of the country
quelling an uprising by the Bondelswarts. In their absence, the
Hereros were able to seize control of much of the central part of
the country. Over 100 German men — settlers and soldiers —
were killed; railway and telegraphic links were destroyed and
s0 were some German farms, although the families were
spared.? German garrisons and settlements were beseiged. For
six months the Hereros held their positions. Then the Germans
brought in troop reinforcements and & new military head —
General Von Trotha -~ who had brutally repressed African
resistance to German rule in East Africa.

On 11 August 1904 the decisive battle was fought at
Hamakari, east of Otjozondjupa (Waterberg). Herero men,
women and children were camped there together and encircled
by German troops. Thousands were killed. Some broke through
German lines to the east and were followed and forced into the
Kalahari desert, where many more died. Others managed to flee
northwards and were aided, in particular, by Chief Nehale of
the Ondonga community. Others still sought refuge elsewhere
in the country. But many were taken as prisoners of war and
used as slave labour on the railways, where there were more
deaths.

In October 1904 Von Trotha issued an extermination order,
declaring that
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inside German territory every Herero tribesman, armed or
unarmed, with or without cattle, will be shot. No women
and children will be allowed in the territory: they will be
driven back to their people or fired upon . . . I believe that
the Herero must be destroyed as a nation.?

By the end of 1905, 75-80% of the Herero population had been
killed, reduced from 60,000-80,000 to some 16,000. Of these,
14,000 were in German concentration camps.’® Others had
fled to South Africa or across the Kalahari desert into
Botswana, where their descendants live today.

In October 1904 the Namas, under the leadership of Chief
Hendrik Witbooi, took up arms against the Germans and shifted
the focus of the war to the south of the country. Witbooi himself
was killed in action in October 1905 and some Nama groups,
dispirited by this loss, surrendered. But guerrilla bands, under
leaders such as Abraham Morris, Jacob Marenga (whose name
has'of_ten been misspelt as Marengo), Cornelius, Johannes
Christian and Simon Kopper, continued to fight the German
troops until 1907-8. Jacob Marenga was renowned as 2
successful guerrilla leader and in 1907 the then German
Governor, Bruno von Schuckmann, reported that an appedr-
ance by Marenga in Namibia was ‘like an electric shock,

causir,'% great excitement among the natives, ail the way to the
north’.® Marenga was eventually followed by British and
German troops acting to

ng together and was killed in the Cape in
geptember 1907. Simon Kopper was based for some time il
I_f:ptswana., and mounted raids across the border into Namibia
fei,:re 3gﬁ}n the British co-operated with the Germans. They
g ffere 1_11? land on which to settle in Botswana if he stoppe
aéscegl.::an adrtif,lstance to German rule in Namibia. Kopper
Botsfv ana.an € and a small group of followers settled in
B Tﬁlgll‘ilarélsas;lgo suffered dreadfully in the war of Tesistance
y » 35-50% of the Namg population had been killed; i}

10
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and on traditional forms of organisation. Chiefs and headmen
were executed as ringleaders of the uprising. Many Namas and
Hereros were deported to other parts of the country.

THE NATURE OF GERMAN COLONIAL RULE

German colonial rule in Namibia had three key elements. First,
land was taken from the Namibian people and made available
to German settlers. Second, traditional social structures were
destroyed to try to make Namibians subservient colonial
subjects. Third, Namibians were used as forced labourers on
the now white-owned land and the new mines and early
industries.

Lands taken from the Namas and Hereros after the war of
resistance were given to German settlers and increasing
numbers of Germans emigrated to Namibia. By 1911 most of the
good land in the centre and south of the country that had
previously been in African hands was white-owned (see Map
5).

No education was provided for Namibians by the German
colonial regime. The missionaries offered some education, but
they were under instructions from the colonial authorities to
confine this to teaching the Bible and some German, rather than
reading and writing. Herero Chief Frederick Maharero
described the German attitudes towards African education as
follows:

The Germans fought us and took away our land. That is
why they do not want to see any good in us. They
converted us to Christianity but did not want to give us
any education or to help us to advance. They only
preached to us. The Hereros did not learn anything from
them except the word ‘God’. The Germans were afraid of
the Herero people. They did not want them to learn and to
become civilised as we want today. I was taken_ to
Germany with the others to be shown to the Kaiser
because he did not know his black subjects, and also to be
taught . . . We were there one year [about 1894]. We were
not taught anything. Only we rode about on horses and
dressed and drilled as soldiers.’

The Germans never controlled or administered the northern
part of Namibia beyond the so-called ‘Red Line’, south of which
was termed the ‘Police Zone’. But the north was increasingly
used as a source of labour, setting a pattern of forced labour

11
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under appalling conditions and poverty-level wages. When
Namibians from the centre and south of the country were
dispossessed of their land after the 1904-7 war of resistance,
they were compelled to work for the Germans by a series of
pass and vagrancy laws. But after the Tsumeb copper mine was
opened in 1906 and diamond mining started in 1908 around
Luderitz, more workers were needed. They were brought from
the north of Namibia on fixed-term contracts. By 1910 some
10,000 Ovambo contract workers were already coming south to
work, mostly on the mines and railways.

It was the natural and mineral wealth of Namibia that led to
the Germans creating this system of exploitation of Namibian
labour and resources. The white wealth and black poverty

brgught about by this are still the basic features of Namibia
today.



3 THE SOUTH AFRICAN TAKE-OVER
& THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS MANDATE

During the First World War South African forces, acting at the
request of the British Government, invaded Namibia. Generals
Botha and Smuts led a force of some 8,000 men, entering the
country in January 1915 through Walvis Bay and Luderitz. They
advanced on the German colonial forces, which numbered about
9,000, and eventually took control of the capital, Windhoek, on
12 May 1915. A South African military governor, Sir Howard
Gorges, was appointed and he ran the country under martial law.

As soon as the war ended in Europe, the Allied Powers
convened the Peace Conference which was held in Paris in 1918.
The desire to prevent another outbreak of war on such a scale led
to the formation of the League of Nations and this was also seen
as an appropriate body for dealing with the former German
colonies. South Africa, acting on behalf of Britain, was made
responsible for Namibia under the terms of a League of Nations
Mandate. This was signed in Geneva on 17 December 1920 and
came into effect on 1 January 1921, when the period of South
African martial law in Namibia ended.

South Africa was expected, under the terms of the mandate, to
administer Namibia as a ‘sacred trust of civilisation’.

The Mandatory shall promote to the utmost the material
and moral well-being, and the social progress of the
inhabitants of the Territory ... the Mandatory shall see that
the slave trade is prohibited, and that no forced labopr is
permitted except for essential public works and services,
and then only for adequate remuneration.’

But it is clear that the intentions of Generals Smuts and Botha,
who attended the Paris Conference, had always been. to
incorporate Namibia fully into the Union of South Africa.
Indeed South Africa not only failed to promote the ‘matenal_apd
moral well-being’ and ‘social progress’ of the people of Namibia,
but actively set about moulding them into servants of white
society. South Africa’s record on Namibia has been aptly
described as follows:

As they concerned the South West Afri'can‘natives, }he
Mandatory Power's administration of justice, its education

13
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The South African Take-over & the League of Nauons Mandate

policy, its health policy, its land policy, its attitudes
towards missions, its attitude towards the prohibition of
arms and liquor and towards native affairs in general, all
revolved around the basic assumption that the African's

existence had only one important purpose - to serve white
interests.?

THE NATURE OF SOUTH AFRICAN RULE

South Africa continued and extended the land expropriations of
the Germans and encouraged more white settlers to come to the
country, mostly Afrikaners from South Africa. When they took
over control of Namibia there were 1,138 farms in white use. BY
the end of 1925, 880 holdings had been sold to 1,106 new
settlers. By 1926 the white population was almost double that of
1914, even though some 6,000 German soldiers and officials had
been repatriated to Germany.® The new South African regime
went out of its way to assist white settlers with financial loans,
and built dams and waterholes for them. A special fund was also
set up to encourage Afrikaners who had trekked as far north as
Q.itligola in 1874 to come south and settle in Namibia, and many
id so.

ThB' other side of this policy of white settlement was the
establishment of reserves for the African population. In 1922,
the Native Reserves Commission recommended a mere 10% of

the land in the centre and south of the country for Africans 10
live on - 5 million hectares out of 57 million. But the actual
proclamation of 1923 w

as even worse: i i ly 2
million hectares. Yoi bl orse: it gave Africans only
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The South African Take-over & the League of Nations Mandate

The reserves and northern regions allocated to Africans have
never been able to sustain their populations. This is not
accidental. It is a fundamental characteristic of South African
policy for they were always intended to be pools of labour from
which black workers would come to the so-called white areas —
the mines, railways, farms, developing industries, etc. By
confining Africans in these areas the South African regime has
avoided having to pay wages that would support a black worker
and his/her family, and has avoided the costs of proper
housing, sanitation, health care and social provision.

A network of rigid laws and regulations has controlled the
movement of all black Namibians under South African rule. As
early as 1920 a proclamation was issued that made it an offence
to be wandering about as an ‘idle or a vagrant person, or a
person without visible means of support’, with any ‘offenders’
being forced to work for an employer specified by the courts.”
Together with the various other laws that governed where
blacks could live and work, this was a clear policy of forced
labour that directly contravened the terms of the League of
Nations mandate.

Within the black labour force, South Africa created three
distinct groups of workers:

1 Those few Africans qualified to live and therefore work in
towns or on white farms. The men worked mostly as mess-
engers and ‘shop boys’, and later, as some education for
Namibians was introduced, as clerks or teachers. The women
almost all worked as domestic servants in white homes,
although later some trained as nurses and teachers. To this
group should also be added the so-called Coloureds and
Rehobothers who have residency rights in their own urban
areas,

2 Male migrant workers from the reserves in the centre and
south of the country, many of whom worked on white farms.

3 Male contract workers from the north,.mostly working on
the mines, railways and fisheries (in Walvis Bay).

These differentiations have also coincided with ethnic ones —
another feature of South Africa’s wider approach of divide and
rule.

The most exploited group of black workers in Namibia has
been the contract workers from the north. Two contract
recruiting agencies were established in 1925 - the Southern
Recruiting Organisation for the diamond mines, and the
Northern Labour Organisation for the Tsumeb copper mine and
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The South African Take-over & the League of Nations Mandate

other employers. In 1943 these merged into the South West
Africa Native Labour Association {SWANLA). Men being
recruited were given a rudimentary medical check and then
divided into three categories of fitness: (a) for work
underground in the mines; {b) for surface work on the mines or
for heavy farm labour; and (c} for lighter farm work as sheep or
cattle herders. No choice was given to the workers. No hours or
conditions of work were specified. ‘Only the servant is required

to render the master his service at all fair and reasonable
times.”®




4 LAND, LABOUR &
COMMUNITY-BASED RESISTANCE (192060

When the South Africans took over Namibia they prepared a
comprehensive account for Britain of the character of German
rule. This was made public on 19 January 1918, and was known
as the Blue Book on Namibia. In it, the South Africans accused
the Germans of

callous indifference with which she [Germany] treated the
guaranteed rights of the native peoples established there,
and of the cruelties to which she subjected those people
when the burden became too heavy and they attempted to
assert their rights.’

The South Africans promoted themselves as the liberators of
the Namibian people. The commission that prepared the Blue
Book took evidence from Namibians of the treatment they had
received at the hands of the Germans and created the
impression that things would be different under South African
rule. Namibians were, moreover, deliberately led to believe that
they would recover their lost lands and control over their own
affairs. Lord Buxton, Governor-General of South Africa, visited
Namibia in 1915 and ‘addressed the natives at all important
centres and on each occasion promised the Hereros the old
freedom along with great possessions of land and unlimited
herds of cattle’.? Nor was it only the Hereros who expected
land to be returned to them:

From all over the territory the authorities were compelled

to listen uneasily to the insistent demand of the Hereros,
the Nama clans and the so-called Basters of Rehoboth for
the return of lands and privileges usurped by the
Germans.?

however, the South

Far from living up to their promises, er,
us Namibian commu-

Africans took more land from the vario
nities, .

In the north of the country the Ukuanyama community led by
Chief Mandume (then only 21 years old) had fought both
against the Portuguese to their north and the South Africans to
their south, to try to retain their autonomy..However. after
extended battles with the Portuguese in which some 5,000
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Land, Labour & Community-Based Resistance {1920-60)

Africans were killed, Mandume and some of his people were
forced to flee south into Namibia. After taking over Namibia
from the Germans the South Africans were eager to establish
control of the northern part of Namibia and to fix the northem
border exactly and they worked with the Portuguese against
Mandume. Lieutenant Hahn (who later became the first Native
Commissioner for Ovamboland) was sent to demand Man-
dume’s surrender, but the chief refused, saying ‘If the English
want me, [ am here and they can come and fetch me. I will fight
till my last bullet is spent.

Combined South African and Portuguese forces then
marched on Mandume and he was killed in action in 1917 ina
major battle. Over 100 of his people were also killed or
wounded. The South Africans suffered 9 dead and 13 woun-
ded.® The head of Chief Mandume was then brought to
Windhoek and displayed to show that the resistance had been
overcome by the South African forces, It was later buried near

the railway station. The South African Administrator later
declared:

?he country is how entirely tranquil. Qur representatives
n Ovamboland will continue to watch the situation

closely and do all in their power to induce the able-bodied
men of the differernt tribes

There were, however more
. b ’ ma
South Africa and varigug Namibian
was fully established in the count
In the sguth, the Bondelswart

jor confrontations between
communities before its rule
Ty.

. . paid only in kind — in food or
f:xp%lxlmeih_eangon?t »m}?aSh: Then the South Africans imposed 2
people’s unting dogs, to try to force them into

ged emp} , €
resistance which dgvg%ggggt,' and there was considerable




Land, Labour & Community-Based Resistance (1920-60)

African soldier involved in the action was prompted to say
‘This is not pleasant work ... the people are fighting for the
same thing as we fought the English for twenty years ago:
freedom. That is all they want.”®

The South African regime also clashed with the Rehoboth
community in the early 1920s. This was a self-supporting
community some 50 miles south of Windhoek, with its own
council (Raad} which, through agreement with the Herero Chief
Maharero, and later with the German colonial authorities, had
managed to retain some degree of autonomy and legislative
control over its own affairs. After the mandate over Namibia
had been awarded to South Africa, the people of Rehoboth
petitioned the League of Nations and the British and South
African governments, seeking to retain this independent status,
but without success. In 1923 the South African regime
persuaded the Raad to agree to its incorporation in the new
administrative structures. But the Rehoboth people objected
and elected an unofficial body to represent them instead of the
Raad. Again, the South African regime responded with force.
On 25 April 1925 Rehoboth was surrounded by South African
police and soldiers and many people were arrested.”

The South African regime also complained that Ukuambi
Chief Ipumbu in the north of Namibia showed ‘a certain
reluctance to submit to the authority of the Commissioner’
(Hahn).’® By the early 1930s this had developed into a
situation where South Africa felt its administrative authority
was being seriously undermined. As part of a campaign to
suppress Ukuambi resistance, South African forces bombed the
area, destroying Ipumbu’s kraal. Ipumbu himself was deposed
by the regime in 1932 and banished to a remote part of the
country. The chieftaincy was abolished and a council of
headmen was set up in its place.

LABOUR PROTEST

Poverty-level wages, bad working conditions and the contract
labour system have been a perpetual focus of protest in
Namibia. Attempts to organise Namibian workers into trade
union or other organisations have, however, met with severe
reprisals from the South African regime.

In the 1920s Luderitz was an important centre for early trade
union activity although little is known in detail of thellr work.
In 1924 the South African Administrator stated that several
unions were in existence’ in Luderitz, ‘the chi_ef of which were
the Universal Negro Improvement Association and a Cape
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Langd, Labour & Community-Based Resistance [1920-60]

Coloured institution known as the International and Commer-
cial Workers’ Union’,1?

There is even less information on workers’ organisations in
the 1930s and 1940s, although it can be seen from Table 1 that
there were a number of local strikes during this period, the
largest being at the Tsumeb mine in 1948. In the 1950s, the
Cape Town based Food and Canning Workers' Union (FCWU)
started to organise in Luderitz. The Union President, Frank
Marquard, went there in 1949 and was followed in 1952 by the
Secretary General, Ray Alexander. The FCWU branch ‘probed
pay and conditions and pressed for protective industrial
legislation’.’* But the South African regime clamped down
on their activities. Police intimidated union members and
officials and Alexander was prohibited from trade union
involvement under the Suppression of Communism Act. This
meant that an important link between Cape Town and Luderitz
workers was broken. Nevertheless, there were two big strikes
amongst the Luderitz cannery workers in 1952 and 1953.

During the latter, three workers were shot dead by the police
(see Table 1).

THE FORMATION OF OPC/OPQ

The most important development on the labour front during
the 1950s, however, wag the formation, in 1958, of the

Ovamboland People’s Con i

gress (OPC). This was formed
amongst a group of some 200 Namibj i €
Town (many were there ille ving qorers based in Gap

workers in Cape Towp.

From the start, OPC g; ; ,
members and, j C aimed to !prove the conditions of its

ndeed, other contract workers from Ovambo-

land. Its memberg 1
African Nationa] Co%;(r)ésgogg eSvc(:lll"th}u:ld e ks with the

Alliance, and anticipated b Afrit;a and the Congress
movement in Namibia, Sq, of a broad congress
Cape Town were also ¢l

Appolus, Jariretund 1€ OPC, in particular Emil
Abrahams. U Kozonguizj and Ottilje Schimming
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Land, Labour & Community-Based Resistance 192060}

Table 1 Workers’ Strikes in Namibia 1915-59 1

Year Place Known Details

1916 Migrant workers strike for issue of
working clothes

1916 Kahn mine Manager misleads regime in attempt to
get police to intimidate workers

1918 Farms Workers down tools in protests

1923 Luderitz mines Workers retaliate when one of them is

1925

1937

1939

1939
1948

1952
1953
1953

1954

1956
1956
1956
1959

Conception Bay

Oranjemund mine

Tsumeb mine

Nageib mine
Tsumeb mine

Luderitz
Walvis Bay
Luderitz

Tsumeb

Brandberg mine
Otjisondu mine
Windhoek
Walvis Bay

assaulted by a foreman; 17 fined
Strike threatened; 13 ‘ringleaders’
arrested

Miners strike over use of X-ray
examinations for diamonds pilfered by
departing migrants

Strike by workers who suspect not
receiving pay they are entitled to

=X

2,000 strike in protest when a white boy
aged 13 shoots dead a worker

Large strike by cannery workers

Fish cannery strikes

Fish cannery strikes; 3 workers shot dead
by police

Copper smelter strike over furnace
working conditions

o3 et STl NI T o B R ;

Laundry washerwomen strike

Oceana fish cannery; go-slow over an
assault of a foreman and attempts to
force workers to clean dangerous
machinery while in motion; and wages;
12- or 18-hour day; and other working

conditions o

Source: From Gillian and Suzann
(London, International Defence and Aid Fund, 1978), pp. 78-9.

Ja Toivo was educated at

Anglican school in northern
World War he served in the South African army. When he was

demobilised he went to Cape Town and worked there, studying
privately and becoming active

e Cronje, The Warkers of Namibia

St Mary’s mission school, an
Namibia. During the Second

ly involved in African nationalist

21

y N



Land, Labour & Community-Based Resistance [1920-60)

palitics. Campaigning with the OPC, Ja Toivo wrote to various
governments and organisations about the plight of his people
and also petitioned the United Nations. His cause was not on}y
the conditions facing the contract workers, but the situation in
the country as a whole under the South African‘ regime. His
first petition to the United Nations was forwarded in a recorde’d
message hidden in an old copy of Robert Louis Stevenson’s
Treasure Island, and was received in New York on 24

September 1958. He also wrote to the Pope and, as follows, to
the British Queen:

We wish to inform Your Majesty’s Government that the
Government of South Africa has failed to comply with the
provisions embodied in the mandate agreement and also
to carry out the international obligations entrusted her by
the League of Nations and Your Majesty’s Government.
We, the people of Ovamboland and the rest of our fellow
men in the territory of South West Africa ... hereby
appeal to Your Majesty’s Government of Great Britain in
whose behalf our mandated territory is being adminis-
tered by the South African Covernment to revoke the

mandate forthwith and to place it under the United
Nations Trusteeship System.13

His letter to the Queen was returned, however, with a note
saying it should be forwarded through her representative, the
Governor General of South Africa,

At the end of 1958 Ja Toivo was deported from Cape Town

back to Namibia because of his political activities. As he left
Cape Town he said:

Jacob Kuhangua

described as ‘already becoming a legend:

nion. Now he wag blacklisted by the
employers and, unablg t is time to
Mvisory Bz nable 0 work, he devoted his time fo the
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Land, Labour & Community-Based Resistance {1720-60)

startled everyone by engineering the ousting of his own
conservative uncle from the chairmanship of the Ovambo
Advisory Board. Though Sam himself was not officially
recognized on any of the boards, people all over the
location recognized him as one of their real leaders.’®

OPO campaigned for support amongst the contract workers
in factories and mines. Vinnia Ndadi was branch secretary in
Walvis Bay, where there was a local membership ‘of several
thousand’ workers.’® Although OPO primarily focused on
the position and welfare of contract workers from the north, it
included in its stated objectives the attainment of national
independence. It was thus not surprising that in June 1960 OPO
changed its name and status to SWAPO — the South West Africa
People’s Organisation — and began to broaden its membership
and appeal.
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5 EDUCATIONAL, CULTURAL
& CHURCH PROTESTS

UNIVERSAL NEGRO IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

Although the Universal Negro Improvement Associatiofl
(UNIA) was listed by the South African regime as a union, 1t
was essentially a cultural association. The first branch was set
up in Luderitz in 1921 by S W Ncwana, a South African from
Cape Town. From there it spread to Windhoek, Usakos,
Karibib, Okahandja and other urban centres.

The UNIA was founded by the Caribbean leader Marcus
Garvey in 1914 after he learned of the conditions under which
blacks lived and worked in South America. [ts aims were

To establish a Universal Confraternity among the [black]
Tace; to promote the spirit of race pride and love; to
reclaim the fallen; to administer to and assist the needy
-+ - 10 assist in the development of independent Negro
nations and communities . . . to establish universities;
colleges, academies and schools for the racial education

and culture of the people; to work for better conditions
among Negroes everywhere. !

Qarvey’s ideas and writings and his slogan ‘Africa for the
Afrlc‘ans’ were welcomed by blacks in southern Africa. In
Namibia these ideas came at a crucial time, as South Afric
consoli_dated its control over the country. The fact thal
Garveyism gained influence in Namibia has been attributed 10
the broken Promises made by the South Africans when they

through in traditional African society
_ rough tribal organisation’.?
T}le UNIA in Namibia was vocal in jtg opposition to South



Educational, Cultural & Church Protests

Namibia, with speakers calling for black unity and a black
administration in Namibia.

Headly kept in touch with UNIA headquarters in the USA.
Indeed, one of the most valuable aspects of the UNIA was the
links it established between Namibians and various black
political and church groups in South Africa and the USA.
Petitions were also sent on Namibia’s behalf to the League of
Nations, requesting that Namibia ‘be turned over to members of
the Negro Race for self-government’.®

Funds were also raised in Namibia to send to Liberia, where
the UNIA was concentrating its back-to-Africa campaign. In
fact there was a number of non-Namibians, mostly West
Africans, who were members of the UNIA in the country,
especially in the Luderitz branch. These were people who had
been brought to Namibia by the Germans or who had come as
sailors and stayed on in Luderitz to work.

The white community in Namibia felt threatened by UNIA
activities. Meetings were monitored by the police and attempts
were made to discourage Namibians from having anything to
do with UNIA. Support dwindled, however, in the late 1920s.
There was no programme of action to bring about the black
administration the UNIA demanded. Nevertheless, it did offer a
body of thought that promoted a sense of black pride and
dignity. It has been stated that

The Garvey ideology built upon a notion of Negro
consciousness had made widespread appeal to the
various ethnic groups in central Namibia. Part of its
attraction lay in its offer of an alternative identity for the
various peoples of that land — an identity which toa _largg
part emerged out of an aspiration for self-determination.

OTJISERANDU

After the battle of Hamakari between the Germans and the
Herero people in 1904, many Hereros retreated t_o the east
across the Kalahari desert. They were led by (?hlef S_amuel
Maharero and, although there was terrible loss of life during the
journey, about one thousand reached safety in Botswana and
eventually settled there.
The survival of the overall Herero chief, even though he was
in exile, was crucial to the cohesion of the Herero comimunity
in Namibia after their defeat by the Germans. In the 1920s therg
was a growing movement to reaffirm Herero traditions an
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culture. Some Hereros began to return from exile in Botswana,
Others left the Christian churches to which they had been
converted, and revived their traditional beliefs and the holy
fire, symbol of the community and its connections with past
and future. Then in 1923 a new association was formed among
the Hereros called Otjiserandu — the red band. This came into
being at the time of the burial of Chief Samuel Maharero. The
body of the chief was brought back to Namibia from Botswana
and was buried at the family grave at Okahandja on 26 August
1923, alongside his father Maharero and grandfather Tje
muaha. The ceremony was conducted with full traditional
rites.

This funeral became an occasion for the Hereros to honout
their dead who had fought against German colonial rule, and
to reassert their desire for self-determination. A great number
of people attended, including some whites, and even 2

representative of the South African regime laid a wreath on
the grave.

There were 150 men on horseback, a line of 800 men on
foot and a band. This was a symbalic resurrection of the
Herero army in the eclectic style which it had adopted
before the risings of 1904 to 1907. But, above all, the red
scarf, or red band around the arm — the symbols of Chief
Maharero’s people — were to form the basis of a Herero
assoClation, Otjiserandu, or Red Bang Organisation. It
was essentially in order to take care of the arrangements
for this occasion that Otjiserandu was called into being’

26 August was thereafter commemoratod at an annuél
celebration in Qkahand;

foreign rule

an’ghin(i)ft‘;isemndu was run along military lines, with ranks
: 'ms. It became a Mutual-aid society as well as
ocus for reagsertin Y

H iti s
South Africas reni Ii 3 €rero tradition and for opposition to the
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PROTESTS OVER EDUCATION

Criticism of the education provided by the missionaries and
colonial regimes had been widespread throughout Africaand so
it was in Namibia. Educational opportunities were long denied
Namibians, and the provision of them, through independent
schools, adult literacy classes and, later, scholarships for study
abroad, has been a key issue on which Namibian nationalists
have campaigned.

When the South Africans took over Namibia from the German
colonial authorities, there were only a few schools established
for Africans. The teaching was in German and was very
elementary, focusing more on German language and culture and
on Bible study, than anything else. All the African schools were
then run by missionaries. The first state school for Africans set
up by the South African regime was opened in Aminuis Reserve
in 1935, after a series of protests about inadequate education by
the Herero community. Initially it took only 100 pupils. The
total number of schools built by the South African regime in
Namibia from the beginning of the mandate up to 1940 was only
two, both in the central region. Not a single state school was built
for Africans in the north between 1920 and 1960. For those
Africans in school the standard of education was still very low —
up to Standard III only (that is, five years of basic schooling).

By contrast, Tanganyika, which was also a former German
colony and then administered by Britain under a League of
Nations mandate, was able to send African students with
Standard VIII to Makerere College by the 1930s. Even so,
educational provision in Tanganyika was low by East African
standards.

It has been stated that ‘what Africans wanted, at this time and
throughout the colonial period, was literary, assimilative educa-
tion in a European language, for this was seen as the route to h}gh
wages, equality and power.”® In Namibia, however, the typical
white-settler mentality was against this, thinking that

to educate them is to give them contact with world
movements and world thinking which, of course ...
inculcates such mischievous and intolerable ideas as
democracy, the brotherhood of man, fundamental human
freedoms, and the like.®

After 1948, moreover, the South African regime developed an
even harsher education policy which culminated in the Bantu
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Education Act of 1953. The clearest statement of the ideolqu
that lay behind this Act came from the then Minister of Native
Affairs, Dr Verwoerd, when he said:

There is no place for ... [the African] in the European
community above the level of certain forms of labour.

... Education [will be] in Sub-standards A and B, and
probably up to Standard II, including reading, writing and
arithmetic through mother-tongue instruction, as well as a
knowledge of English and Afrikaans, and the cardinal
principles of the Christian religion.??

English and Afrikaans were to be tanght

in such a way that the Bantu child will be able to finC_i his
way in European communities: to follow oral and wrltt‘en
instructions and to carry on a simple conversation with

Europeans about his work and other subjects of common
interest.'®

The South African system of Bantu Education was extended to
%over Nlamibia following a commission of inquiry headed by Dr
an Zyl. .

The Bantu Education system aroused great criticism within
South Africa and Namibia. There was also an outcry abroad,
particularly in Britain, In Namibia, the opposition came fm,m
the African communities, the Anglican and African MethCiCl'ISt
Episcopal (AME) churches and the South West Africa
Teachers’ Association (a group that tried to lobby for better pay
and conditions for black teachers, but often without success)-

There were some attempts by Namibians to start independent
schools to bypass the racist education policies of the South
African regime, but they suffered from lack of financial
resources. There was always, however, a strong desire for such
schools. In 1948, a delegation of Nama leaders, representing the
AME church, requested permission to build an independent
school or that the regime should supply schools with ‘proper
subjects up to standard’ 12 Both proposals were rejected, but
the AME church went ahead and set up its own schools at
vanous towns in southern Namibia. The schaols were not,
however, recognised by the South African regime.

Very gradually, more educational facilities were provided by
church and state in Namibia. It was not, however, until 1948
that the first black pupil completed secondary schooling an
matriculation (Standard X). Even today, the country remains
one of the most educationally disadvantaged in Africa.
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THE INCIPIENT INTELLIGENTSIA

The educated elite played an important role in nationalist
struggles throughout Africa, and in Namibia teachers, students
and churchmen were also leading figures in campaigns against
the South African regime.

In the 1940s, the African Improvement Society, which had its
roots in the earlier UNIA, developed into an important
organisation concerned with the provision of educational and
cultural opportunities denied to Africans under South African
rule. It was based in Windhoek and ran adult education classes
for the local African community. Its members were mostly
Hereros and included those who had been able to acquire some
education and who wanted to share their knowledge with
others: men such as Berthold Kangavi Himumuine, Principal of
St Barnabas Anglican School where English was taught and
where evening literacy classes were run, who won a schol-
arship to study at Oxford University but was refused a passport
by the South African regime; Revds Erwin Tjirimuje and
Bartholomew Karuaera, both former students at St Barnabas
School and later teachers, and now prominent SWAPO
members and leaders of the AME church; Clemens Kapuuo, a
teacher who was to become Herero chief in 1970; David Meroro
and A.B. Muncko, two local black businessmen. Zed Ngavirue,
who taught at St Barnabas and was later Vice-President of th.e
South West Africa National Union (SWANU), was also associ-
ated with the AIS in the early 1950s.

In the late 1940s, the Damara community in Windh‘ogk
formed a similar body, called Fakkel (meaning ‘torch in
Afrikaans). It was essentially a cultural and educational associ-
ation and was brought into existence because the community
felt that the African Improvement Society was dominated by
Hereros, Fakkel was active in protesting against the poor
educational opportunities for Africans and, in the }ate 1950s,
the forced removal of Damara people from Aukeigas to the
planned Damara homeland at Okombahe, and the removal of
ﬁfl‘icans from Windhoek’s Old Location to the new township of

atutura,

The presence of Namibian students in South Africa, where
they had to go to study at a secondary or post-secondary level

ecause of the lack of such facilities in Namibia, es_tabllshed
useful contacts between nationalists in both countries. Most
Namibians went to the Transvaal, although some went to the
Cape. While in South Africa they came into contact with the
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- o d
aigns and protests of the political orga}msatlons oppose

EST}E Sgouth Afll‘)ican regime. Of particular influence wglf'e_ ;23
events in 1952 of the Defiance Campaign of the nress
National Congress (ANC) and other me.mbersl of the Con?1 oss
Alliance, when 8,000 men and women risked 1mpr150nmet s
they embarked upon a nation-wide peaceful protest agains
Pass Laws. .

This was the background to the formation of the South ‘V}:\)}izsr:
Africa Student Body (SWASB), formed to represent Naf:iml "
students in South Africa in the early 1950s. SWASB had c ?he
links with nationalist organisations in South Africa such as oo
ANC, and with people in Namibia. Some of the studentsi‘:}fcal
returned home used the experience they had gained of poli lci-
organisation while in South Africa to form a pu_ltural assdo r
ation, together with their counterparts in Namibia. Fomffrica
1958, this organisation was known as the _South West g
Progressive Association (SWAPA). The Prgmdent was U?l ]aha f
Kaukuetu, a young dynamic leader and skilful orator, who
spent several years studying in South Africa. _ litical

SWAPA projected itself as a cultural body with a pOE .
flavour. Its early projects included organising cultural'l 111;1 d
tions, particularly in Windhoek. It also encouraged pupils athe
students in the country by offering prizes to those doing :
best work. The first recipient was Obed Kaunozqndungelon
pupil at the Herero school in the late 1950s. The prize he ﬁv 01
was financial support to cover his studies at secondary sC Ob
level in South Africa. The funds were raised for these prizes 3;
holding dance competitions and through voluntary collection
within the community. S

SWAPA captured the imagination of the youth and incipien
intelligentsia, particularly in Windhoek. It had support from
many different Namibian communities. Some members set UP
the first black newspaper, a weekly entitled South West Newsi
However, this did not run for very long as it lacked fmancmr
support and the South African regime brought pressure to bed
on its founders, who were becoming increasingly involved H}
wider political campaigns. Nevertheless, its appearance pro
vided Namibians for the first time with a platform for thelr

views. The paper was also used to finance the SWAPA
scholarship scheme.

THE INDEPENDENT CHURCH MOVEMENT

The influence of the Christian churches in Namibia spreﬁd
with the establishment

of colonial control. As elsewhere 11
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Africa, part of the colonisation process was the dominance of
the ideas and religion of the new rulers. Large numbers were
converted to Christianity. No doubt the churches provided
some sense of security and patronage for those whose tradi-
tional social structures had been partially destroyed and the
Christian message of salvation has always offered hope to those
in a seemingly hopeless situation. Moreover, excluded from
real participation in the new political institutions of the
country, Namibians found in the churches an institution in
which they could participate, and which they began to claim as
their own.

The practice and teachings of the Christian churches in
Southern Africa were, however, distorted by racism and ideas
of white supremacy. In South Africa a multitude of sects have
sprung up over the years as black people have broken away
from the established churches. In Namibia, however, rather
than forming a variety of sects, people set up independent
churches or simply broke away from the control of the
European mission churches. These moves, particularly
amongst members of the Lutheran church, were spurred on by
dissatisfaction with the particularly close identification of the
Lutheran church with the South African regime. Indeed, Dr H
Vedder, head of the Rhenish Lutheran Mission in Namibia,
accepted an appointment to the South African Senate in 1950.

The first independent African church was the African
Methodist Episcopal {AME) church. Originally founded in the
USA as the result of a growing group consciousness among
black people, its burning desire was that the community should
control its own affairs. It established self-help projects to help
meet the basic social and educational needs of its members. In
the latter part of the nineteenth century this movement spread
to Africa and AME churches were established in Ethiopia and
South Africa, although it was not until 1947 that it became
established in Namibia.

In southern and central Namibia the AME had tremer_ldous
appeal. The majority of the people in the south and many in the
Central part of the country became members and supporters of
the church. This included all influential members ?f th_e
community in the south, including Chief Samuel H Witbooi,
who fought the Germans in the war of resistance from 1904 to
1907, The AME is still a thriving church, currently led by Revd
B G Karuaera along with Revds H Witbooi and E § Tjirimuje,
amongst others. Karuaera and Tjirimuje are Executive Commit-
tee members of SWAPO and Witbooi is SWAPO Vice-
President. Another dynamic figure who appeared on the scene
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during the 1940s and 1950s proselytizing for the AME in the
central part of Namibia, with his headquarters in Windhoek,
was the South African Revd M M Sephula (now in exile in
London).

The Oruuano church was founded in 1955. Headed origi-
nally by Revd Leonard Ruzo, it also led to a big exodus from the
Lutheran church, and many Herero members of the AME
moved to join the Oruuano. The decision to launch it came
after lengthy consultations within the community. Its direct
approach to issues which affected the lives of its members
meant that it was extremely close to the community, in contrast
to the white-controlled Lutheran church. The Oruuano
retained many of the general practices of the parent church in
matters of worship, but injected a new and lively element. It
has since suffered because of political differences within the
Herero community and today only has a small following. It has
been stated that the actual break away to form the Oruuano

seems to have been precipitated by the appointment of Dr
H H Vedder, the spiritual leader of the [Lutheran] church
to the South African Senate by the late Dr D F Malan in
1950. This incident, and Dr Vedder’s speeches in the

Senate in support of apartheid . ., could not be without
implications on the church.?

Prqtests were also made, however, by those Namibians who
remained within the Lutheran church, to try to gain a greater

say in the church’s affairs. There was gross inequality betwen
black and white clergy with the white pastors always in charge-
African priests, of

ten quite old but prominent in church
structures, used to struggle to maintain themselves and perform
their duties as pastors, while their young white counterparts
g?s(i) g(s):ld housing, transport and all sorts of amenities at their

Increasing pressure from the black members of the Lutheran

S‘tl.lill-ll‘gh t}i1n tll:e 1850s in opposition to racial discrimination
ithin the church structures, finally led to the establishment 0

the autonomous and locall i -
Kaomonis [ELOKa y run Evangelical Lutheran Qvambo

I ) in 1956 and the Evangelical Lutheran
‘["22;‘;}: d{Ef:\Lulglamfl'E%?' Namibia’s first blacilggishop was Dr
1960. of ELOK, who became head of the church in

anger or resistance: + 39) traditionally used to suppress
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But what I tell you is this: do not set yourself against the
man who wrongs you, If someone slaps you on the right
cheek, turn and offer him your left.

In ELOK churches throughout Namibia, pastors went on to say

If we are slapped on the cheek whether by an individual
or by the ruling class of our country, in turning the other
cheek like Jesus did before Pilate, as Christians we at least
have the right to ask, ‘Why are you slapping me?"**

'I_‘hus began a process whereby the church increasingly ques-
tioned and challenged the South African regime in Namibia.
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6 PETITIONS TO THE UNITED NATIONS

In 1945-6 the League of Nations was wounq up and its PIE}CB
taken by the new United Nations Organizatlon.. Sputh Af_rlitlﬂ
took this apportunity to try to incorporate Namibia fully into
the Union. The UN immediately established a trusteeship
system, with independence as its specific goal, for the former
mandated territories. All the other former German colonies r_lln
Africa ~ the Cameroons, Togoland, Tanganyika {:md Ruan Etl
Urundi — were put under the trusteeship system in 1946. Bu
South Africa did not consider that the UN carrle_d on thIEt!
League’s supervisory role over the mandated territories.
pleaded that Namibia’s proximity to South Africa made it ?
special case, and requested time to consult the People 0
Namibia on the country’s future. A campaign against IDQOTPOE
ation into South Africa was then launched in Namibia, an
drew different Namibian communities together in opposition
to the South African regime, ,
From December 1945 to April 1946 the South African regime
held what it termed ‘consultations’ with Namibian leaders
supposedly to ascertain their views on the planned incorpor-
ation. General Smuts himself even visited Namibia at this time-
Traditional leaders and headmen were called to meetmgg
where they were addressed by South African officials and tol
how the South African regime had rescued Namibians from thg
‘chaos’ of German rule, given them land (!}, education aﬂd
economic assistance.! They were asked whether they wante

any other nation to rule them and given the following
document to sign:

We the undersigned ... Chiefs, Headmen or Board

Eembers of the peaple of the tribe, who live in
€

o Reserve in this Mandated Territory of
South West Africa, acting with fu]] authority of the people
of the tribe of the Reserve, wish to say that we have heard

05€ Countries may be changed.
We and our people wish the following matters to be
made known tg the peoples of the world:

34



Petitions to the {nited Nations

1. that our people have been happy and have prospered
under the Rule of the Government of the Union of South
Africa and that we should like that Government to
continue to rule us;

2. that we do not wish any other Government or people
to rule us; and

3. that we would like our country to become part of the
Union of South Africa.?

The results claimed by the South African regime were that the
whites, through their Legislative Assembly, had voted for
incorporation, and that of the blacks, 208,850 were in favour,
33,520 were against, and 56,870 had not been consulted. They
hoped to convince the United Nations with these figures, but
the reality of this so-called vote was that Namibian leaders who
had opposed incorporation had been overruled, and the views
of those who supported incorporation were ‘attributed to all
members of their tribes, including new-born babies'.” The
chiefs were also subject to reprisals by the South African
regime if they did not do as they were told.

Leaders from all the various Namibian communities claimed
that they had not been asked about incorporation or that their
opinions had not been listened to.! A missionary of nine
years’ experience working in Namibia reported of this so-called
referendum: ‘It was an absolute farce. That is what even one of
the native Commissioners said about it.”®

The Herero Chief Hosea Komombumbi Kutako [f_ondly
referred to as ‘Katjikururume’) was the leading figure in fthe
petitioning of the United Nations against incorporation which
then began. He requested that a UN Commission be allowed to
visit Namibia to conduct the referendum, but this was refuse_d
by the South African regime. Then he asked for four of his
spokesmen to be allowed to go to the UN, but this was also
urned down. The South African regime would not give such
black leaders passports to leave Namibia and lobby the world
body. Kutako therefore sent telegrams to the U_N to try to swagfr

e General Assembly. Petitions against the incorporation o
Namibia into South Africa were also sent to the UN by the
chiefs in Botswana, the All-African Convention of South Africa
(which represented a wide range of political, sm.:lal, rellglou?
and traditional black groups), Dr A B Xuma, Presxdent-Geneﬁra
of the ANC of South Africa, and from many other sources. »

At the UN itself the campaign against incorporation wa; ec
by the Indian delegation, whose representalive, Sir l?d;:f gr:l
Singh, had represented India as Agent-General in South Alrica.
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Britain spoke in favour of incorporation but abstained in the
vote. The USA finally came out against incorporation, and on
14 December 1946 the UN General Assembly rejected South
Africa’s request to incorporate Namibia. The voting was 37
votes to 0, with 9 abstentions.

Although incorporation had been avoided the General
Assembly also declared that it felt that Namibians

Have not yet . . . reached a stage of political develo_pment
enabling them to express a considered opinion which the

Assembly could recognise on such an important question
as incorporation.”

This only added to the desire of those Namibians active in the
campaign against incorporation to have a voice at the UN, so0
that they could properly express their discontent with South
African rule. Through the initiatives of Herero Chiefs Hosea
Kutako (based in Namibia) and Frederick Maharero (the overall
chief, based in exile in Botswana), and with the assistance of
Ngwato Chief Tshekedi Khama, a remarkable campaign had
already been launched. A British clergyman, Revd Michael

Scott, became the intermediary and representative of the

Herero and other Namibian communities and presented the UN
with petitions from the

m that opposed incorporation, but also

that went beyond this issue and challenged the record of South
African rule in Namibia.

THE BOTSWANA CONNECTION

The Herero com

. munity in Botswana was formed by people
leaving Namibia

to escape German and South African rule. The

Herero community in Namibkis
R d hi e i1 Kuta
himself had fought in the 19 ind his Chief’s Council
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When, therefore, the South African regime initiated its plans to
incorporate Namibia, there was much correspondence between
Kutako and his spokesmen and their compatriots in Botswana.
These letters urged the Herero community in Botswana to act
and, specifically, to petition Britain on Namibia’s behalf. One
such letter, from one of Kutako's lieutenants in the Chief’s
Council, went as follows:

We are being asked that our land be joined to the Union,
but we refused, stating that our land will not be joined to
the Union at all, but rather that it should remain ours
only, together with those with whom we have been
associating in the past. That is what we said ... the
Hereros, the Namas, the Ovambos and the Berg Damaras
have all refused . .. We have been informed that on 3rd
September there will be a meeting again, that we would be
stopped from going to that meeting, and that they will
have their own man to speak for them while we will be
stopped. This is all. The matter now rests with you. You
who eanjoy freedom are the people who should come here
fo us.

Frederick Maharero’s first step was to draw in African
leaders in Botswana. They were already concerned that if
Namibia were incorporated into South Africa, attempts w01_11d
be made to incorporate Botswana and the other British ng}l
Commission territories of Swaziland and Lesotho. In April
1948, therefore, the Botswana chiefs sent a memorandum to the
British government opposing the incorporation of Namibia into
South Africa. The Ngwato Chief Tshekedi Khama was particu-
larly active in this campaign, and tried to visit London to lobby
the British government personally, but he was not allowed to
do so. Instead, he introduced Revd Michael Scott to the
Namibian issue.

THE ROLE OF MICHAEL SCOTT

Scott was an Anglican priest working in South Africa wfho h.a({
become very involved in protests against t‘he system ol racia

discrimination and spent some months in jail for his part in ]{:

civil disobedience campagin. In late 1946 he met Frederic

Maharero, who invited him to visit Namibia as his emissary

and gather information on the situation there and the pro%re§s

of South Africa’s incorporation plans. When he arrived "i

Windhoek, Scott made contact with Chief Kutako’s principa
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secretary and interpreter, Berthold Himumuine, and was taken
to meet Namibian leaders who had taken part in the campaign
against incorporation, including Kutako himself.

After extensive talks and after taking statements from various
Namibian leaders, Scott was convinced that ‘great injustices
had been and were going to be committed.”® He returned to
Botswana to report to Frederick Maharero and together they
drew up a detailed petition to go to the United Nations. It
outlined the history of the Hereros from the time of the German
colonial regime; the war of extermination, the loss of their
lands, and conditions under South African rule. It then asked
for the return of Herero lands by South Africa, the return of the
Paramount Chief Frederick Maharero and the reunification of
the Herero community in one area within Namibia. It argued
that Namibia should not remain under South Africa as a
mandated territory but be placed under UN trusteeship o1,
failing that, become a British Protectorate or, failing that, be
placed under the protection of the USA.1°

Then Scott returned to Namibia, taking the draft petition
with him for Chief Kutako and his colleagues to examine and
approve. The final preparation and ceremony for the signature
of these historic documents coincided with the annual Herero
commemoration of Otjiserandn, held around 26 August. At the

signing Chief Kutako prayed for the deliverance of the
Namibian people:

You are thf: Great God of all the Farth and the Heavens.
We are so insignificant. In us there are many defects. But
the Power is yours to make and to do what we cannot do.
You know_ all about us, For coming down to earth you
were despised, and mocked, and brutally treated because
of those same defects in the men of those days. And for
those men you prayed because they did not understand

what they were doing, and that t
was right. Give us the you came only for wha

what is right, Courage to struggle in that way for
been placed in Afgj roam ahout, Help us who have

The South African re

the petition to the UN, B siariod to prevent Scott from taking

and started a campaign to t iscredit
: ' ry to discred!
Scott, labelling him 4 crank and follower %f left-gving causes.

EJI;} hllts i}g:gl\fement gave the Namibian people a voice at the
stormed the South West African issue from a
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tedious, legal wrangle with a minor goverment into a crusade to
save a people’.’? For Scott himself, the Hereros had become
‘symbolical of all the landless and dispossessed people in the
world’,*3

From 1947 on, Scott was locked in battle at the UN with South
Africa. He returned to Namibia once more and again encoun-
tered problems trying to fly out, having to travel by road to the
Congo before he was able to get a plane to Europe. South Africa
banned him from visiting Namibia in 1948 and for a while Mary
Benson went on his behalf to contact Namibian leaders until she
too was refused entry.

Throughout the 1950s Chief Kutako continued to compile
information on conditions in Namibia and use it to petition the
UN. He has been described as the ‘chief inspirer and leader of the
post-war resistance movement which became the main source of
modern nationalism’.’* The Chief's Council, which Kutako
led, increasingly took in traditional leaders from other commu-
nities, such as Nama Chief Samuel Witbooi, leading personali-
ties from the Damara and Ovambo communities, including the
Anglican priest Revd T. Hamutumbangela, as well as Herero
headmen and advisers. Kutako applied for permission to visit
the north of the country to make contact with traditional leaders
there, but this was refused him by the South African regime. In
any case, most of the chiefs in the north were directly employed
by, and therefore under obligation to, the South African
authorities. In particular, Ondonga Chief Johannes Kambonde
co-operated with the South African regime and helped to
suppress opposition to it. In 1956 Andimba Ja Toivo wrote to
Mburumba Kerina urging him to use his influence on Kambonde
to ‘inform him the present position of S.W.A.. He went on: ‘I
think it would also be a good thing if you could ask him to get in
touch with Chief Hosea Kutako and other chiefs.’'® However,
this did not come about.

The first Namibian to give evidence at th uru
Kerina, in 1957, when he was studying at Lincoln University.
Then in 1959 the Herero Chief’s Council sent Ia;ire_tundu
Kozonguizi to the UN with the specific task of petitioning on
Namibia's behalf. That same year Hans Beukes, who had a
scholarship to study in Oslo but no passport, was smuggled out
of Namibia by three young Americans and he also later appgared
at the UN.16 .

By the end of the 1950s and early 1960s, increasing numbers of
Namibians managed to get to the UN to testify on conditions in
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the country. Most had left their country because of South
African repression of political activity. These included Jacob
Kuhangua, Marcus Kooper, Sam Nujoma and Louis Nelengani
(President and Vice-President of SWAPO respectively), and
Ismail Fortune. Oliver Tambo, then Deputy President-General
of the ANC of South Africa, and Eduardo Mondlane, President
of FRELIMO, also petitioned the UN on Namibia’s behalf. ‘In
1946 there had been a solitary petition in the form of a cabie . ..
in 1960, 120 petitions were directed at the United Nations

Fourth Committee. Political organization was stirring in South
West Africa.’"”



7 THE EMERGENCE
OF NATIONALIST ORGANISATIONS

1958-60 were the years during which the various strands of
Namibian opposition to South African rule came together and
developed into a self-consciously nationalist movement. These
were;

1 The incipient intelligentsia and bodies such as the South
West Africa Student Body (SWASB) and the South West Africa
Progressive Association (SWAPA).

2 The contract workers through the Ovamboland People’s
Congress (OPC) set up in Cape Town in 1958 and which later
developed into the Ovamboland People’s Organisation (OPO)
In 1959,

3 The Herero Chief’s Council, whose role was the co-
ordinating and leading of petitions to the UN.

In 1958 opposition to South African rule was led by Chief
Kutako and the Herero Chief’s Council, and a small group .O.f
active nationalists. Mburumba Kerina, Jariretundu Kozonguizi
and Zedekia Ngavirue had been active in SWASB but this
organisation had largely ceased to function and SWAPA, led by
Uatja Kaukuetu and others, had taken its place. Kerina was by
this time in the USA studying and petitioning the UN.
Kozonguizi had signed Kerina's credentials to petition the UN
on SWASB’s behalf. He himself was in South Africa, studying
at Fort Hare University, where he was on the executive of _the
student branch of the ANC of South Africa. Andimbg Ja Toivo
was working in Cape Town. He was closely.involvgd in African
nationalist politics there and had connections with the ANC,
and the South African Communist and Liberal Parties. He was
corresponding with Kerina and Chief Kutako. Peter Mueshi-
hange and the group mentioned above (see chapter 4) were
politically active in Cape Town: amongst this group OPC was
formed. |

Kozonguizi played an important role
these va%ious pgrcyups and Etrands of resistance. He washa
member of the Herero Chief’s Council and tried to bridge the
gap between the Council and elders and the younger genﬁration
in the student bodies who were ‘growing i'mpat!e{“_"f de ‘attl;ng-
saciety politics, and anxious to replace tribal divisions with an

at this time, linking
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aggressive and popular nationalism’.! Ja Toivo had also met
Kozonguizi in Cape Town.

It was amongst these Namibian activists that the idea o_f a
national body dedicated to the attainment of Namibian
independence was born. On the eve of Ja Toivo’s deportation
from Cape Town to Namibia in 1958, Kozonguizi

addressed the Ovambos organized around Toivo on plans
to integrate the emergent Ovamboland People’s Organi-
sation into a South West African national congress, based
on regional congresses in Namaland (the south), Damara-
land (the central area), and Ovamboland.?

Kozonguizi travelled to Namibia with Ja Toivo and they
stopped at Keetmanshoop to discuss the idea with a new
association called the Society for the Advancement of the
African People in South West Africa (SAAPSWA), led by
Philip Musikira. In Windhoek they spoke to Chief Kutako and
Clemens Kapuuo, a teacher and leading member of the Herero
community. ‘It was agreed that Kozonguizi would organise
from the capital, and Toivo from Ovamboland.’

In Ovamboland, Ja Toivo was placed under house arrest
under the supervision of Chief Kambonde, but after the chief’s
death he was able to move freely within Ovamboland. He or
one of his lieutenants would go to meetings organised by
officials of the South African regime and would attack
government policy and demand UN intervention. Kozonguizi,
however, did not stay long in Windhoek. He was sent to New
York in 1959 by the Herero Chief’'s Council to reinforce the
efforts of Michael Scott petitioning the UN.,

THE FORMATION OF SWANU

A constitutional committee chaired by Zedekia Ngavirue was
set up in 1959 by the Herero Chief's Council to discuss the ided
of a national political organisation. SWAPA activists and
members of the Chief’s Council were on the committes. The
name of the proposed new organisation — the South West Africa
National Union (SWANU) — was proposed by Clemens Kapuuo.

The intention of the Chief’s Counci
_ ncil was ‘to graft the modern
machinery of a mass organisati H

Of ﬂuthority' but the SWAPA < . . N
’ activ s ew
movement with n 1s1s aimed at ‘creatinga n

alties” ¢ ew symbols, transcending traditional loy-
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When SWANU was officially launched in August 1959, the
SWAPA activists took the major leadership posts, with Uatja
Kaukuetu as President. This led to a move by the Chief’s
Council for new elections to broaden the SWANU Executive
Committee. In September 1959 a public meeting was held for
this purpose. A few hundred people atiended, including
representatives of the various communities in Windhoek, and
Sam Nujoma of OPO. Kozonguizi was the presidential candi-
date supported by the Chief’s Council and he was duly elected
in his absence. Kaukuetu became Vice-President; Uaseta
Mbuha, Organising Secretary; Nathaniel Mbaeva, Publicity
Secretary; Louis Nelengani, Emil Appolus, Sam Nujoma and
Damara Chief Kariseb were Executive Committee members.

SWANU was ‘conceived as an umbrella organisation which
would bring together the different elements of anti-colonial
fesistance into a single nationalist organisation’.’ The
representation of OPO and various community leaders on the
SWANU Executive Committee was, therefore, in line with this
aim. SWANU was trying to be a broad-based organisation and
regarded OPO’s participation as the first step towards a genuine
national body. OPO, as a regional organisation representing the
particular interests of contract workers, was keen to ally itself
with other groups opposed to the South African regime.

SWANU’s motto was ‘Fortune becometh the daring’. Its
stated aims and objectives were:

(a) To unite and rally the people of South West Africa into
one National Front. '

(b) To fight relentlessly for the implementation and
maintenance of the right of self-determination for the
people of South West Africa. .
(c) To promote the Educational, Cultural and_ Economic
advancement of the People of South West Africa.

(d) To work with allied movements in Africa for the
propagation and promotion of the concept of Pan-
Africanism and unity amongst the peoples of Africa

(e) To work with allied movements in Africa, Asia and
other Continents with a view to the abolition of imperia-
lism, tribalism, racialism and all forms of oppressiofl, itél%l
economic exploitation amongst the People of the world.

Despite the intervention of the Herero Chief's COé:mmlcitl0
secure a SWANU leadership more favourable to the t?un m-
friction soon developed between the two bodies. After beco

izi i himself
ing SWANU President, Kozonguizi began to distance
from what he increasingly regarded as the tribal politics of the
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Council. It was, in turn, protective of its standing as a body thq%
had led anti-South African protest for many years. The Counc1d
felt threatened by the young incoming nationalist leaders aIIll
wanted to retain its own power base and some continuity. 3
members certainly did not wish to see relatively young anf
inexperienced people take over. The fact that ’ moslt_ 0
SWANU's leaders were Hereros added to the Council’s feelings
that its authority was being undermined. —
Then in early 1960 a serious controversy arose 'W1thm k e
Herero community over who should succeed Chief Kutako,
who was then already 90. Clemens Kapuuo was the Eeadlﬂl_g
candidate but he was widely criticised by some of Nﬁ
colleagues on the Council and by a section of the SWF:i -
leadership.” He was, however, the choice of the Chlef,.an tl11
March 1960 he was elected as Kutako's deputy, with he
unwritten assumption that he would succeed Kutako. T ?
dispute led to the withdrawal the next month (April} of severa
of Chief Kutako’s councillors from SWANU’s Executive
Committee. Kutako called for Kozonguizi’s resignation and for
all Hereros to leave SWANU, although this did not happen.

THE FORMATION OF SWAPO

From New York, Kerina corres
into early 1960 with Kapuuo,

united action against the South
joined at the UN by Kozongui
Chief’s Council and also electe
that Kerina became anxious to
and position. One particular Je
November 1959, stated:

ponded throughout 1959 a_nd
Nujoma and Ja Toivo, urging
African regime. When he was
zi, who was mandated by the
d President of SWANU, it seems
strengthen his own power basé
tter of his to Ja Toivo, dated 17

I have been urging Mr Nu

joma to change the name of the
Ovamboland Peoples Oy

ganisation into the South West

By early 1960, according to one source, OPO was ‘about to b
converted into a rj

val to SWANU'® 1t still co-operated with
SWANU but ‘its role in the new natjonal moverr]l)ent was not
defined’.!® Indeeq, Solomon Mifima, a founder member of
S}N{\PO. maintains that ‘from the beginning there was confu-
sion’ about how SWANU ang OPO related to each other.'
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With the withdrawal of Chief Kutako’s support from SWANU
in April 1960 the way was open for the emergence of a new
national body. It has been claimed that OPO leaders were
influenced in their course of action by the Chief’s Council’s
move against SWANU,? and Kozonguizi approached
Nujoma at a meeting in Monrovia in June 1960 to talk about
unity. The two leaders agreed on a merger between SWANU
and OPO, and possibly a new name as well. The merger was,
however, opposed by Kerina in New York and the Chief's
Council in Windhoek, and never took effect. Almost
immediately thereafter OPO leaders went ahead with plans to
transform the organisation into a broader movement and
reconstituted it as the South West Africa People’s Organisation
(SWAPQ). Sam Nujoma retained the post of President.

Even today SWAPQ celebrates 19 April as its birthdate, but it
was OPO that was formed on 19 April, and reconstituted as
SWAPO in June 1960. It was not, however, until September
1960 that SWAPQ’s name was heard at a major international
forum. This was when Chief Kutako, Chief Samuel Witbooi and
SWAPO jointly petitioned the UN. In November 1960 SWAPO
leaders Sam Nujoma (President), Mburumba Kerina {Chairman),
Ismail Fortune (Secretary General) and Jacob Kuhangua
(Assistant Secretary General) appeared before the UN Fourth
Committee on behalf of SWAPO. )

SWAPQ’s motto was ‘Work in Solidarity for Justice and
Freedom’, Its aims and objectives were:

(a) ... to establish a free, democratic Government in
South West Africa founded upon the will and partici-
Pation of all the people of our country and co-operate to
the fullest extent with all our African brothers.and. sisters
torid our continent of all forms of foreign domination and
to rebuild it according to the desires of the African
peoples,

(b) To work for the unification of all the people of South
West Africa into a cohesive representative, National
Political organization, irrespective of their race, ethnic
Origin, religion or creed. _

(c) gTO Worlg( for the achievement of a complete indepen-
dence for South West Africa and the removal of all forms
of oppression such as Apartheid laws. Cont'ract slyst;n]lt.
Bantu Education, and the introduction of universa ? u“
Suffrage and direct democratic representation 0{ t; ,
inhabitants of South West Africa in all organs ©

Bovernment.
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(d) To work for a speedy reconstruction of a better South
West Africa in which the people and their Chiefs shall
have the right to live and govern themselves as free
people. .
(¢) Reconstruction of the economy, educational and social
foundations which will support and maintain the real
African independence which our people desire for them-
selves.

(f) Maintenance of contact, exchange of views and
information and co-operation with organisations qnd
individuals dedicated with us to the total emancipation
and reconstruction of our continent.!®

In September 1960 SWAPO discarded its previous policy of
favouring UN trusteeship for Namibia, leading to indepen-
dence, and supported a specially constituted UN authont_y to
‘facilitate the transfer of sovereignty from (the] South African
administration to a democratically established African gov-
ernment’,'4

The first programme SWAPQO published called for ‘national
independence now under an African Government and not later
than 1963". Tt advocated a ‘transitional period' when a UN
Commission made up of independent African states would act
‘in an advisory capacity’ to the new government in Namibia.
Economic aims included the Public ownership of the railways,
mining, electrical and fishing industries, the development ?f
African-owned industry and foreign capital if invested in
industries controlled by Namibians. Forced and contract labour
were to be abolished. Education was to be free, compulsory and
publicly operated. ‘All existing lands with foreign title deqd
and ownership’ were to be ‘placed under the Government in
conformity with African communal ownership prinCiPleS,'15

Early SWAPQO letterheads listed branches in Windhoek,
Gobabis, Kaokoveld, Okahandja, Oranjemund, Otjiwarongo:
Ovamboland, Luderitz, Swakopmund, Tsumeb and Usakos.
The 22 national committee members included Nujoma, Kerina.
Fortune, Kuhangua, Nathaniel Mahuilili (Acting President after
Nujoma left the country in early 1960) Louis Nelengan
(Vice-President), Andimba Ja Tojvo (Regional OrganiseT,

Ovamboland), Vinni Ndadi ) _ ob).
Eliaser Tuhadele 1a Ndadi {Regional Chairman, Tsum

, ni Kahumba, J Shoombe, Hans Beukes: v
E1x_at‘), and Revd T Hamutumbange]a. The majority of these
officials were drawn fram the previous OPQ leadership.



8 EARLY NATIONALIST ACTIVITY
& SOUTH AFRICA'S RESPONSES

One of the principal methods adopted by nationalist
movements throughout Africa was that of civil disobedience or
passive resistance. In South Africa in the 1950s the ANC and
other like-minded organisations launched the Defiance Cam-
paign, as well as mass stay-at-homes, demonstrations, boycotts
of buses, burning of passes, etc. The ANC Freedom Charter was
adopted in 1955, calling for equal rights for all South Africans,
redistribution of the cauntry’s wealth on an equitable basis and
individual civil rights protected by law.

Many of the Namibian students, teachers and workers who
formed OPO and SWANU were in South Africa during this
ime, and the effect of these political developments on
Namibian nationalist organisations should not be overlooked.
But it was not until 1958-9 that a similar campaign of civil
disobedience was launched in Namibia - over the forced
removal of people from their existing settlements to the
reserves or to newly built black townships.

In1958 a 400-strong Damara community at Aukeigas, a g_ood
farming area, were forcibly removed by the South African
regime to the barren Okombahe reserve (see Map 7). In the
Journey thousands of the people’s cattle died. Damara leader
Fritz Gariseb saw it as the end of his community. The area they
left in Aukeigas was partly bought by white farmers and partly
turned into a game reserve, proving that under the Sogth
African regime ‘even the animals have more state protection
than human souls.’

The Nama community at Hoac
with removal. People there describe
them, near Tses, as ‘just good for a graveyard’,” and refused to
80. Their leader, Revd Marcus Kooper, mounted a campaign
against the removal. Then in January 1959 South African pohci
forced him and a small group of his people into lorries and too
them to Tses. The community was split apart. But Kooper
faised the matter at the United Nations gmd the ensuing
?ntemational opposition prevented South Africa from complet-
in

g the removals. launched to oppose the

The biggest campaign was, however, .
Temoval of people })rofgn the Old Location in windhoek to a new

hanas was also threatened
d the new area allocated to
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township that came to be known as ‘Katutura’, meaning ‘we
have no dwelling place’. This was the fifth move of Africans
living in Windhoek, enforced by the German and South African
regimes. Various committees were formed in the Old Location
in opposition to this move, and it has been suggested that the
need to present a united front against the regime on this issue
may have been a factor in the formation of SWANU.?

The Old Location was a shanty town with no proper
facilities, but Namibian families had lived there for generations
and had freehold rights to the land and there was a strong
community spirit there. The regime claimed that the accommo-
dation in Katutura was better, but it was some five miles
outside Windhoek. Rents and bus fares would be higher. Worst
of all, however, the inhabitants were to be divided into
different sections, based on their ethnic group. Coloured
(mixed race) Namibians were to be moved to another township
altogether — Khomasdal — where they were to have better
houses than those for Africans in Katutura. The sick, old and

unemployed from the Old Location were to be moved to the

reserves.

Opposition to the removals built up through 1959, uniting
OPO, SWANU, the Herero Chief’s Council and other commu-
nity groupings. Public meetings were organised but all
objections were ignored by the regime. Even the black members
of the Advisory Board set up by the South African regime t0
advise the white municipal authorities on matters concerning
the Old Location, were against the move to Katutura.

On 4 December hundreds of Namibian women marched on
the buildings of the municipal administration to protest against
the move. The next day (5 December), people gathered to
organise a boycott of municipal services including the buses
and beer hall. This was immediately effective. Then on 10

];iizmger Stol:ne giCkEtS outside the beer hall were arrested and
"'owd gathered in protest outsi i 1dings.
Police reinforcements a ide the municipal building

, Irived with arms and ammunition an
flred on the crowd. Eleven People were killed immediately:
WO moi'le died the next day. 54 more were injured. Many
:th?ar?ieon ad c{Jeen actively involved in the boycott and demon:
those who died. sh Kekurukaze Mungunda, was one 0
belonging t tlﬁ ' Sl.le was s.hot after setting fire to the cal
Thegngn(ci)h ekwhlte Superintendent of the Old Location.

by the UN C oek Shootings were raised at the United Nations
South Afric:rxln gt R S‘Duth West Alrica, who called on thi
But the South \ceime 1o ‘stop the deplorable use of force”

African regime blamed Namibian petitioners t0
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the UN for organising opposition to the removals in an attempt
to get the UN to intervene in Namibia.®

Whites in Namibia responded by rushing to arm themselves,
buying up guns and ammunition. SWANU and OPQ leaders
were ordered out of Windhoek within 72 hours. Fourteen
Africans were arrested on charges of public violence and tried
in 1961, in Namibia's first big ‘political’ trial, although they
were eventually acquitted. The situation after the shootings
was described by the black newspaper South West News as ‘a
reign of terror characterized by arrests, pass refusals, dismissals
from jobs, prohibition and deportation orders’.® Chief Kutako
described it as ‘critical and it could lead to war’. He spoke of a
‘strong police and military build-up in the territory along its
boundaries between Bechuanaland and South West Africa and
between Angola and South West Africa’.” Some people began
to move to Katutura out of fear of further violence from the
regime. The homes of African nationalists were raided and
documents and letters removed. Many leading nationalists felt
compelled to leave the country for fear of their safety, including
Sam Nujoma. Most headed for Dar es Salaam, where SWANU
and SWAPQ established offices.

UNITY AND CONFLICT

Both SWANU and SWAPO campaigned politically within
Namibia for independence, although interestingly the SWANU
constitution only spoke of ‘self-determination’. Both also
Petitioned the UN although SWANU put less stress on the role
of the UN and accused SWAPO of making ‘a career out of
petitioning’.® .

The structures of the two organisations were at first very
similar, but their support-base and orientation were different.
SWANU’s founders were the educated elite who waqted new
forms of political organisation and to ‘give Fh,eg liberation
struggle in SWA a militant and progressive basis’.” However,

e conflict that developed between them and the Herero
Chief’s Council , which was in 1960 still the focus of anti-South
African activity, partly inhibited SWANU's growth. Moreover,
SWANU made no real attempts to win support from communi-
ties other than the Hereros or from other social groups. It saw
itself as an umbrella organijsation and expected other groups to
work with it, rather than campaigning for support. i

SWAPO membership was, at first, largely made up qt
contract workers who were former OPO members, However i
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soon began to include a number of people from other
communities and social groups. Co-operation also grew bet-
ween SWAPO and the Herero Chief’s Council in the early
1960s. This brought SWAPO new members from the Herero
community, many of them young secondary school students.
Kerina was very close to Clemens Kapuuo and Revd B G
Karuaera, both leading members of the Gouncil. Kapuuo was
then also close to Nujoma and SWANU complained of Kapuuo
and Kerina trying to undermine it, .

SWANU, already claiming to be the national body, found it
difficult to accept the emergence of SWAPOQ. Organisational
conflict was also made worse by competition at the leadership
level, especially between Kozonguizi and Kerina:

(They] were the first two Namibian petitioners at the
United Nations . .. [they) were also the first college-
educated Namibians on the nationalist political scene at
that time. Kerina and Kozonguizi, therefore, saw them-
selves as the sole competitors for national leadership, and
their rivalry was sharpened by the illusion of an imminent

independence to be achieved under the auspices of the
United Nations.1?

There were numergus attempts at uniting the two organi-
sations in some way, but none of them was really successful. At
a conference in Accra in June 1962 Kozonguizi and Nujoma

stated that he had been expelled).!?

In October 1963 a united front, the South West Africa
National Liberation Front (SWANLIF) was formed on the joint
initiative of SWANU and SWAPO executive committees in
Windhoek. It aimed

(a} To solicit ai

West Africa.

(b) To inform the world at large about South West Africa.

(c) To represent the People of South West Africa in the
Councils of the world.

(d} To acquaint the people of South West Africa of the
developments in the world at large, 12

Apart from SWANY and SWAP
Africa  United National
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(SWAUNIO), based in the south of Namibia, the Burgher
Association of Rehoboth, the Rehoboth Council, and the
Volks-Organisasie van Suidwes-Afrika (VOSWA), mainly made
up of Coloureds living in central Namibia. SWANLIF did not,
however, achieve much. The Herero Chief's Council did not
join it. Moreover, the SWAPO leadership abroad were not
enthusiastic. SWAPO Vice-President Louis Nelengani claimed
in 1964 that ‘the whole idea of the front is unacceptable ... What
do we want in this so-called front which we cannot get in
SWAPQ?'13

In 1963 a regional anti-South African group, the Caprivi
African National Union (CANU) was established. Its stated
policy was ‘national independence now’ but its constitution
spoke only of ‘liberation’ of the Caprivi Strip.'* Bredan
Kangongola Simbwaye was President and Mishake Muyongo
Vice-President. In November 1964 CANU and SWAPO came
together in what was supposed to be a merger, declaring that
the two bodies * cease to exist as separate organisations, we
further resolve that CANU and SWAPO merge and unite [as]
one Organisation.”’® Simbwaye became SWAPO Vice-
President and Mishake Muyongo the SWAPO Representative in
Zambia. Unfortunately, however, there was a difference of
opinion as to how the merger would operate. CANU believed
that it existed in its own right and was working in alliance vylth
SWAPQ, but in practice CANU members were absorbed into
SWAPOQ. The issue was never resolved. It caused trouble in ?he
mid-1960s and later, in 1980, Muyongo {by then Acting
Vice-President of SWAPQ) was expelled from the organisation
for having revived GANU as a splinter group. Simbwaye was
detained by the South African authorities in 1964. His current
whereabouts remain unknown. There have, however, been
reports that he was killed by the South Africans in the late

1970s,
Oth isati ich opposed the South African
er small organisations which opp were: (1) South West

fegime in Namibia in the mid-1960s
Africa Democratic Union (SWADU) — a Damara group; (2)
Damara Tribal Executive Committee — established to oppose
the pro-South African Damara Chief Goraseb. One of 1ts_lead1ng
members, Adolf Gariseb, became Chairman of SWAPO in 1962d,
(3) Namib Convention Independence Party (NACIP) anrfl Unged
Namib Independence People’s Party (UNIPP} - both quz:i ef
by Mburumba Kerina seeking to establish some k1tr)1 ccl)
political base within the country although he was still abroad.

In 1964 the Herero Chief’s Council also fgrmed its (:‘Wn
political party — the National Unity Democratic Organisation
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(NUDO). Chief Hosea Kutako, Clemens Kapuuo and Mbuml_nba
Kerina were elected as its leaders. There was very l}ttI,B
difference between the activities of NUDO and the Chief’s
Council, except that NUDO was probably formed as an attempt
by the Council to give itself a new, overtly political image t'o
enable it to compete with SWANU and SWAPO. The Council’s
split with Kozonguizi was, by this time, complete. Relations
with SWAPO were still good but as SWAPO grew in strength
and membership it increasingly acted on its own rather than in
close co-operation with other groups.

No serious attempt was made to win support for NUDO from
communities other than the Hereros and the Chief’s Council
still continued to function. Despite the rivalry between the
various nationalist groupings at this time, Chief Kutako was
still seen by many African nationalists, young and old, as beu}S
above the conflict. He was a respected figure whose leadership

qualities and dedication to Namibia’s freedom were
unquestioned.

OAU SUPPCRT

The attainment by many African countries of their indepen-
dence in the early 1960s had an impact on the nationalist
movement in Namibia. Despite the country’s isolation, devel-
opments in the rest of the continent and, in particular, the
independence of Ghana and the crisis in the Congo were
followed closely. Namibian nationalists who left the country to
campaign abroad for independence co-operated with nation-
alists from other African countries and the Organisation of
African Unity (OAU) which was set up in May 1963.

The OAU set up a Co-ordination Committee for the
Liberation of Africa in Dar es Salaam, with a Special Liberation
Fund. made up of obligatory contributions from each member
state. The committee wag intended to co-ordinate assistance to
the nationalist movements from countries not yet independent.

united frpnt or & unified party. Support was offered to those
organisations which produced effective and convincing pro-
grammes of action and who were seen to have the support of
the ?eorle they claimed to represent,

Initially, both SWANU and SwApPO were recognised by the
OAU. but by mid-1965 SWAPO had secured recognition as the
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only nationalist organisation through which the OAU would

sul?port the people of Namibia. Emil Appolus has recounted

why:
The first budget of the Liberation Committee contained
the princely sum of £20,000 . . . as ‘material and financial
assistance’ to South West Africa, to be divided equally
among the two political parties then in existence:
SWANU and SWAPO. The proviso, however, was that the
liberation movements present a plan of armed struggle
before the money could be released. We in SWAPO
immediately declared that we were ready to pick up guns
lo fight what we termed the illegal occupation of our
country by South Africa. SWANU, on the other hand, said
they were not prepared for a military confrontation .. .
this automatically cut off their future prospects of getting
any financial assistance from any government in Africa.’®

_ SWANU had originally been better established in the
mternational community than SWAPO. It was the first national
dy in Namibia and its leadership abroad were an impressive
team with considerable organisational experience. But they
Were scattered and largely based in Europe as students,
Whereas SWAPO leaders abroad were concentrated in Dar es
aam and other African centres and were full-time political
activists. Moreover SWANU leaders seem to have been curiou-
sly passive about the whole process of recognition from the
OAU, as if they took their recognition for granted, and were
en resigned to the inevitability of its being refused.

At a conference in Sweden in May 1965 SWANU elected an
ernal Council to co-ordinate its work abroad. An overall
Strategy for the organisation was drawn up, and the ?m.s‘dent'
Jariretundu Kozonguizi, planned to return to Namibia in June
1966 to inform the SWANU executive there of these decisions.
DWeVer' KozonguiZi came into Con_ﬂiﬂt Wit.h Uthel' SWA!\"!.;
leaders gver this trip. He accused the SWANU E_themai Counci
of sabotaging his work and promptly resigned. both as
President and as a2 member of SWANU. Gerson H'"e\‘xm‘;&'}
me Acting President (he was confirmed as SV o

ident in 1968) and the External Council was reorganised.
WAP i i had, in fact, pre-empted
O President Sam Nujoma "En b 1066, Nujoma

Kozanguizj b i ibi
y returning to Namidia 1 T
&nd Lucas Pohamba (thegn Assistant SWAPO Repm?“"::"eu":
bia, now SWAPQ Treasurer) decided to test claims by
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South African regime that Namibian nationalists abroad were
in self-imposed exile and could return to the country. They also
hoped to draw international attention to the situation in
Namibia. They chartered a plane and flew to Windhoek on 20
March. The plane was detained, however, and they were
immediately arrested. The following day they were escorted
back on to the plane at gun-point and were deported to Zambia,
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9 DEVELOPMENTS AT THE UNITED NATIONS
& THE INTERNATIONAL COURT OF
JUSTICE {1960s)

In the late 1950s and early 1960s there was intensive
petitioning at the United Nations by and on behalf of Namibian
nationalists, and a general belief that the best way to proceed
towards Namibian independence was to place the country
under UN trusteeship. Debates on Namibia at the UN were
closely followed in the country. Apart from providing infor-
mation to the world body, the contents of petitions were
publicised at home and abroad and helped to win support for
the cause of Namibian independence. The new international
climate, with the progress of decolonisation and the entry of
Third World nations into the UN, generated expectations that
the UN could successfully establish its authority over Namibia.
Some recalled that South African Prime Minister Verwoerd
‘once said that the UN will not be allowed into Namibia™,
but in May 1962 a special UN mission visited the country,
fuelling expectations of change. In fact, many Namibians
believed that 1963 would be the year of their freedom.
From 1958 to 1966, however, there was a general crisis ?f
confidence in the UN, which led to the ending of South Africa’s
mandate over Namibia, and which was a factor in SV\{APO s
decision to launch an armed liberation struggle. This was

Mainly brought about by:

1 the failure of various UN committees on Namibia to deal
effectiVely with the matter and, in particular, the outcome of
the 1962 UN Mission to Namibia; and I

2 the case brought against South Africa in the Internationa
Court of Justice by Liberia and Ethiopia and the Court's 1966
Judgement,

In 1958 the Good Offices Committee, under the
hai1'111anship of the former Governor of Ghana, .Su Cha_files
Arden Clarke, suggested a plan to partition Namibia. The 1 t?)?
Was essentially to split Namibia into 2 southern sec ]
lincluding the fertile land, white settler farms and mrltr;;r:n
resources) to be incorporated into South Africa, andda no o
sector that South Africa would administer under @

Steeship agreement.
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In 1960 the Comimittee on South West Africa tried to visit
Namibia to investigate ‘steps which would enable the indige-
nous inhabitants ... to achieve a wide measure of internal
self-government designed to lead them to complete indepen-
dence as soon as possible’? South Africa refused the
committee entry to Namibia and said that any attempt by the
UN to cross into Namibia illegally would be regarded as an act
of aggression. The committee therefore visited various African
capitals and spoke to Namibian nationalists in exile. However,
the British government refused visas for them to visit Botswana
to talk to Namibian petitioners who had crossed the Kalahari
specifically for that purpose.

In 1962 the Special Committee for South West Africa
succeeded in visiting Namibia but wasg compromised by the
joint statement it made with the South African regime. The
purpose of the committee’s visit was to bring about the
withdrawal of South African military personnel, the repeal of
racially discriminatory laws, release of political prisoners, and
the holding of elections under UN supervision and control, for
a legislative assembly. The mission was headed by Vittorio
Carpio of the Philippines and Dy Martinez de Alva of Mexico. It
met a wide cross-section of people, receiving written and oral
testimony from Namibians in the country and statements from
those abroad.

The South African regime insisted on a joint statement being

made by the committee angd themselves. Carpio fell suddenly
and inexplicably il] while thi

?gggatt}ignﬁﬁo the UN and the people of Namibia. In December
bia. The Lib Genoral Assembly opened discussions on Nami-

. iberian representative announced that the Liberian
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and Ethiopian governments had instituted proceedings against
South Africa before the ICj. These two countries were the
prime movers as African members of the former League of
Nations, under which the mandate over Namibia had been

' originally granted to South Africa.

- The lawyer who acted on behalf of Liberia and Ethiopia was
Ernest A Gross, former US Assistant Secretary of State
{1947-9} and US delegate to the UN {1949-55), but he was
soon criticised for failing to consult properly with his clients.
He advised Ethiopia and Liberia that they should narrow their
case down and base it ‘on official documents, statutes and
statements defining apartheid'® and then assume that the

. Cc_uurt would follow the American legal principle which

,  Tejected any claim that people could be treated as ‘separate

| but equal’ as the proponents of apartheid claimed was the
case. This approach failed to establish the reality of South
African rule in Namibia and therefore failed to show that

South Africa was violating the terms of the original mandate.

The case proceeded very slowly. From March to November

1965 the IC] heard witnesses from South Africa but no
Namibians were heard, not even the petitioners to the UN.
Gross cross-examined the South Africans extensively — to the

,  @noyance of some of the judges — but the court had no
' Provisions to punish, and therefore prevent, false statements.
On 18 July 1966 the Court handed down a decision which
refused to judge the substance of the case. The votes were
equally divided, so it was by the President’s casting vote that
the court decided ‘to reject the claims of the Empire of

Ethiopia and the Republic of Liberia’.* The reason given for

this was that Ethiopia and Liberia had ‘no special right or

i Interest’ in bringing the case. They had, however, argued that

| they were acting on behalf of former members of the League of

:  Nations. ,

This verdict came as a complete surprise to both sides in the
case and to most observers: a ruling against South Africa had
been expected. It also effectively contradicted all previous

- Tulings by the ICJ on Namibia and implied that no individual

| State or states could raise the question of Namibia’s stat}ls

before the Court. The actual voting produced a stalemate, 717,

so the Judge President, Sir Percy Spender of Australia {who

ad always taken a pro-South Africa line when he wﬁs

Australian representative at the UN), voted twice to decide the

issue,
The Liberian representative at the UN declareil_ thstatmtih:
ecision of the Court was ‘the object of condemnation
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. v h
source of shock and disgust all over the entire worl'd.
Moreover, the credibility of the Court itself was brought into
question:

On 18 July 1966 the Court handed down what may prove
to be its most controversial judgement ever, holding that it
was unable to give a decision on the merits of the dlspute
because Ethiopia and Liberia had no legal right or interest
in the subject matter of their complaints. By reaching this
arid conclusion the Court signally failed to dispel'w1de—
spread doubts about the relevance of its role in the
settlement of critical international disputes; and at the
same time it tragically deepened anxiety about the
prospects of bringing this particular dispute to a ]US‘E
conclusion in the context of the international rule of law.

Reactions by Namibian nationalists and the South Afr;cag
regime obviously differed widely. Both SWANU and SWAP "
saw the decision as a miscarriage of justice, while the Sout
African regime hailed it as a victory.

Only South Africa and the white settlers of South West
Africa were jubilant: “The bars in Windhoek stayed open
all night’, as one reporter wrote. Twenty years of efforts to

change South Africa’s attitude had gone by without
results.”

At the UN, the General Assembly responded on 27 OCtU?ﬁ;
1966, in a move initiated by Ghana, and terminatt?d l
mandate. It declared that South Africa ‘has no other right 0
administer the Territory and that henceforth South West Africa
comes under the direct responsibility of the United Nations.
It also established a UN body to administer the country untt
independence. This was the UN Council for South West Affica
(now known as the UN Council for Namibia). It operates out ©
the UN headquarters in New York and now also has regm"‘;}
offices in Lusaka, Luanda and Gaborone, through which the Ul

channels material assistance to those Namibians residing 1
countries adjacent to Namibia,




10 THE LAUNCHING OF SWAPO'S
ARMED STRUGGLE

By the mid- to late 1960s the method of armed struggle had
been adopted by most nationalist movements in southern and
Portuguese Africa. Angola led the way with a series of armed
uprisings in 1961. This was followed by FRELIMO in Mozam-
bique, which took up arms in 1964. After the 1965 Unilateral
Declaration of Independence by the Smith regime in Rhodesia
and Britain’s failure to intervene decisively on behalf of the
black population, ZANU took up arms in 1966. In 1967 the
combined forces of the ANC of South Africa and ZAPU had
their first military encounters with the Smith regime. For
Namibians, however, the moment of truth came with the 1966
]_udgement, or non-judgement, of the IC]. Any hopes or
illusions about the will of the outside world to help them were
dealt a heavy blow. Andimba Ja Toive summed up Namibians’
Teactions as follows:

The judgement of the World Court was a bitter disappoint-
ment to us. We felt betrayed and we believed that South
Africa would never fulfil its trust. Some felt that we
would secure our freedom only by fighting for it.”

SWAPO declared that

The effect that it has on our people is that it relieves them
once and for all from any illusions which they may have
hatboured about the United Nations as some kind of
saviour in their plight . . . We have no alternative but to
Iise in arms and bring about our own liberation. ‘The
supreme test must be faced and we must at once begin to
Cross the many rivers of blood on our march towards
freedom .2

In fact, SWAPO had been preparin
Struggle for some time, althougﬂ itpwas hoped that a peacef}ﬂ
solution to Namibia’s independence could still be found. In
1962 the first group of SWAPO members began military
raining. A number of them were then sent into Namllilla }2
August 1965, They established a base at Omgulumbas ?I‘ ll)e
Ovamboland, intending to train more people as flghtE;I‘S- Otto
tst group was of six men, under the leadership of john
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The Launching of SWAPO's Armed Struggle

Nankuthu, but they were soon reinforced by other small units
of fighters. The early strategy was summed up in the words of
Tobias H Hainyeko, SWAPQ's first military commander:

Our guerrilla warfare will first start from the weak point -
that is the countryside — where the development of means
of transportation for the enemy is too weak to enable them
to mobilise their forces. In these areas the enemy forces
could face some logistical problems.?

The South Africans learnt of the presence of SWAPO fighters
in the country and arrested some of them in Okavango in May
1966. They then planned a large-scale attack on the Omgulum-
bashe base. Although the SWAPO fighters knew of the
imminent attack, they decided to wait to meet the enemy. Thus
it was that the first armed encounter between SWAPO and the
South Africans took place at at Omgulumbashe on 26 August
1966. The South Africans claimed that they wiped out the
camp, but Ja Toivo talks of two SWAPO men being killed,
while the rest retreated or were captured.*

Almost two weeks after the battle of Omgulumbashe, on 6
September 1966, the South African Prime Minister DT
Verwoerd was assassinated. Op 28 September the houses of
two South African officials on the Namibia/Angola border were
burned down by SWAFO fighters. In November and December,
SWAPO raided the Property of pro-South African chiefs il
Ovamboland, taking arms and wounding their bodyguards.
Fears spread in Namibia among the whites that these events
together meant a new onslaught on white supremacy. .

In May 1967 the SWAPQ military commander, Tobias
Hainyeko, led a mission to investigate the situation in north-

ﬁait Namill)ifi (Caprivi). He wanted to improve communicationg
elween his operational head uarters in Tanzania al
SWAPQO’s fighting units k

South Africans by the local manager of the Caltex company that
ran the barges from Katima Mulilo along the river.®

The news of Hainyeko's death reached SWAPQ's Provisional

Headquarters in Dap es S
_ alaa cause
considerable distregs. icipation ot v o

: ! As if in anticipation of what was to come:
3?11111“1(0 s last words when he left Dar es Salaam had been 1
never surrender tg gp enemy. It is either him or me.’
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Hainyeko's deputy, Leonard Phillemon, then became
commander of SWAPO's fighters. Right from the start,
however, there was a lot of uneasiness about Phillemon,
especially amongst the younger fighters who questioned his
activities in Namibia leading up to the battle of Omgulum-
bashe. A number of SWAPO fighters on different missions were
captured by the South Africans as they entered Namibia, and
this raised suspicions of there being a highly placed informer in
SWAPO’s military wing. Then in 1968 Phillemon was accused
of working for the South African regime and was detained by
SWAPO. Dimo Amambo took over as commander.”

THE 19678 TERRORISM TRIAL

Following the launching of the armed struggle, 37 SWAPO
lfﬁqders and fighters were arrested, including Nathaniel Mahui-
lili (Acting President), John Ya Otto (Acting Secretary General),
Andimba Ja Toivo (Regional Secretary for Ovamboland) and
Jason Mutumbulua (Secretary for External Relations).? They
were taken to Pretoria and detained there. At first they were
eld incommunicado under the Suppression of Communism
Act, but the South African regime introduced new legislation
In June 1967 — which has become known as the Terrorism Act—
and made it retrospective to 1962 to cover SWAPO activities
Since that date.

The 37 Namibians were charged under this Act. They were
Severely tortured by the South African police while in
detention. Ya Otto has described being given electric shocks
even before the questioning began:

When electricity tears through your body, you cannot
think, let alone speak. I discovered that for the Special
Branch this was the last stage of priming their detainees
for co-operation - the last torture before sitting down to
‘talk reason’ . . . Each time it felt as if a bomb of a thousand
sharp needles was exploding inside me, tearing my guts
apart, pushing my eyes out from their sockets, bursting

my skin open in a dozen places.®
Ja Toivo

was blindfolded and handcuffed to a hot-water pipe; thﬁn

wires were attached to various parts of his bogly am.j ]e

was given electric shock. Threatening to crush'hls Beéllttﬂl 3

while he was thus suspended, they mocked him and to
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him, ‘Here in Pretoria, we will make a new man of YO!E
You will become young again’ . . . ‘Where is your Unite
Nations now?’ they jeered at him.!°

The other detainees were also tortured. Thg dqfence attorne}y:j,
Joel Carlson, took up the case of Gabriel Mbindi, a ﬁB-year-Uh
member who had worked at the Windhoek Post Office, andtt t;
South African regime unexpectedly settled the mfltter o ;n
court. They paid Carlson's legal costs and £500 ?idl‘& -
unstated admission of guilt — and released Mbindi. _ .

Eventually, the men were brought befcre the court in jm'ln
1967 and had their charges read out to them. Almost al'l wererl0
& poor state of health. One of the men, Ephraim Kamati Kap?1 ci
died in October 1967, during the trial. Severa!l othel"s tie
sustained serious injuries, either during detention or in
battle at Omgulumbashe. , nd

The witnesses for South Alrica were mainly policemen af X
members of the South African security forces responsible (:s
monitoring SWAPO activities. There were also documelﬂIl
used to support the regime’s case, some of which were S'tlo fw
from the briefcase of SWAPO President Sam Nujoma whi ed ]a
was staying in London in 1966. The South Africans_ regarde .
Toivo as an important leader and hoped to break him and tu "
him into a state witness, They also tried to turn ]ats}O
Mutumbulua. In both these attempts they failed, but t 913;
succeeded with the former SWAPQ Vice-President, Lou
Nelengani. .

Nelengani had been suspended as Vice-President after belI;B
involved in a fight in December 1965 with Jacob Kuhangui_'
then SWAPQ Secretary General. The two men fought Physs
cally and in the process Nelengani stabbed Kuhangua, who wa
paralysed from the waist down as a result of his injuries.

local court in Dar es Salaam found Nelengani not guilty of an¥

. e
charge because of Provocation from Kuhangua, However,

S00n returned to Namibia 5 disi

badly tortured by the South Africans and forced to act as a state
witness in the 1967 trial. .

The defence case rested op the question of South Afrlcai'
jurisdiction over Namibia, and argued that the Terrorism A}f
could not be applied tq Namibia, but the judge ruled that the

court could not question the jurisdiction of the Act. At the en
of the trial the defe
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to speak for the group. His speech had a great impact in many
countries and has inspired Namibians to this day. Addressing
the South African judge, he said:

We are Namibians and not South Africans. We do not
now, and will not in the future, recognise your right to
govern us; to make laws for us in which we had no say; to
treat our country as if it were your property and us as if
you were our masters. We have always regarded South
Alrica as an intruder in our country . . .

We claim independence for South West Africa. We do
not expect that independence will end our troubles, but
we do believe that our people are entitled — as are all
peoples — to rule themselves ... Even though I did not
agree that people should go into the bush, I could not
refuse to help them when I knew that they were hungry. I
even passed on the request for dynamite . . . 1 was not, and
I'could not remain a spectator in the struggle of my people
for their freedom.

l'am a loyal Namibian and I could not betray my people
to their enemies. I admit that I decided to assist those who
had taken up arms. I know that the struggle will be long
and bitter. I also know that my people will wage that
struggle, whatever the cost.'?

Tuhadeleni Kahumba also spoke; he was one of the oldest
gefl}elndants and an early volunteer for training at Omgulum-
ashe:

We find ourselves a conquered people, and the master
does not discuss with the slave. And so we shall free
ourselves and then discussion will again take place
between equals,

Our struggle against South Africa is an unequal one. I
have seen the power of South Africa at Omgulumbashe.
But David slew Goljath because he had right on his side,
and we Namibians have faith that we, too, have right on
our side.!?

Twenty of th ainees, including Tuhafielem, were
Senten(;eﬂ to litfeein:l;rtisonment:” nine, including Ja TU‘I‘J’O'
80t twenty years;'® Jonas Nashivela and Nathame:l 'l'cl,F

omatenj got five years. Ya Otto, Mutumbulua and MHAUlt 1“;
were sentenced under the Suppression of Communism (C:I .
Ve years, with four years and eleven mon_ths suspen "

atheus Joseph was discharged; Simeon Ipinge Iputa W
acquitted. (Ephraim Kaporo died during the trial).
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Eighty-one other SWAPQO members had been named as
co-conspirators in the Terrorism Trial. This included the
SWAPO leadership abroad and some in Namibia, but in the end
they were not brought to trial. A further indication of the South
African regime’s determination to repress nationalist activity io
the wake of the launching of the armed struggle was the arrest
in April 1967 of SWANU Acting President Hitjevi Veii. He was
charged with sabotage for ‘inciting, encouraging and instigating
people to injure police informers, whites and members of the
police force’. he had spoken at a meeting to resist the
continuing forced removals of Namibians from Windhoek's
Old Location to Katutura. Veii was tried in May 1967 and
sentenced to five years on Robben Island.



11 1971-2: A TURNING POINT

THE 1971 IC] OPINION

In 1970, fearing that the authority of the UN was being
undermined, the Security Council set up an Ad Hoc Sub-
Committee to explore ways of implementing UN rulings on
Namibia. This committee decided to take the Namibia case
back to the ICJ and ask the Court what the legal consequences
were for UN member states of the continued presence of South
Africa in Namibia. There was considerable opposition ta this
idea at first from the Africa group at the UN and from SWAPO —
they feared another unsatisfactory ruling, like that of 1966,
which could only strengthen the hand of South Africa.
Informal behind-the-scenes consultations had, however,
revealed that, partly because the composition of thfe ;.udges had
changed since 1966, a ruling in favour of the Namibian people
was likely.?

When the ICJ took up the case, South Africa attgmpted to
delay the proceedings by offering to supply information to tl_le
Court, It also asked to be allowed to hold a plebiscite n
Namibia to determine the wishes of the people. The Court
would not entertain this, however. SWAPO lobbied %nfor‘mally
at the Court and was allowed an observer delegation in the
courtroom. No member state spoke up for So_uth A.fnca - a
symptom of that country’s increasing international isolation,
Then in June 1971 the Court concluded its hearing and the
Judges gave the following verdict:

The Court is of opinion . .. .

1 that, the con]:iHUEd presence of South ;}fnga tn
Namibia being illegal, South Africa is undgr gbhgatllon 10
withdraw its administration from Namibia nmqedlate '
and thus put an end to its occupation of t}}e Territory - . .
2 that member states of the United Nations aré under

obligation to recognize the illegality of South Africa’s

A s 3s i ts on
resence i ibia and the invalidity of its ac
P ce in Namibia a d to refrain from any

behalf of or concerning Namibia, and
acts and in particular any dealings with the Goﬁmgzeg:
of South Africa implying recognition of the legality oL
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lending support or assistance to, such presence and
administration.?

Finally, the weight of international legal opinion had come
down in favour of the nationalist cause of the Namibian peaple.
I The UN Security Council met in September-October 1971 to
w discuss the IC] Opinion. Both South Africa and SWAFO
addressed the meeting, with SWAPO President Sam Nujoma
becoming the first leader of an African nationalist movement,
still campaigning for independence, to do so. Nujoma called
| upon the Security Council to live up to its responsibility over
F Namibia. But South Africa rejected the Opinion and the SDUTh
African Administrator in Namibia, Mr Van Der Watt, said
simplay ‘We wiil continue to govern South West Africa as in the
past.’

Other Namibian groups, such as SWANU and the Herero
Chief’s Council, expressed satisfaction at the finding Uf, the
Court. Jariretundu Kozonguizi stated that the Opinion prOVl‘_19d
‘the necessary, but at no time in doubt, legal basis for the just
struggle of the people of Namibia'.* Of particular significance
is the endorsement and the welcome given by the churchqs to
the IC] Opinion. Bishop Colin Winter, head of the Anglican
church in the country, described the way people in Windhoek
reacted to the news: ‘The decision at The Hague causqd a
sensation in Namibia. There wag dancing in the African
location,’

South Africa wag determined to pursue its idea of some for,m
of a plebiscite to gauge the opinions of Namibians. To do thls‘
they went to the biggest church in the country — the Evangehcﬁll
Lutheran Ovambo-Kavange church (ELOK) — and its Bishop.
Leqnard Auala, distributed a questionnaire throughout congre-
gations in Ovamboland asking people their views on the I
Opinion. The resylt shattered South Africa’s illusions about
popular support for jtg policies:

|

South Africa has never since offered a plebiscite to decide
on T_he continuance of Soyth African rule. When asked, in
€Ir own language, by people they trusted, for their
Opinion on the world ruling, the people of Ovamboland
Teturned an overwhelming vote: they totally rejected the
tontinuance of white rule from South Africa ¢

This was followed by an O frican
_ as pen Letter to the South Afri
Prime Minister Vorster from Bishop Auala and Moderator
Pastor Gowaseb, head of the Evangelical Lutheran church
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(ELK). It conveyed Bishop Auala’s findings and condemned
South African rule:

Qur people are not free and by the way they are treated,
they do not feel safe . . . The Church Boards’ urgent wish
is that in terms of the declaration of the World Court and
in co-operation with the UNO ... your government will
seek a peaceful solution to the problems of our land and
will see to it that human rights be put into operation and
that South West Africa may become a self-sufficient and
independent state.”

This was the first time the black leaders of the churches in
Namibia had taken a public stand of this sort in support of the
demand for freedom. It was to be the first of many such stands
flnd it led to closer relations between the churches and
increasing co-ordination of their work.

THE 1971-2 STRIKE

The effect of the ICJ Opinion within Namibia was very clear.
Here was the international support that Namibians had wa nted
so long ~ a clear statement that South Africa’s _Contl.HUEd
Presence in the country was illegal. This was a fertile climate
for political activists and a renewed nationalist campalgn
would not have been much of a surprise at that time. The major
strike that swept through the country from December 1971 was,

owever, a new element in Namibian opposition to South
African rule.

The strike began amongst contract workers — the m;gt
exploited group of Namibian workers. The spark that started it
off was lit by a comment by the South African Commissioner
for Indigenous People in Namibia, Jannie de Wet. In reiponsi
to growing public criticism of the harsh and b.mdlng o u; -~
the contract labour system, de Wet stated that it was r‘10t]a otrm
of slavery because the workers signed their contracts vodunfai'i
ily"® In so doing, he touched the nerve of_people alrea Yt lrln
of anger at the way their lives were brutalised by this system.

e response was, therefore, immediate.

Letters were exchanged at the begmmr‘k% lofs D;:;n;t;leé
between contract workers in Wlndhoek, \ ; vOne s i
Tsumeb, sharing ideas on how to organise a strike.

Tead as follows:
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We have decided to break the contract. On Mondgy we
must not go to work or eat in the [communal] klc_:hen.
Those who disagree with this must leave or they will be

hurt. Those who work at night must not return to the
compound.®

A strike diary kept by Leonard Nghipandulua, one of the strike
leaders, shows how the plans developed. Monday 13 December
was determined in advance as the day the strike was to start;
When that day came, 6,000 men in the contract workers
compound in Katutura went on strike. The compound was
surrounded by the police and the gates were sealed with the
workers inside. By the end of that week, the strike had Serad
to Walvis Bay and to the Tsumeb, Klein Aub and Oamites
copper mines. The Berg Aukas lead and vanadium mine and
Uis tin mine were also affected. Later in the month, workers at
the Consolidated Diamond Mines in Oranjemund joined the
strike. Many workers in commercial and industrial concerns
and on some farms also left thejr work:

According to the South African government, the strike at
its peak involved 13,000 workers. Unofficial estimates,

however, put the number at over 20,000 — close to half the
Ovambo contract labour force, 1

The South African regime immediately arrested those whom

they regarded as the strike ring-leaders. Then they sent all
strikers back to the reserves, in this case mostly to northem
Namibia. In fact, relying on the subsistence agricultural
produc’tion of their families in the reserves was the only way
the strikers could hope to survive the strike physically and
economically. An ad hoc strike committee led by Johannes

500 workers

. > I Intimidation, arrests and even killings
;\;sl‘e r;a Et)ormd' Within the industrial centres there was an
?ﬁnp 0 get other Namibjap workers to take the places of the
strikers, but largely withoyt success;
Panic s )
mine pread through the white community as not only

® and businesses were being threatened. Goods were
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piling up in the railways, litter and garbage went uncoll-
ected, there were no deliveries of milk, and other essential
services were threatened. White schoolboys, largely teen-
agers, were hired to haul garbage at wages of over R100
(US$140) a month — ten times what black adult workers
?eceived for the same work. The whites saw nothing
incongruous in this.'?

Discussions were held between the South African regime, the
recruiting agency, South West Africa Native Labour Associ-
ation (SWANLA), and major employers, and a new scheme for
the recruitment of workers was agreed upon. In practice,
hOV\fever, it was simply a change of terminology — the rigid
reality of the contract remained intact. SWANLA was replaced
by labour bureaux run by the tribal authorities set up by South
f‘\frica; the words ‘master’ and ‘servant’ were replaced by
employer’ and ‘employee’; working hours were to be stip-
ulated; it would be easier to change jobs; and there was a
promise that workers would be able to maintain contact with
their families.

The national press and radio were used by the South African
regime to claim that the strikers had, in fact, won major
concessions and that Nangutuuala had personally agreed to the
new deal, although it has never been clear whether he
voluntarily did so. Then a news black-out was imposed on
northern Namibia. Strikers began to register under the ‘new’
contract, but found it hardly any different from the old, and the
unrest began to increase. White women and children in the
northern regions were evacuated to the south of the country.
South African troops were sent in for the first time and
Portuguese troops moved south across the border with. Angola
to assist them. Strike meetings were broken up and fired on,
and people rounded up en masse. On 4 February a state of
emergency was declared in Ovamboland under Proclamation
R17: meetings were banned; no ‘unauthorised’ person was
allowed to visit the area; political organisation, boycotts,
‘subversive’ statements, etc. became imprisonable offences;
and the police were empowered to detain indefinitely without
charge anyone suspected of an offence. R17 remained in force
until 1977 when other security legislation affecting the whole
Country replaced it.

The 3tr‘i'\a'fiﬁfe contract workers and one student who had'begn
arrested at the beginning of the strike were brought to trial in

January 1971, They were charged with intimidating and

inciting others to strike and breaking their own contracts by
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striking. Many international observers attended the trial and, in
the end, eight strikers were fined and the others acquitted. The
magistrate was obliged to acknowledge the appalling pay and
conditions revealed by the trial.

Bishop Winter and his family had openly sided with the
strikers and those on trial, and they were deported from
Namibia in March 1972. By the end of March most strikers had
gone back to work. The open brutality of the South African
regime and the way they undermined and compromised the
leader of the strike committee, Nangutuuala, helped to break
the strike. The thousands of extra people in the north also
overstreiched the meagre resources of most families and sheer
poverty helped to force the men back to work.

The strike itself was organised by ordinary workers, most of
whom had litle formal education. OPO, and then SWAPO, had,
however, been organising amongst the contract workers for
over a decade. Many of the strikers were SWAPO members o1
supporters, and SWAPO wag clearly involved in the strike.

Nevertheless, SWAPQ Acting President Nathaniel Mahuilili
has said:

The Ovambos know of the World Court decision on South
West Africa, they know the feelings in the United
Nations.They realise that the eyes of the world are on
South West Africa. Not only SWAPO, many other organi-

sations and individuals regarded the contract labour
system as a form of slave laboyr, 1

This was the first ti

$ me that workers in Namibia had laid
down their tog]

$ not only in demand of better pay of

Youth League in 1973-5. This
initially act d i pOhthlSlng effect of the strike. Pef_)ple
i con%racte] l;n tésponse to their immediate experience, €.
course of (;1 avour system which dominated their lives. In the

se of the strike, however, and Perhaps partly because they

i

did not
tives, re
desired,
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did not achieve their objectives, they gained wider perspec-
tives, realising that, in order to bring about the changes they
desired, they had to strive for much wider political change.
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& NATIONALIST RESPONSES

In 1962 the Odendaal Commission of Inquiry, so named after
its chairman, was established by South Africa to recommend a
plan for the development of Namibia ‘and more particularly its
non-white inhabitants’, within the context of ‘what has alrea(_iy
been planned and put into practice’.! Its report came out in
1963,” arguing strongly for the ‘separate development’ of
black and white in Namibia, that is, a ‘further extension of the
system of apartheid throughout the Territory; and to make it the
basic principle of political, economic and social organisation,
as in South Africa’.3

Eleven black authorities were proposed, through which
Namibians would be separated along ethnic lines from each
other and from the whites. The Coloureds, all urban dwellers,
were to have a Council; the Rehobothers would retain their
traditional area and Council (Raad). For the other black groups
there would be homelands, conceived gs separate ‘states’ with
their own legislative councils. They were to be given extra land
but essentially they covered the same areas as the existing
African reserves, much of them dry and barren (see Map 8). The
consolidation of the various black communities into these
homelands would be achieved by the removal of thousands of
Namibians from their existing homes. The remaining ‘white
area’ would comprise the good farming land, the mines and
diamond areas, towns and economic infrastructure.

The ‘white area’ would be administered by a white legislative
assembly which would have Powers over white education and
health services, roads, local authorities and townships, public
works, personal tax and income tax. All black health and
ec.iucational services, transport, taxation, etc. were to fall
directly under South African ministries, In effect, though, the

This was to be an even i . R
) closer int bia into
South Africa, a dism egration of Nami

. : embering of the country totally at odds
with South Africa’s mandate to administer the territory. Indeed
72




_

South Africa’s Bantustan Policies & Naticnalist Responses

Table 2 Bantustan Structures up to 1977

Whites Exclusively white Legislative Assembly
| Ovembo Legisative Assembly 1968, Self-Governing
3 Territory 1973
Kavango Legislative Assembly 1970, Self-Governing
Territory 1973
Damara Damara Advisory Council 1971, expanded
. powers 1977
Caprivi Legislative Assembly 1972
Rehobothers Self-Governing Tetritory 1976, elected
‘Kaptein' 1977
| Coloured Partially elected Coloured Council 1961
‘ Nama Nama Council 1976
Tswana No legislative or advisory bodies
Ovakuruvehi
(Bushmen) No legislative or advisory bodies
Herero No legislative assembly

the Odendaal Report explicitly stated that ‘the Government of
South Africa no longer regards the original mandate as still
BXlStiIlg as such.’s

There was widespread oppasition within Namibia to these
Proposals, but South Africa went ahead with legislation that
would allow them to be implemented, passing the Devel-
opment of Self-Government for Native Nations in South West
Africa Act in 1968 and the South West Africa Affairs A(;t in
1969. The Odendaal Plan has formed the basis of South Africa’s
policy towards Namibia ever since then. Table 2 shows the
evolution of these Bantustan structures in Namibia up to 1977.

THE 1972 Uy MISSION TO NAMIBIA

Atthe height of the 1971-2 strike the UN Security Council held
a special gession in Addis Ababa and passed a n?solutmn
calling on the Secretary General to establish negotiations that
| would lead to self-determination for the people of ,Namlb'a‘
J This led to a visit to Namibia by Dr Kurt Waldheim In March
| 1972. Nothing was immediately achieved by the visit, however,
|

and Waldhei i epresentative, Dr A Escher, to
dheim appointed a ;h];lf. In October 1972 Escher led

South African propo-
with representatives

Continue negotiations on his b
another mission to Namibia and accepted
sals for an Advisory Council to be set up,
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drawn from the various regions. However, he failed to commit
South Africa to clarifying its own interpretation of self-
determination for Namibia and did not challenge Vorster's
claim that this could only be done once Namibians had more
experience in ‘self-government’. The South Africans exploited
similarities in terminology to cover their very different political
approach. South Africa was committed to ‘self-determination
for the peoples’ of Namibia, and the UN to ‘self-determination
of the people’.®

The Advisory Council was set up in March 1973. South
African Prime Minister Vorster appointed a Special Repre-
sentative, Billy Marais, to run it, but it was clearly envisaged as
fitting into existing Bantustan structures and the ‘regional’
representatives were chosen on an ethnic basis. Two people
were nominated by the all-white legislative assembly; and two
Tswana, two Ovakuruvehi {Bushmen) representatives and two
representatives from each of the Ovambo, Kavango and East
Caprivian Bantustan governments or councils were appointed
by the South African regime. SWAPO, SWANU and Herero
Chief Clemens Kapuuo rejected the council. Chief Munjuku
Nguvauva of the Mbanderu group of the Hereros, and repre-
sentatives of the Rehoboth, Nama and Damara communities
attended as observers, although Chief Munjuku soon walked
out, saying that he wanted independence for the country as a
whole. South Africa stated that the council was still in a
‘formative stage’” and continued with its Bantustan pro-
gramme and Bantustan elections in Ovamboland later in 1973

THE 1973 OVAMBOLAND ELECTION BOYCOTT

In 1973 the South

African regj i he Self-
Government for Nativ gime introduced t

i 1ve Nations in South West Africa Amend-
ment Act. This provided the basis for elections to be held in the

Bantus.tans, leading to their attainment of so-called self-
governing status. Through such moves South Africa hoped t0

deflect nationalist and internaj i ithdraw
from Nowoi ional pressure on it to with

In 1973 elections wen h 1. < in
Ovamboland and O e held for legislative assemblies i
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A campaign to boycott the elections was launched, in the
form of meetings and rallies, although these were expressly
forbidden under the terms of Proclamation R17 (the exceptions
being church services and meetings called by South African or
Bantustan officials). Those leading the boycott pointed out that
the very existence of such regulations made it impossible for
the elections to be free. However, their central argument was to
oppose South Africa’s overall Bantustan policy and demand
independence for a unitary Namibian state. The motto ‘One
Namibia, One Nation’ was widely adopted. On 30 April 1973
John Ya Otto, SWAPO's Acting Secretary General, and Johan-
nes Nangutuuala and Andreas Nuukwawo of DEMKOP
addressed one such rally in Ovamboland. A few days later they
were arrested. Then followed a spate of arrests of DEMKOP and
SWAPO Youth League members by the South African
authorities.

There was also increased conflict between the South African
regime and the churches. Bishop Auala of ELOK and the
leaders of the Anglican and Catholic churches opposed the
Ovamboland election. The only church leader to support the
elections was Revd P. Kalangula of the Ovambo Independent
Church - a group that had broken away from the Anghpan
church in opposition to Bishop Winter’s radical leadershl_p.a
ELOK put out a news-letter called Omukuetu (Friend) which
voiced the churches’ rejection of these elections. In May 1973 a
bomb destroyed the ELOK printing press at Oniipa where
Omukuetu was produced, and Bishop Auala held the South
Africans responsible for this.?

When the elections took place on 1st and 2nd Augusg the
Tesult was a victory for the nationalist cause. Only 2.5% of
those elgible to vote (1,300 out of 50,000) did so, and many of
these were the Bantustan policemen and officials.’® In
Okavango, where the boycott campaign never really took off,
the percentage poll in the September 1973 elections was
66.2%.1" The South African regime tried to make their own
Propaganda out of the results, and the Commissioner General
Jannie de Wet claimed that this proved that ‘a modern election
was completely foreign to the Ovambos.'*?

THE 1975 OVAMBOLAND ELECTIONS

e in Ovamboland in January
i elected members o_f the:
e South Africans
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decision to hold these elections has been explained as an
attempt by de Wet to erase the successful boycott of 1973."
This time the turn-out was 55%. Of those eligible to vote within
Ovamboland, 70% did so. But only 4.2% of those eligible
Ovambos living and working elsewhere in the country voted.

These results were hailed by South Africa as a major victory
over SWAPQ. Chief Elifas, Chief Minister of Ovamboland,
‘accepted the result ... as a vote of confidence in himself and his
government, and as a mandate for action against certain
individuals, including churchmen, on grounds of incite-
ment.’** Elifas was, however, hated by many Namibians. Only
seven months after the elections, on 16 August 1975, he was
assassinated by a gunshot when leaving a bar.

SWAPOQ and DEMKOP had called for a boycott of the 1975
elections as well, but the determination of the South African
regime not to repeat the experience of 1973 led to widespread
intimidation of people in Ovamboland:

Many armoured vehicles and infantry reinforcements
made their appearance in Ovamboland ... The labour
recruitment at Oluno was approached and approximately
2,000-3,0600 men who sought recruitment for work in the
South were told that they would never be recruited unless
they voted . . . Clerks were of course under obligation to
vote . . . Chief Josia Taapopi of Uukwaludhi . .. said that
nobody would be allowed to cultivate any maize or grains
without crossing the ballot paper . . . the tribal police,
armed with .303 guns, rubber batons and tribal swords,
forced people from their homes and escorted them to the
polls . .. The old, blind and disabled, as well as mentally
retarded people, who receive pensions from the gov-
ernment, were told they would lose their pensions.'®

lf\\/IfOI_'eover, there had been a vicious campaign by the South
" . ar .

Namibia in 1974. Had ; )
result could not have been attained '16
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After the 1973 Ovamboland election, teachers, students and
nhurses continued to protest against the newly reconstituted
Bantustan authorities. Meetings were held all over Namibia,
with the SWAPO Youth League playing a leading role. The
Ovamboland Bantustan authorities responded by trying to
Tepress this opposition. Hundreds of men and women, of all
ages, were rounded up. They were accused of being members of
SWAP_O, using the name ‘Namibia’, singing SWAPO songs,
attending SWAPO meetings, wearing SWAPO colours (red,
green and blue), and thereby undermining the Ovamboland
Bantustan government, even though SWAPO was at no time
d‘eclared illegal or banned. The sentences imposed included
fines, loss of the right to trade or seek work outside Ovambo-
land, and public floggings.?

The flogging was done using a branch of the Malakani palm:
twenty to thirty strokes were administered to the naked
buttocks or back. The South African regime claimed that this
was a traditional form of punishment, so they could not
intervene. This has, however, been vigorously denied by
Namibians and by anthropologists. One woman described the
flogging thus:

I was asked why I had joined SWAPO, to which I replied
that I had joined because it struggled for our betterment
... Rachel was the first to be flogged. She was compelled
to lie over a chair in the ‘hall’, in full view of all the
members gathering, of men, women and children. 4
Policemen each held her by a limb, and she was flogged
by a tribal Policeman . . . ] was flogged in the same way.
After my flogging, I . . . walked as if I was crippled, and I
state that I have never endured such extreme pain in a‘ll
my life . . . At no stage was a charge put to me, and ttzJ this
day I have no understanding of my alleged offence.

Bishop Richard Wood (who led the Anglican church in
Namibia after Bishop Winter was deported}, Bishop Auala of

ELOK and Thomas Kamati (a student and SWAPO mqrqber]
' Court in Namibia to

Initiated a series of actions in the Supreme o
try to bring a hait to the floggings. Their evidence was based on
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a number of sworn affidavits by people who had been flogged,
and other relevant persons, such as doctors, church leaders,
etc. They won a temporary interdict prohibiting the floggings
from November 1973 to March 1974. But their application was
then dismissed. In February 1975, however, the South African
Supreme Court in Bloemfontein upheld an appeal against this
and ordered the Ovamboland authorities to stop arresting,
detaining or inflicting punishment on anyone just because
he/she was suspected of being a member of DEMKOP or
SWAPO.? The floggings also aroused widespread inter-
national condemnation and focused international attention
once more on Namibia,

THE SWAPO YOUTH LEAGUE TRIALS

From 1973-5 there was a series of trials of SWAPO Youth
League (SYL) members and leaders. The defendants used the
courtroom, however, as a platform for fervent political spee-
ches and succeeded in mobilising more support for SWAPC
and the nationalist cause within Namibia and internationaily.

John Ya Otto, Johannes Nangutuuala and Andreas Nuuk-
wawo, who had been arrested at the end of April 1973, were
charged with addressing an illegal meeting. On Sunday 12
August a crowd of 3,000 people marched on the magistrate’s
court at Ondangua where the three were to be tried. A riot broke
out, with many people getting hurt and/or being arrested. Ya
Otto was sentenced to six months' imprisonment but he
appealed. While this wasg being considered he was rearrested
on similar charges and had to report every day to the police.

That same Sunday a Peaceful rally, with speeches, songs an
prayers, was held in Katutura by the SYL, The SWAPO flag was
hoisted and a squad of over twenty youths was introduced to
the meeting as Namibian ‘policemen’ appointed to keep order.
The rally has been described as the highest point of the SYLs
political campaign: the audience ‘of more than two thousan
fl_ve hundred spectators’ was the greatest known in Namibian
history.? One of the speakers told the crowd:

“ihen will you carry on looking at how the Boers shed the

blood of your brothers? Every Namibian must join in the

struggle for freedom. We must not be frightened by this
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blood which is being spilt. You must know that this
freedom for Namibians will come through our own
strength . . . All Namibians must stand up like one man so
that the Boer Government be broken here in Namibia . . .
and the last thing is, young people of Namibia, we must
get into politics.®

As some people returned from the meeting to the contract
workers’ compound in Katutura, they found that they were
locked out. They broke down the compound gates, the police
arrived, and many people were arrested. In the following few
weeks SYL leaders were arrested, public meetings banned and
the police embarked on a house-to-house search of Windhoek
for. SYL activists. One young SWAPO supporter, Benjamin
Phineas, was killed by the police. The SYL attempted to
Organise a strike but those who stayed at home were intimi-
dated into going back to work. Protests spread beyond Katu-
tura, however, with meetings being held in Walvis Bay and
other centres. Schools were restive and students walked out of
the Augustineum (the biggest state-run secondary school, then
based in Okahandja). )

By the end of August 1973 SYL leaders Jerry Ekandjo
(Chairman), Jacob Ngidinua (Vice-Chairman), David Shikomba
and Martin Kapewasha were in detention charged under the
Sabotage Act, which ‘has taken the precaution of equating
Utterances with acts of sabotage’. When they came to trial in
Swakopmund, SWAPO supporters filled the courtroom. Ngidi-
ua summed up the defendants’ attitude to their triak:

We have sabotaged nothing. We are oppressed. The
people in Namibia who do sabotage are the Wh_ltes of
South Africa. The court is here illegally and terrorises us
in our own land. Only the United Nations may hea;~ us.
We do not recognise this court and we will be back.

They were each sentenced to eight years’ imprisonment and

sent to Robben Island. 4 and

In January 1974, Eliakim Andreas was _ch_a.rge a{ll
Sentenced to two years’ imprisonment for inciting racia
ostility at the meeting on the 12 August 1973. Eshriel Taapopi,
who had taken over as SYL Chairman when Ekz:ing{ioih:';g
arrested, Joseph Kashea (SYL Acting Secretary), %nincitement

limbj]; ed wit
imbili (Treasurer), were arrested and C}ﬁ:];rghad 2 tton a letter

to murder, public violence and arson. They ! ;
tU. SWAPC? President Sam Nujoma calling fﬂfg?iwgg 8;
military wing to liberate Namibia. In March ,

79




Political Trials

Shikomba, also charged with sabotage, was tried, sentenced to
six years’ imprisonment and sent to Robben Island.

SWAPO Chairman, David Meroro, and over 100 SWAPO
members and supporters were arrested on their way to a
meeting in January 1974. They were released after paying fines
but Meroro was redetained in February along with SWAPO's
Organising Secretary, Axel Johannes, and SYL official Thomas
Kamati. The three were held under Section 6 of the Terrorism
Act.

Meroro was physically and psychologically tortured. He was
kept in solitary confinement for five months and suffered
terrifying hallucinations. When finally brought to trial, the
charges rested on his possession of banned literature, and he
was sentenced to two months’ imprisonment, conditionally
suspended. Afraid that he would be arrested again, he left the
country in 1975 to join SWAPQ’s work abroad. John Ya Otto,
tipped off that the security police were looking for him yet
again, left Namibia in June 1974.

Taapopi and Kashea were tried in June 1974. The state’s

evidence centred on their letter to Nujoma, which ran as
follows:

1974 must be a year of sacrifice for Freedom and a year of
the Realisation of the Power of SWAPO, not only abroad,
but also inside Namibia. We must not wait on the UNO to
bring us F reedom on a plate, We must rely on the Power
we _w1eld in Solidarity with our Brothers of Independent
Afnc_ar} states ... June, this year must be the month of
Namibia's freedom. Until when are you waiting for
s_omebody to free us? SWAPQO's liberation Army must now
fight the Boers and free Namibia before June, We pro-
mised the people that Namibia is to be free this year and

now they are waiting for this freedom to come. Don’t make
us liars all in any possible way.?

Iimbili was called as the state’s withess but i1 the court he
explained that the letter had been to perst?:cf: ;\Illutj}éma to get
therN to act, saying ‘the style which SWAPO had taught us is
HJI tlgh]t3 vt\nth our mouths not with sticks or anything like
tha ot udonly that part of limbili’s evidence that jmplicated
© detencants was accepted by the court and Kashea an
Tz;la.pgpl were sentenced to five years’ imprisonment, three ©
:‘n };Iobtﬁrerel %ncondltlonally suspended. They spent two years
on R ten sland. As they left the court, Taapopi exclaimed |
ot to college. There I will meet our head boy Ja Toivo.
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Thomas Kamati, who had been flogged in Ovamboland in
1973 and was one of those who applied through the courts for
the floggings to stop, spent several months in solitary confin-
ement. He was eventually tried for scratching ‘One Namibia,
One Nation’ on his cell wall. He suffered more in solitary
confinement from ‘seemingly endless misery and despair’ than
he had from the pain of the floggings."*

_Axel Johannes was also held in solitary confinement, for the
first six months of 1974, and then charged with assisting
someone to leave the country. The case was eventually
dropped but Johannes was physically assaulted by the security
police and, at one time, attempted suicide while in detention,
such was his ‘anguish’.*?

THE SWAKOPMUND TRIAL

Immediately following the assassination of Chief Elifas in
August 1975 over 200 men and women, most of them SWAPO
members, were detained by the South African regime, which
held SWAPO responsible for the killing. These included Aaron
Muchimba (SWAPQ'’s Organising Secretary), Sam Shivute
(SWAPO's Secretary in the north), Reuben Hauwanga, arrested
three days before he was due to leave for the USA to study
medicine, and Hendrik Shikongo, a SWAPO member who had
left the bar minutes before Elifas was killed. Other SWAPO
executive committee members who were detained were Skinny
Hilundwa, Victor Nkandi, Otniel Kaakunga, Pejavi Elifas
Muniaro, Johannes Nakawa and Alpheus Naruseb. Seyergl
churchmen, including Pastor Zephania Kameeta, then Princi-
pal of the Lutheran Theological College at Otjimbingwe and
leading exponent of black liberation theology in Namibia, and
Pastors Titus Ngula and Josefat Shangala were also arrested.

It has never been proven who killed Elifas, although after a
long trial Muchimba and Shikongo were sentenced to death for
being connected with the plot. Two nurses — Rauna Namblngg
?ﬂd Anna Nghihondjua — were also sentenced to five years
imprisonment for being accomplices. Moreover, at the time

ere were suggestions in Namibia that the South Africans
might have been responsible:

dvanced as to why his [Elifas’s]

Two reasons were being a .
8 he South Africans

death could have been engineered by ¢ :
themselves. One was because it enab.led them to detallln
people in connection with enquiries into his death. The
other was . . . that in normal circumstances if a person is

gt
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killed while outside another man'’s house the first person
you question is the owner of that house. This was
apparently not done in this cage,!?

South Africa did, indeed, use Elifas’s death and what became
known as the Swakopmund tria] to intimidate and frighten
Namibian nationalists. Victor Nkandi was brought to the court
to appear as a state witness. But when he appeared he testified
that he had been tortured and refused to implicate his
colleagues. Nkandi underwent what was essentially a trial
within a trial, He and Axel Johannes, who the South Africans
also tried to turn into a state witness (without success), were

Tepeatedly detained and tortured and not finally released until
1978.14

In the trial itself

a considerable part of the judgement was devoted to an
analysis of the evidence on SWAPQ, its history, docu-
ments, songs and weapons. The court remarked that the
1966 draft Constitution of the organisation contained no
references or profession that God through his omni-
potence guides and controls the destiny of man.!®

The defence team felt that from the start their every move
was knqwn to the prosecution. Suspecting a leak, one of the
team of Instructing lawyers, Colin dy Preez, challenged other

suitchboard and telex operator, Mrs Ellis, had passed defence
documents on to the security police, This infiltration ‘struck at
the root of legal privilege: beyond justice, justice needed to be
coen to be done’.'® An appeal was successfully launched on
this basis and, in an unprecedented ruling in South Africa’s
Sppreme Court in Bloemfontein in February 1977, the convic-
tons and death sentences were set aside. The Supreme Court
judge, Chief Justice Rumpff (who had sent Ja Toivo and others
to Robben Island a decade earlier) found that the grossness of
the ‘irregularity’ could ‘scarcely be surpassed’,1”

vhat was intended to strike g blow at the heart of Namibian
Dationalism ultimately strengthened it. The release of
Muchimba, Shikongo ‘and the two nurses was greeted by

jubilant crowds ip Windhoek. it was seen as a victory for
SWAPO and the Namibian nationalist cayse.

EXODuUs oF SwWapp MEMBERS

The Portuguese revolution by the Armed Forces Movement
(AFM) of 25 April 1974 had far-reaching consequences for
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Southern Africa, including Namibia. Although the situation in
{"mgola was not transformed overnight, here was a neighbour-
ing country which was no longer hostile to the nationalist
aspirations of the Namibian people. The strict border control
previously enforced by both Portuguese and South African
authorities was relaxed, at least on the Angolan side. South
African troops continued to patrol the Namibia/Angola border,
but they could by no means seal it entirely.

The opportunity this provided for Namibians to flee the
repression of the South African regime was not lost. There was
an immediate exodus of Namibians from June 1974 onwards.
Most of those leaving were from Ovamboland, where the
repression was most widespread, and the region lost many of
its skilled people — teachers, nurses, clerks and students. About

| 2,500 left in five months: most of them were young and 20%
were women. '8

The exodus caused a crisis for the South African regime as it
badly affected the running of the Ovamboland Bantustan and
disrupted essential services in the area, such as the church-run
schools and hospitals. But SWAPQ was also affected by the loss
of so many leading members and activists.

Most of those who left went through Angola to Zambia,

: where SWAPQ’s provisional headquarters were. Once in exile
: they came under SWAPQ's care. This had a significant effect on
i SWAPO’s external organisation, as well as on the armed
| struggle.
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14 THE LIBERATION WAR

In the early years of the armed struggle, it was through the
Caprivi Strip that SWAPO fighters gained access to Namibia
from training and rear bases in East Africa. SWAPO forces in
the 1960s were relatively small in number and their activities
were confined to small-scale encounters with the South
African armed forces. They operated in small groups and were
armed with light weapons. The most common operational
tactics were to ambush South African forces and patrols and
attack installations such as telephone lines and police stations.

Before they launched any operations in a particular area, the
SWAPO fighters would campaign politically in that area. There
was already a favourable political climate of support in Eastern
Caprivi since the Caprivi African National Union (CANU) had
joined SWAPO in 1964 and a number of young local SWAPO
members left the country to undergo military training. Local
assistance included information about movements of South
African forces, and some provision of food and shelter. This
close interaction between SWAPO fighters and the local people
meant that the fighters woulg know the layout of the area
before they undertook any military action. They were also
immensely assisted by their knowledge of local languages.

Like the FLN in Algeria and other nationalist organisations in
Southern Africa, SWAPQ’s armed struggle was based on classic
guerrilla tactics. The cloge connections between political and
military strategy, the emphasis on ‘irregular’ warfare, preser-
ving one’s own forces from direct encounters with the enemy,
to deploy them in surprise attacks that had a good chance of
success, were all features of SWAPQy's armed struggle, as they
were elsewhere in Afyi

_ 1ca. Mao Tse Tung has described such
tactics as follows:

Disperse the forceg among the masses to arouse them, and

e o deal with the enemy.

. e.enemy advarlu:es, we retreat; the enemy halts, we

p;larra;ls, }he enemy tires, we attack: the enemy retreats, we
e.

c hSWAPO fighters were initially trained within Africa (Egypt.
ana, Algeria and Tanzania) ang the Soviet Union. From 1965




The Liberation War

onwards some fighters also went to China and North Korea.
Then the fighters were brought together in Tanzania for
orentation to harmonise and agree upon final operational
procedures that were appropriate for Namibia. When they were
sent to the front they went in small units. But there were
enormous problems to be overcome in the late 1960s, just to get
to the front in Namibia:

We had to walk a long distance from Zambia through
A{lgola. Some of our people also died in Angola and some
Iplssions could not reach Namibia, because they had to
fight through Angola . . . The battles we were involved in,
most of them were in Angola with the Portuguese . . . but
even the South African soldiers were also involved in
Angola and really we worked hard because by then we had
to train the new recruits and we also had to fight to get food
aswe had to walk long distances and then we had to try and
get transport, also after a battle then you must have more
ammunition . . . I could say by the time we crossed into
Namibia we were a bit tired but a bit more experienced.”

In October 1968 the South African Deputy Minister of Police
acknowledged the growing ‘threat’ from SWAPO fighters on
Namibia’s northern borders, where ‘literally hundreds’ of
trained men were waiting to enter the country:

They were using new tactics. In the past, men had crossed
the border heavily armed, using their weapons to terrorise
the local inhabitants. Now they were coming unarmed,
avoiding clashes with the police, and attempting to
influence chiefs and others to co-operate with them.

By 1969 SWAPO was operating in four regions — Ovambolaqd
and Okavango, Kaokoveld, the Caprivi Strip, and Grootfontein
in the central part of Namibia. By 1971 the Caprivi Strip was
intensely patrolled by [South African] policemen and troops
doing national service to block African guerrillas attempting to
infiltrate from the north’* o

Some of the initial logistic difficulties in gaining access to
Namibia were improved when SWAPO fighters were able (in the
early 1970s) to pass through southern Angola into_Ovam!)oland,
Okavango and Kaokoveld. This route was not without its own
Problems, however as by this time UNITA was operating i
southern Angola. UNITA was a rival nationalist organisation to

SWAPO’s ally, MPLA |
: : Ovimbundu community
There is a close affinity between the NIV'II‘A undu co el

in southern Angola, from whic
85




The Liberation War

support, and the Kwanyama community which straddles the
Namibia/Angola border, many of whom were members of
SWAPO or UNITA at that time. Together with the fact that both
organisations were operating in the same area, this no doubt
increased the likelihood of SWAPO and UNITA units interac-
ting. This caused some probiems between SWAPO and MPLA.
There was, however, no alliance between SWAPO and UNITA
as some have claimed.5

SWAPO itself knew that the armed struggle would be long
and drawn out and (in 1971) stated:

Many people ask themselves — and us — what is the point

of a protracted guerrilla war like this one . .. However,
what this war has done, is of great value to us: it has
reinforced the spirit of unity in Namibija ... Another

result of our armed struggle is the insecurity it has created
among the white population, in Namibia as well as in
South Africa . . .

The overall international attitude towards the Namibian
question has changed considerably since 1966, when we
launched our armed struggle ... We do not mean that
only the armed struggle has brought about a favourable
attitude on an internationa) level, many other factors are
also involved. But it is the armed struggle, which means
heavy losses and great sacrifices from our people, which
is the crucial and convincing indicator of the entire
Namibian people’s unbreakabie determination to be free.®

THE PORTUGUESE REVOLUTION AND ITS AFTERMATH

The Portuguese revolution of April 1974 was partly caused by
pressure from thg national liberation movements in Guinea-
Blssau, Mozambique and Angola, It, in turn, led to the

white-ruled states of Namibia, Zimbabwe and South Africa.
SWAPO summed up its significance asg follows:

W}?' have S€en a serigus disruption taking place in the
white colonial f?rt on African soil. The war against white
minority rule wil) continue and we may still have a long
;fasil;z go% H‘?‘g"’}:’t"eh we ?ave seen that the situation may
>~ OVernigat, in our favour, bripgi d
our victory forward.? ringing our struggle an
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' Eq}lally important in boosting the morale of those who were
fighting for freedom in Namibia and the rest of Southern Africa,
was the victory of the FNL in Vietnam over the American forces
that backed the regime in Saigon. This came in 1975 —only one
year after the fall of the Caetano regime in Portugal. This defeat
of a super-power by a national liberation movement was a
source of great inspiration for other similar movements.

SWAPQ’s military wing was strengthened by having easier
access to Namibia via Angola, and the improved lines of
logistic support helped to transform its operations and eventu-
ally allowed SWAPO fighters to remain virtually permanently
inside Namibia. The opening of the Angola border also meant
that many more people were able to flee the repression of the
South African regime, and many of those who did so reinforced

SWAPO’s military wing.

_The intervention of South African troops in Angola on the
side of UNITA and FNLA from August 1975, however, meant a
general intensification of the war in the area both sides of the
Namibia/Angola border, and involved SWAPO in regular
clashes with FNLA and UNITA forces. This ultimately
strengthened the alliance between SWAPO and MPLA.

_ From 1975 on there was a big increase in military operations
in Namibia by SWAPO. The South African Defence Force itself
:l((i'rlriitted SWAPQ'’s strength, political support and military

ills:

SWAPO sabotages electricity pylons, telephone poles,
garages, industrial sites, bridges and other less important
installations, by means of time bombs, land mines of
Russian or other eastern bloc origin. The actions occur
mainly in the operational area, the traditional white
territory (Tsumeb, Grootfontein, Otjiwarongo triangle),
but also in Windhoek, Swakopmund and Keetmanshoop.®

By 1979 the number of contacts between SWAPQ and the
South African Defence Force ‘had doubled to an average of one

a day while the total number of incidents increased from less
9 One of SWAPO’s more

than 500 in 1978 to over 900 in 1979". :
spectacular successes was when it shot down a_South African
plane in southern Angola in March 1980, proving that it had
acquired sophisticated weaponry. including anti-aircraft

guns,1°
SWAPO’s ability to sustain and expand its ar;ned struggle
nding in the eyes of

against South Africa rule has boosted its stan o
Namibians throughout the country. The impact of this on
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political developments should not be underestimated. It is a
connection that has been made quite explicitly by SWAPO:

Our colleagues are still using the [political] platform as
their guns — which is of great importance . . . we support
them with arms. We are fighting in the bush and when
they go on the platform they speak from a point of
strength. 1!

THE MILITARISATION OF NAMIBIA

A significant indicator of the increase in SWAPO's guerrilla
activity over the years is the rapid expansion of the size of the
South African Defence Force deployed in Namibia. In June
1874 it was estimated that there were some 15,000 troops and
Counter-insurgency police in the country.’2 By September 1980
the number of troops alone (excluding police} was estimated at
70,000-80,000." All this has been in defiance of the original
League of Nations mandate that prohibited South Africa from
establishing military bases in Namibja.

A bewildering variety of military, paramilitary and police
units are deployed in Namibia in defence of South

Africa’s illegal occupation ... Some of the forces ...
operate in a deliberately low-profile, even clandestine
manner ... The personnel ... include full-timers and

part-timers; professionals, volunteers and conscripts;
forces permanently based in Namibia, and forces based in

South Africa but doing tours of duty in, or seconded to
Namibia.4

The northern Bantustans are being used by South Africa as a
buffer zone where they try to confine the war. Most of South
Africa’s troops are stationsd in the north. The main bases are at
Grootfontein, Ondangua, Rundu and Mpacha, with many other
smaller bases throughout the region (see Map 9). Since this is 8
heavily populated area, the local people bear the brunt of the
war. Nevertheless, the close relationship between SWAPO
fighters and local people has not been undermined.

In a campaign to win the ‘hearts and niinds’ of Namibians,
South African soldiers have

schools, hospitals and other
what they have designated the ‘operational area’. In May 1979
this was expanded to cover half the country - placing it
effectively under martia) law. The police and army were given
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even wider ‘powers of arrest, search and detention without
charge or trial, and a number of restrictions could be imposed,
such as curfews and bans on meetings’.'®
_ From the early 1970s South Africa recruited black manpower
lnt_o its armed forces. Mare recently, it has introduced ‘ethnic
u'nlts’ whereby Namibians have been recruited and trained to
fight against SWAPOQ. In August 1980 these units were inte-
grated with a number of existing SADF units to form the South
West Africa Territory Force (SWATF), and two months later
conscription was extended to cover all Namibians. The effect of
this measure was that, for the first time, Namibians were fighting
against each other. The divisiveness of this policy is quite clear.
The worst use of Namibians by the SADF is in Koevoet, a
Counter-insurgency unit which is notorious for its terror tactics,
intimidation, assaults and murder employed against the civilian
population.

A report by the Southern African Bishops' Conference in
1982 vividly described the state of militarisation in northern
Namibia:

The Security Forces stop at nothing to force information
out of people. They break into homes, beat up residents,
shoot people, steal and kill cattle and often pillage stores
and tea rooms. When the tracks of SWAPO guerrillas are
discovered by the Security Forces the local people are in
danger. Harsh measures are intensified. People are
blindfolded, taken from their homes and left beaten up and
even dead by the roadside. Women are often raped. It is not
unknown for a detachment to enter a home and while black
soldiers keep watch over the family, white soldiers select
the best-looking girls and take them into the veld to rape
them. There is no redress because reporting irregularities
or atrocities to commanders is considered a dangerous or
fruitless exercise . . . A dusk to dawn curfew is irqposed in
the operational area. Anybody moving after darl§ isshot. A
Person cannot even go to the help of a si_ck .nelgl_lbour or
woman in childbirth. A priest risks his life in going on a
sick call . , . The whole complex of Security Forces in the
Operational area is designated by the (Ovambo) word
omakakunya. We found it hard to determine the literal
meaning of the word but its implications are b;,:} no means
Hattering — ‘blood-suckers’, ‘bone-pickers’ etc.

In April 1987 South African forces burnt down 13 primary
schools in northern Namibia.'”




The Liberation War
THE STRUCTURE OF SWAPO’S MILITARY WING

In the early 1970s a Military Council was set up by
SWAPO

to co-ordinate military activities and operations of the
armed forces against the enemy ... To discuss and
exchange past experiences, arising from both successes
and set-backs encountered by the freedom fighters in the
different parts of the country.!®

The Council included the commander of SWAPO's military
wing, political commissar, chief medical, logistics and intel-
ligence officers and senior field commanders. It reported to the
Secretary for Defence and Transport Peter Nanyemba, who in
turn reported to the National Executive Committee and/or the
SWAPO President, who is Commander-in-Chief.

The political commissar became an important figure, serving
as a link between the National Executive and the military wing
which, in the early 1970s, came to be known as the People’s
Liberation Army of Namibia (PLAN). This post carried with it
the responsibility for ‘communicating and clarifying party
policy, party decisions and military strategy’ and for the
‘overall political development and morale of all SWAPO
militants’.'® SWAPQ has made it plain that

we don't divorce military from political matters — it is
always politics which leads the gun. We have no purely
mlhtar_y leagiers; we are not militarists. Everybody in
PLAI'\I is politically motivated; our cadres are trained both
polltically and militarily, and the military is completely
Integrated into the overall structure of SWAPQ.2°

SWAPO fig_hters are permanently spread throughout Nami-
bia, engaged in political mobilisation if not in military action,
and there are areas of Namibja where South African adminis-
trative control has been completely undermined. The estab-
lishment of internal bases has been determined by military
conditions within the country which favour roving guerrilla
hzi?é‘mt ones ‘with aeroplanes, with tanks’ like the SADF

SWAPO’s logistic suppl . e
Ply centr . These ar
run on a regular weekly scﬁedule:ﬂ  are In Angols




|
I
The Liberation War

sometimes cultural things or sport like football. As in all
guerrilla wars, however, the conditions are very tough . . .
All of us must get used to them. So sacrifices are a
necessary part of training in our camps.??

There is a division of labour, with specially trained units taking
on the various tasks — medical, education, sports, repairs (of
shoes, clothing, radios), etc. The medical and educational
facilities are extremely important — the former for obvious
reasons for any organisation engaged in an armed struggle. The
educational work reflects SWAPO policy to try to overcome the
disadvantages of the poor education system in Namibia. It is
SWAPO policy to teach everyone to read and write in English
(SWAPO has said it will adopt English as the official language of
an independent Namibia so this is treated as a priority).
Discussions and lectures are also organised by the political
commissars.

.Men and women receive the same training and work and fight
side by side in mixed units in PLAN. There are also women
' tommanders, although not without some problems at times. The
| fighters are ordinary members of SWAPO who volunteer to join
© PLAN. They are Namibians who feel they cannot any longer put
l up with conditions under South African rule. They leave t}l_eu
" jobs, their villages, their schools, to seek better opportunities
| outside the country. Some are already committed to partaking in
' the armed struggle; others join in after they have left the country.
. As the number of recruits into PLAN has increased, more
' People, including some of those who had formed the early
figh'ting units, were sent to study. Although not of all therp have
' Teturned to PLAN, the leve! of education of SWAPO's fighters
| as gone up over the years. A major factor in this has also been
. the educational programmes within PLAN. . _

’ Some Namibians today feel that they are part of a direct line of
. Tesistance to colonial rule. They remember the stories of the
wars fought by their parents and grandparents against the
mans and South Africans, and are insplre_d by them.

‘ Nevertheless, they acknowledge that Namibians failed to d‘efeiit
‘ e colonial powers in the past ‘because they fought as a single
tribe or single clan or single group’.?® The lesson learned from
Namibia’s history is, therefore, that there must be a united

t

f involvement of all different commuﬂitifes S?,gﬁqthciggr:;(:
Wome th African rule. mcorj

f n, to overcome Sou ‘ties. The main bulk

People from the various Namibian communli ,
are, however, from northern Namibia where }.mlf the cou}r::ry s
Population lives, and where the war is most fiercely fought.
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15 POPULAR NATIONALIST MOBILISATION

A number of alliances between nationalist organisations exis-
ted in Namibia in the early 1970s, but gradually they faded
away as more and more groups and organisations joined
SWAPQO,

Atthe end of 1971 the National Convention (NC) was formed,
bringing together the following: NUDO, led by Herero Chief
Clemens Kapuuo; SWANU, headed by Gerson Veii; SWAPO,
led by its Chairman David Meroro; the Volksparty of Rehoboth;
the Voice of the People, a Nama/Damara group led by K
Conradie; the Namib African People’s Organisation (NAPDO), 8
Damara organisation; DEMKOP; the Damara Tribal Executive;
the Council of Nama Chiefs; and the Herero Chief’s Council. Its
aims were to bring the people of Namibia together ‘in one
National Unity’, and fight for their ‘total and complete’ freedom
and independence.!

The Chairman of the NC was Clemens Kapuuo. He had taken
over as Herero Chief when Chief Hosea Kutako died, aged IQU.
in 1970. Kutako was mourned throughout Namibia and his life
and work were commemorated internationally (there is 8
sculpture of him at the United Nations headquarters in New
York). He had been a living link between the modern
nationalist movement and the early resistance to colonial ru_lE
in Namibia. Kapuuo was a prominent teacher and nationalist
figure and had acted as Kutako's deputy for many years.
However his right to the chieftainship was disputed and a large
group of Hereros opposed to his taking over as chief formed the
Association for the Preservation of the Tjamuaha/Maharero
Royal House, under the chairmanship of Revd B G Karuaera, 8
leader of the AME church in Namibia. ,

The first initiative of the NC was during Dr Waldheim's visit
to Namibia in 1972. It did not embark upon any real political
campaign within Namibia but it wanted to be regarded as the
spokesman of the Namibian nationalist struggle. It therefore
came into competition with SWAPQ, which had already won
consu.ierable international recognition by this time. The inter"
nal wing of SWAPO had to deal with the other political groups
in Namibia and naturally, therefore, participated in the NC-
The work of the external wing, however, concentrated on the
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armed struggle and political lobbying in the international

community, and it was with SWAPQ’s external leadership that
. the NC and its Chairman, Clemens Kapuuo, came into conflict.

Matters got worse when the UN General Assembly voted in

1973 to recognise SWAPO as the ‘authentic representative of
| the Namibian people'.?2 The NC eventually began to break up
. and SWAPO left it at the end of 1974, issuing a statement
I criticising Kapuuo, although he was not mentioned by name.
’ This developed into a public Tow between Kapuuo and

SWAPO. Kapuuo responded, in January 1975, condemning
! SWAPO and describing it as an Ovambo organisation that had

no relevance to Namibians in central and southern parts of
| Namibia:

The Ovambos who are today represented by SWAPO
; ... did not take part in the war against the Germans.
‘ SWAPO is ... an Ovambo political organisation
| because about 99 per cent of its members are Ovambos.
When the Government of South Africa took over South
West Africa . .. [it] deprived the Africans of the central
‘ and southern parts . . . of their lands, driving them to the
desert and selling about 90 per cent of their lands to the
White farmers who came from South Africa.

The Government of South Africa did not deprive . . . the
Ovambos of their lands. They lived on their lands up to
this day. For the tribes of the central and southern parts of
South West Africa who have suffered terribly for more

] than 70 years under the German and the South African
| governments, their lands and their rights are very dear to
‘ them and cannot and will never allow their lands and
their future to be decided by a political organisation of
just one tribe which was not elected by them.?

The statement went on to call for the division of Namibia
between north and south, along the border of the old German
‘Police Zone'. This was a turning point in relations between
Kapuuo and SWAPO. It was also a turning point in his relfatlons
with the South African authorities. Kapuuo had previously

been in the forefront of the campaign against the S“_“th African
participate in the

regime. Eventually, however, he agreed to :

Turnhalle talks, \nyhich were organised by tfi)e Souftlg‘ﬁffr&ggns

on i i Herero members o -
a purely ethnic basis. Three Her oniel Kaakunga

Pejavi Muniaro, Godfrey Kumbee Tjizera and 1
- T vi ttacking Kapuuo, after which
esponded with a letter a e gped U eaton up by

uniaro and Kaakunga were

Kapuuo’s men.
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In February 1975 the member organisations of the NC split in
two directions - aligning either with SWAPQ or with Kapuuo.
Kapuuo insisted that as Chairman of the old NC he carried
forward the old alliance, and renamed it the National Conven-
tion of Namibia (NCN). With him were the organisations he
headed — NUDO and the Herero Chief’s Council — the Liber-
ation Party {a small Rehoboth group) and the Nama United
Council. He later also claimed the support of three other
small Nama/Damara groups — the South West Africa People’s
Democratic United Front (SWAPDUF), Damara United Front
(DUF) and the Namibia Democratic Party.

The grouping around SWAPOQ reconstituted itself as the
Namibia National Convention (NNC). It consisted of SWAPO,
SWANU, the Volksparty, NAPDQO, and the Damara Tribal
Executive Committee. DEMKOP had by this time faded away,
and its leader, Johannes Nangutuuala, worked for the Ovambo-
land Bantustan for a while. The NNC aimed to unite and
‘educate and prepare the black population of Namibia politi-
cally and morally against the powers and structures that seek to
destroy them’.* Its most useful function was, however, to
create a collective voice for its various member organisations.
Still, however, SWANU and some other groups had problems
with SWAPO and accused SWAPO of not taking the alliance
seriously. There was always some tension between SWAPO
and SWANU, with SWAPO wanting to guard its own recoghl
tion and support and suspecting that SWANU was interested i
unity to undermine that. It should also be remembered that
these were the years of intense political activity by SWAPO and
its Youth League within Namibia.

THE TURNHALLE TALKS

In 1974 South Africa announced that it would convene
constitutional talks for Namibia. This was a device used by the
South African regime to appear to meet the demands of the
ngtlonqllst liberation movement and the international commu-
nity, without actually giving up control of Namibia:

The pl.ar} to stage a constitutional conference to discuss
Namibia’s fate was shaped by four major factors: the
protracted' tussle between the United Nations and the
S.ofnh African government over Namibia’s future; Preto-
nas overall policy in relation to the country and particu-
larly its ethnic homelands or Bantustan programme; the
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changing balance of forces in Southern Africa following
the defeat of Portuguese colonialism in 1974, which
compelled Vorster to seek a new modus vivendi in South
Africa’s relations with independent Africa; and the
liberation struggle in Namibia itself, led by SWAPO.®

The talks eventually began on 1 September 1975 in the old
German gymnasium or ‘Turnhalle’, by which name they came
to be known. Most of those who participated were nominated
by the South Africans. Political parties were excluded, and all
‘Tepresentatives’ were drawn on an ethnic basis, in accordance
with the Odendaal Plan’s proposals for Bantustans in Namibia
(Sef: Table 3). The participation of Chief Clemens Kapuuo was a
major coup for the South African regime.

The NNC rejected the Turnhalle talks from the start, giving
the following reasons:

(a) The talks are ethnically orientated and are aimed at
furthering the Homeland system, and dividing the coun-
try on a racial line. Namibia’s territorial integrity should
at all costs be respected and maintained!

(b) The governments call them to attend the ‘true leaders’.
These . .. were not elected to go to the conference table.
They were brought in as stooges to govern the homelands.
How can they decide on the constitutional future of the
country, if their constitutions in the homelands were sent
to them from Pretoria?®

SWAPQ called the talks a ‘farce . . . aimed at the perpefuation
of white minority rule under which South African domination
would continue.” It brought out its own constitutional
discussion paper, prepared after consultations between the
SWAPQ leadership inside and outside the country. This called
for a bill of rights, a directly elected legislature for a unitary

state and an independent judiciary:

over many

Our experience of persecution and racialism o
itment to

Vears has deepened our unqualified comm b
democratic rule, the eradication of racialism, the estab-
lishment of the rule of law and the entrenchment of
human rights. Moreover, we reject absoiptely any notion
of Bantustans masquerading as fedesrallsm. SWAPO is
pledged to the idea of a unitary state. . "

The Turnhalle conference set up four special committ-

€es covering
9%
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Table 3 Turnhalle Delegates on a Tour of Western

Europe, 1975

Name

Constituency/Position

Dr B | Africa*

P } Mouton*

Geelbooi Kashe*
Chief M Moraliswami*

M Mamili

A ] F Kloppers*
] 77 Julius

L] Barnes

E H L Christie

J Skrywer

] M Haraseb

Chief Clemens Kapuuo
] Karuaihe

E Tjingaete

L Nganjone
A Majevero

S Kamwanga

R Ngondo
D Luipert

E Kuhlmann
W] Jagger

Pastor Cornelius Ndjoba*

T Shiyagaya
F Indongo

Revd P Kalangula
S Mootseng
D F Mudge*
E Van Zzijl*
I Selebogo
%

Leader of the Rehoboth Council
Member of the Rehoboth Council
Ovakuruvehi (Bushmen)

Chief Councillor of the Caprivi
Council

Caprivi Councillor for Justice and
Community Affairs .
Chairman of the Coloured CounFll
Member of the Coloured Counc;l
Member of the Coloured Council
Leader of the Damara United Front
(DUF)

DUF member

DUF member

Herero Chief

Secretary to Kapuuo
Representing the Rietfontein
Mbanderus

Secretary to Tjingaete

Chief Minister of the Kavango
Bantustan

Kavango Minister for the Interior
and Justice

Kavango Minister of Agriculture
Leader of the Nama delegation to the
Turnhalle talks

Member of the Nama delegation
Member of the Nama delegation
Chief Minister of the QOvambaoland
Bantustan

Ovambo Minister of Works
Ovambo Minister of Economic
Affairs

Member of the Ovamboland
Legislative Council

Tswana delegate to the Turnhalle
talks

Senior Member of the White
Executive Committee

Member of the White Executive
Committee

Caprivian interpreter
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Table 3 continued

Name Constituency/Pasition

T P Bezuidenhout* Official of the Ovamboland
Bantustan

DE § Jacobs Official of the Okavango Bantustan

DB Maytham Official of the Caprivi Council

G H Marais Secretary to the Turnhalle talks

] A Eksteen Department of Foreign Affairs,
Pretoria

Ig‘ote *Participants in the Advisory Council of 1973
“?urce From the official list of Turnhalle delegates on a tour of
estern Europe, West Germany, 26 October 1975.

1 discriminatory practices concerning wage scales, salaries,
pensions, conditions of employment;
2 property rights in urban areas, economic in
finance;

3 social amenities, e.g. housing, public services, medical
care; and

4 educational matters.

frastructure and

Decisions were arrived at by ‘consensus’, which obviously
Tuled out any vote by the black majority against the wishes of
the white minority. The white delegation to the Turnhalle had
no wish to see the sort of radical reforms needed to win the
support of the overwhelming majority of Namibian blacks. It
made use of the potential that exists for playing one tribal
group off against each other, and . . . exerted an influence over
conference proceedings out of all proportion to its size’.? Legal
and technical advisers to the black delegations were encou-
raged, and were paid for by the South African regime,"? and in
the end the talks were inundated with ‘experts’ advising each
ethnically based delegation. Other attempts 10 ensure the
continued support of the black delegates included generous
pay and allowances, hotel accommodation in Wi.n'dhoek and
general maintenance by the South African authaorities.

The delegates were all sworn to secrecy about the coqference
Proceedings. But some information leaked out, showing that
lack and white sharing of

there were heated debates about b e e Th
amenities such as swimming pools and public libraries. There
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were also directly racist comments by some of the white
delegates towards the black ones.

In January 1976 the UN Security Council, in Resolution 385,
condemned South Africa for its continued illegal occupation of
Namibia, demanded that it end its policy of Bantustans and
homelands ‘aimed at violating the national unity and the
territorial integrity of Namibia' and declared that

In order that the people of Namibia be enabled to freely
determine their own future, it is imperative that free
elections under the supervision and control of the United
Nations be held for the whole of Namibia as one political
integrity.!

A deadline of the end of August 1976 was set for South Africa
to comply with this demand. On 18 August, the Turnhalle
agreed to form an interim government, have full independence
for Namibia by 31 December 1978 and maintain the country as
a unitary state. It did not, however, speak of a South African
withdrawal from the country.

It was not until March 1977 that the conference agreed on &
‘Final Concept’ — a Petition for the Establishment of an Interim
Government. This laid out plans for a three-tier administrative
structure in Namibia. At a national level was an elected
National Assembly with members drawn from each ethnic
group. One delegate from each group would also be on a
Ministers’ Council, headed by a President appointed by the
Sou_th African state president. The representation in the
National Assembly was to be as follows: Ovambos 12; Whites 6;
Damaras 5; Hereros 5; Kavangos 5; Coloureds 5; Namas 5
Caprivians .5; Bushmen 4; Rehobothers 4; Tswanas 4. Pretoria
was to retain powers over defence, external affairs, transport
finance aqd foreign exchange, internal security including the
South African Defence Force and South African Police, post
and telefzommunications including broadcasting, and customs
and excise, and sales policy.

The second-tier level was that of the ethnic group o
Bantustan, termed ‘representative authorities’. They were 10
have responsibility over all members of that particular ethnic
group, with powers over land tenure, primary and secondary;
but not tertiary, education, social welfare and housing, trad
t1qna} administration of justice, amongst others. Any group 0!
wishing to establigh o ong iers. AnY &

g sh a representative authority would be looke
after by t‘he central government.
wi']t‘lllur; third tier was that of the local or municipal authorities
esponsibility for managing urban areas, although this was
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still done on an ethnic basis and a black township such as
Katutura was later designated as a different municipal area
fr(l).lr.rtl Windhoek to avoid joint use of amenities by black and
white.

This was merely the Odendaal Plan with allowance for a
central authority elected on an ethnic basis. It has formed the
basis‘of all South Africa’s actions in Namibia since 1977, up to
and including the Multi-Party Conference ‘transitional gov-
ernment’ installed in June 1985.

) RESPONSES TO THE TURNHALLE PROPOSALS

The Turnhalle proposals did not receive any support from the
international community and throughout 1976 and 1977
attempts were made by the UN to compel South Africa to
adhere to UN resolutions over Namibia. These were blocked,
however, by the Western members of the Security Council. In
October 1976 France, the UK, and the USA vetoed for the third
time UN efforts to take action, including economic sanctions,
against South Africa for its refusal to withdraw from Namibia.
f Within Namibia the Turnhalle proposals led to a political
. polarisation. The crucial question for all political groups
| became: Do we support or oppose the Turnhalle scheme? Those
who opposed the scheme increasingly moved to join SWAPO.
In August 1976 the Rehoboth Volksparty disbanded to join
SWAPO and in November the Namibia African People’s
Democratic Organisation (NAPDO) did the same. Even more
significant, however, was the move to SWAPO in October 1976
of four communities representing some 80% of the 37,000
Nama people in southern Namibia. A statement outlining their
strategy was signed by Pastor H Witbooi of Gibeon, grandson of
Chief Hendrik Witbooi who led the Nama resistance to German
rule in the 1904—7 war; J Stefanus of Vaalgras; S Isaks of
Keetmanshoop; and H Noeteb of Hoachanas. It vividly portrays
the mood of the times in Namibia and people’s understanding
! of the South African Turnhalle strategy:

! In face of history and in face of our people we declare: We
tical storms. The time of

are on the eve of a time of poli

decisions has come ... But we can't speak from the
ground, we need a platform to stand on . . . Now there are
only two platforms left: the national movement SWAPO
or the Turnhalle. We asked ourselves: Who reprgssed,
persecuted, humiliated, liquidated and betrayed us? Was
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it SWAPO or the Boers and their allies? . . . Today we have
arrived at this crossroad and our choice is clear: We join
unconditionally in the genuine nationalist platform of
SWATFO ... the south of Namibia is politically lost to the
South African government and its allies, the Turnhalle, as
it is already in the centre and the north . . . Now we know
that we waited too long for salvation from outside, first
from the British, then from the Volkerebond [League of
Nations] and finally from the UN. Now we will look
ourselves for the new water. We will rely on our own
forces.!?

Then in April 1977 the Association for the Preservation of
the Tjamuaha/Maharero Royal House, the Herero body that
contested the leadership of Chief Clemens Kapuuo, and which
had an estimated membership of 17,000, also disbanded to join
SWAPO. This brought a broad section of the Herero community
into SWAPO.

These moves were decisive in strengthening SWAPQO's
support throughout Namibia and helped to refocus attention on
the nationalist campaign and away from the Turnhalle. This
was the context of the UN General Assembly resolution of
December 1976 that recognised SWAPO as the ‘sole and
authentic representative of the Namibian people’ (my
emphasis).’® The General Assembly also decided that any
independence talks should be with SWAPO, under UN aus-
pices, for ‘the sole purpose of discussing the modalities for the
transfer of power to the people of Namibia’.’* In other words,
SWAPO was accepted as the principal actor in the effort to
bring about national independence for Namibia.
~ With some of its members joining SWAPO, and SWAPO's
increasing unr::asiness at belonging to any alliance because of
its own growing support, the Namibia National Convention
ceased to function. In its place emerged the Namibia National
Front (NNF) which consisted of those groups who did not join
SWAPO but were still opposed to the Turnhalle. By 1977 the
main NNF members were: the Damara Council, whose leader,
Chief Justus Garoeb, was NNF President; SWANU, whose
leader, Gerson Veii, was NNF Vice-President: the Mbanderu
group of Hereros under Chief Munjuku Nguvauva; the National
Independ‘ence Party (a Coloured group) under Charles Hartung;
and };Lhe liberal white Federal Party under Bryan O’Linn.

Af'fi kﬁ;n'gugll:glle process even split the local wing of the
Mod T ha lonal Party. Some of its members, headed by Dirk
udge. who had been the party’s deputy leader in Namibia,
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broke away to form the all-white Republican Party in late 1977.
They supported the Turnhalle proposals and formed an
alliance with the groups participating in the Turnhalle talks,
which was called the Democratic Turnhalle Alliance {DTA).
The rest of the Afrikaner National Party felt that the Turnhalle
proposals went too far and they formed their own small
alliance, AKTUR, claiming that they stood for the original
Turnhalle principles but not its constitutional proposals. Two
leading members of the National Party in Namibia, A H Du
Plessis and Eben Van Zijl, headed this group and managed to
tg}?t Hans Diergaardt, the leader of the Rehoboth Council, to join
enm.
| The South African regime tried to win black support for the
Turnhalle proposals by some limited reforms brought in
towards the end of 1977. A new post of South African
Administrator General in Namibia was created and filled by
Justice MT Steyn from 1 September 1977. He introduced a
number of measures that abolished the Mixed Marriages and
Immorality Acts (forbidding marriage or sexual intercourse
between black and white), and the pass laws that controlied
| Namibians’ movement and where they might live. The Bantu
1 Education system was also revoked, although the fundamental
! structure of education in Namibia remained unchanged al_ld
i each ethnic group retained control of its own schools (and still
; does). In June 1978 a measure granting equal pay for equal
labour was passed, although this had little effect as blacks and
whites in Namibia rarely worked at the same level. In July 1978
trade unions were made legal. .
| However, South Africa also proclaimed the annexation of
Walvis Bay (Namibia’s only deep-water port) from 1 Septembfzr
| 1977, Security regulation R17, imposed on northern Namibia
+ after the 19712 strike, was lifted in November 1977, only to be
replaced by new draconian security measures that extended the
powers of the South African security forces to arrest and detain
people without charge throughout the whole country. Nev-
ertheless the South Africans claimed that they had done away
with apartheid in Namibia.
Some Namibian nationalists began to re i
exile, believing that there was sufficient change for optimism
about impending independence. Jariretundu Kozongiz! retur-
ned in 1976 and became legal adviser t0 the Herero.delegatmn
at the Turnhalle talks. He later joined the office of the
Administrator General. Mburumba_ Kerina also returned in
1976 and worked for a German-funded foundation, PROSW}?.
which promoted the Turnhalle, although he went back to the
101
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USA in 1978 after differences with his colleagues, Emil
Appolus, a former SWAPO Secretary for Information and
Publicity, returned in 1976 and worked as a journalist for a while
before establishing himself as a businessman. SWANU’s Exte-
rnal Council was dissolved and its members returned to
Namibia in 1977, where they worked within the NNF. They were
joined in 1978 by Andreas Shipanga, former SWAPO Secretary
for Information and Publicity and some other ex-SWAPQ
members, all of whom had been in detention in Tanzania.

In March 1978 DTA supporters provoked a fight with some
SWAPO supporters in Katutura and Chief Kapuuo’s bodyguard,
Himuee Kambirongo, was killed. On 27 March Kapuuo himself
was shot dead in the backyard of his shop in Katutura. In the
days after the killing South African troop reinforcements were
brought into Windhoek and Kapuuo’s followers were armed by
the South African regime, who immediately blamed SWAPO for
the Chief’s death. Serious fighting then broke out between
Hereros and Ovambos (assumed to be SWAPO members),
especially in Windhoek, and over 60 SWAPO members were
arrested. SWAPO Executive Committee members, including the
Deputy National Chairman, Daniel Tjongarero, received death
threats and left the country. Some remained abroad but
Tjongarero returned to Namibia. Kapuuo was buried at Oka-
handja, alongside his predecessor, Chief Kutako. He was
succeeded by Kuaima Riruako, who became even more closely
identified with the South Africans and their Turnhalle strategy
than Kapuuo had been.

The fact that some people in SWAPO rejoiced at the death of
Kapuuo was taken by the South African regime as ‘evidence’ that
SWAPO had, indeed, killed him. But, as with the death of Chief
Elifas in 1976, there were suspicions that the South Africans
themselves might have been responsible. Even some members of
Kapuuo’s family now believe that he was killed by the South
Africans.1®

Throughout 1977-8 the western members of the UN Security
Council negotiated with South Africa and SWAPO in an attempt
to set aside the Turnhalle proposals and hold nationwide
elections in Namibia under UN supervision and control.
Nevertheless, South Africa went ahead with its original
Turnhalle proposals and held ethnically based ‘internal’
slfeeﬂ)ggns in lg_em?‘rinber 1978. They took place in an atmosphere

eme intimidation and widespread propaganda promoting
th?R?;tr}ﬁé fsw(f,g gizlrllﬁi ?Ifaggf boycotted the elections. f
erised both the registration 0

voters and the actual election 16 South African troops
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monitored the polling and it was standard practice for polling
officers to mark papers for voters. One report stated that 90 out
of 100 voters had their papers marked for them.” In the light
of these tactics the result was not surprising — 41 seats for the
DTA out of a 50-seat constituent assembly. The constituent
assembly and its successors have never, however, been recog-
nised internationally or by the Namibian people.
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16 THE DEVELOPMENT OF SWAPO

The demands and developments of the nationalist movement
in Namibia transformed SWAPO from an organisation concen-
trating on straightforward political protest and petitioning, toa
national liberation movement waging an armed struggle against
the South African occupation regime, and engaged in social,
educational and welfare programmes that were seen as a basis
for the re-ordering of Namibian society after independence.

SWAPQ’S 1969 TANGA CONGRESS

At the Second Annual General Conference of the Executive
Committee, held in Dar es Salaam in 1965, various organi-
sational problems were identified. Three issues figured
strongly:

1 the lack of communication with SWAPO headquarters in
Windhoek;

2 the need for improved budgetary and accounting proce-
dures as the organisation increasingly received large sums from
the OAU, the socialist countries, and support groups in the
West; and

3 proper definition of the roles and responsibilities of
leading officials and relations between them. !

With the launching of the armed struggle in 1966 were added
new logistical and planning requirements but, apart from Fhe
training of men in the art of warfare, SWAPQ'’s organisation
and structure remained much the same as when it was formed
at the beginning of the 1960s. There was a move, therefore, to
reorganise and streamline SWAPQ's structure, and a consulta-
tive congress was held at Tanga, Tanzania, for this purpose at
the end of December 1969,

This was the first major gathering of SWAPO leaders and
members abroad; the SWAPQ leadership inside Namibia were
not represented, as they were not able to travel OUtside
Namibia. It was attended by about 30 people, including
SWA}?Q’S External Executive Committee, members drawn from
the military wing, students, women and the representatives 0
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SWAPQO's foreign missions. Also present were representatives
from FRELIMO and the ANC of South Africa, and the
Tanzanian Regional Commissioner, Mr Waziri Juma.

Thg conference made a number of amendments to SWAPO’s
constitution and changes in the leadership structure. The
Vice-President, Louis Nelengani, was expelled for appearing as
a state witness against Ja Toivo and others in the 19678
Terrorism Trial. Bredan Simbwaye, former President of CANU,
was elected as the new Vice-President. Since Simbwaye was
then in detention in Namibia, the former Vice-President of
CAI\{U, Mishake Muyongo, was elected as Acting Vice-
President of SWAPO. The post of Secretary General was
replaced by that of Administrative Secretary. Moses Garoeb
was elected to that office. In 1984, Ja Toivo, just released from
prison, was elected to the post of Secretary General.

A new National Executive Committee composed of ten
elected and two appointed members, and a Central Committee
of thirty elected members were also established, as were new
departments to deal with different areas of responsibility,
especially defence. Separate affiliated wings for women, youth
and elders were also established.

The congress reaffirmed that ‘armed struggle is the only
effective way to bring about the liberation of Namibia."?
H{Jwever it also emphasised the need for political mobilisation
within Namibia and industrial action against the South African
OCCupation regime. An attempt was made to improve commu-
Nications between the leadership in Namibia and those in exile
by specifying that those external leaders who had direct
| counterparts in Namibia in terms of the same functions and

responsibilities were acting on behalf of those in the country.

THE SWAPQ CRISIS OF 1976

In 1976 SWAPO faced a serious internal rebellion and a
Number of its members, including seven SWAPO Youth League

leaders, the SWAPO Secretary of Labour, Solomon Mifima, and
ndreas Shipanga,

the Secretary for Information and Publicity, A _
were arrested and held in detention DY the Zambian
authorities.

The origins of this rebellion go back to 1974, and the exodus
of thousands of SWAPQO members from Namibia after the
collapse of the Portuguese empire and the floggings 1n
Ovamboland. With the assistance of various internatlonlal g:h
agencies, reception centres were set up by SWAPO to deal wi
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the influx of refugees into Angola and Zambia and to meet their
basic needs. However, the arrival of such a large group of
people obviously presented SWAPO with real problems of pro-
viding food, accommodation, etc, and this led to some unrest.
Many of those who fled Namibia in 1974 were leaders and
activists of the SWAPO Youth league (SYL). Some of these felt
that they were not properly welcomed by the external lead-
i ership. Having played a leading role in SWAP(Q’s political
] campaign in Namibia in the early 1970s they saw themselves as
! part of the overall SWAPO leadership and wanted to be treated
3 as such. They began to demand that a congress (which was due)
| be held immediately, and openly criticised the external
leadership, accusing them of incompetence and corruption,
and calling for changes. SWAPQ's internal inquiry into the
’ rebellion stated that there was ‘no power struggle in the top
leadership of SWAPO, in the classical sense of the word . ..
However ... there was [a] power struggle waged by some
elements in [the] SWAPO Youth League leadership against the

mother body.”

Andreas Shipanga and, to a lesser extent, Solomon Mifima,
became associated with the SYL group and their demands for
change. (Shipanga was also accused by SWAPO of making
secret agreements with the West Germans and of being
pro-Turnhalle.) Together they tried to mobilise support within
SWAPO for change, aiming to secure key positions within the
SWAPO leadership at the expected congress. The SWAPO
leadership was convinced that ‘the motive and ultimate aim of
these dissidents was to seize power.t Things came to a head,
hovyever, when a group of fighters in PLAN openly rebelled
against the leadership.

For PLAN the arrival of large numbers of new recruits after
1974 meant exira demands on supplies of food, shelter,
medicine, etc. and weapons and ammunition. This inevitably
led to frustration among the fighters and some of the SYL
group, keer} to embark on military action against the South
African regime, complained about shortages and inefficiencies.
Towards the end of 1975 there was unrost at one particulal
Do i 2 1 12 o open el by adrs o
March-April, 197¢°.5 ® hastern Front during the months 0

The PLAN dissidents took control of SWAPO's Central Base.
ﬁ foam fm“.‘ the DAU Regional Office in Lusaka managed,

owever, to intervene and persuade them to come to Lusaka fof |
talgsdwn.h the SWAPO leadership. Here they were disarmed |
and detained. A group of about 50 other PLAN fighters set off
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for Lusaka to try to secure the release of their comrades. They
were stopped by the Zambian army. A few are reported to have
been .kﬂled; the rest were detained.

Shipanga and ten other SWAPO members, including seven
SYL leaders and Solomon Mifima, who were considered to be
the leaders of the rebellion, were detained on 21 April 1976.°
Th.ey were held outside Lusaka, and then moved to Ukonga
prison, in Dodoma, Tanzania, in mid-july 1976.
~Many other SWAPO members who were thought to be
involved in some way in the rebellion were detained at
Mboroma camp, near Kabwe in Zambia. Newspaper reports
fyom August 1976 through 1977 referred to 1,000 SWAPO
fighters at Mboroma, although SWAPO denied that there were
th1§ many. The Mboroma camp was intended to be a rehabili-
tation centre. After some months a process of screening and
reincorporation of those held there began. A small number chose
to leave SWAPO and were given refugee status and care by the
United Nations High Commissariat for Refugees (UNHCR).
Nearly 600 were incorporated into the SWAPO health and
education centre at Nyango, and by the end of 1977 the Mboroma
camp had been dissolved.

In July 1976 South African armed forces attacked SWAPO
camps at Sialola and Shatotua in western Zambia, The nature of
the attacks made it clear that they knew the layout of the camps
and their defences. This led SWAPO to believe that some of the
PLAN fighters involved in the rebellion had co-operated with
the South African army and given them information. Twenty-
four people were killed and forty-five injured. SWAPO
attributes this attack to Shipanga’s followers and holds him
responsible.

The SWAPOQ leadership set up an internal inquiry into the:'
rebellion. It admitted ‘official shortcomings and incompetence
as one of four factors that contributed to the rebellion, and came
up with a number of recommendations to overcome them. The
other factors were: enemy intrigues and infiltration; power
struggle; and misguided elements.”

_An international campaign to fre
dissidents in prison in Tanzania w
people who were generally supportiv 1ib
but who felt that SWAPO was harming itself by detaining people
without trial. Representations were made to the Tanzanian
authorities and to SWAPO, and aithough SWAPO did not take
kindly to this campaign, the dissidents were released on 25 I';Iaér
1978. They went first to various European countries that ha

agreed to offer them asylum.

e Shipanga and the other
as launched, mostly by
e of the Namibian cause

107




The Development of SWAPO

Shipanga went at first to Sweden and on 23 June 1978 formed
a new political organisation called SWAPO-Democrats
(SWAPO-D), which he claimed was ‘true to the original and
traditional principles and policies of SWAPQ'® He went
back to Namibia later in 1978, along with Mifima, Engombe,
Moongo and Shikomba. SWAPO-D joined the Namibia
National Front and for a while Shipanga was promoted as a
nationalist leader with whom the South Africans might be
prepared to settle. But it soon became apparent that he had no
power base and SWAPO-D never really took off as an
organisation.

THE 1976 NAMPUNDWE MEETING

In July 1976 SWAPO held an Enlarged Central Committee
Meeting at Nampundwe, outside Lusaka in Zambia. This was
the occasion to address the roots of the 1976 rebellion and
make changes to improve the running of the organisation. The
meeting also confirmed changes made at and following the
Tanga congress, clarified and redefined the organisation’s
objectives, and adopted a new constitution and political
programme. The division of responsibilities between depart-
ments was also clarified. The Departments of Defence and
Transport were separated and the relations between the
Department of Defence and PLAN strengthened, with the
leading commander of PLAN reporting directly to the Secretary
for Defence, Peter Nanyemba.

Tf}e Central Committee was introduced as the main decision-
making body, with the Executive Committee its ‘chief political
bureau’, putting into practice decisions of the congress an
central committee, and formulating policy between the annual
central committee meetings. The various wings — Youth,
Women, Elders and PLAN — were made more accountable t0
the. overall organisation, through the Central Committee on
which they were all represented. PLAN was able to adopt its
own rules, regulations and standing orders, and the other wings
adopted their own constitutions, but these were all subject t0
the approval of the overall Centra] Committee.

In the new Political Programme, SWAPO made a firm
commitment for the first time to the establishment of a future
classless society in Namibia and pledged itself to

unite all Namibian peo

le, parti . ,
the peasantry and ple, particularly the working class

progressive intellectuals, into a
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vanguard party capable of safeguarding national inde-
pendence and of building a classless, non-exploitative
society based on the ideals and principles of scientific
socialism.®

This did not represent a sudden change in SWAPQ’s approach.
Rather, it must be seen in the context of developments in
southern Africa as a whole throughout the 1970s. The general
radicalisation of the subcontinent was a significant factor. Most
important, however, was the Namibian experience of South
Africa’s continued refusal to withdraw from the country, the
inability of the UN to enforce its decisions on Namibia, and the
West's reluctance to support sanctions or other punitive
measures against South Africa. These factors came together
with SWAPO’s growing concern to look to the future and
prepare for the reconstruction of the country after indepen-
dence, and were also based on the experience of catering for
Namibians in exile in Zambia and Angola. Both in PLAN and in
its health and education centres in Angela and Zambia, where
most Namibians in exile live, SWAPO has created self—reliar}t
communities, where it tries to put into practice what it
P;‘leE:%hes. The emphasis is on ‘social justice and progress for
i all’.

SWAPO HEALTH AND EDUCATION CENTRES

The first such centre was established by SWAPO in the 1960s,
just outside Lusaka, at what came to be known as ‘the o}d farm’'.
This catered for a few hundred Namibians and provided the
basic medical and educational facilities — the latter consisting
of primary and adult education classes. By the. end of 197%,
after the mass exodus of people from Namibia, this number ha
tisen to several thousand. A new site was then allocatefl to
SWAPOQ by the Zambian government, in the Western province
i of the country. It was here that SWAPO set up the Nyango
; Health and Education Centre. Later in the 1970s, more centres
i were established in Angola. The main one, catering for (iver
70,000 Namibians, is now in Kwanza Sul, in central Angola.
The centre at Nyango was built from scratch. By 1978 it was

home for over 5,000 Namibians, n;laiI}lllY w?r?enff;ig:];iflfézgea
‘thrivi i ith schools, hospitals, ’
Itving community wl s for electricity, carpentry

| cabbages, potatoes, and workshop
; and sgewin%’.“ There was a hospital run by the SWAPO
i 109
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Deputy Secretary for Health and Social Welfare, Dr Libertine
Amathila, and a staff of six:

I am very proud of this hospital. We built it from nothing,
bit by bit. This is so important for us. Even the crooked
corridors give us pride, because this hospital was con-
structed by women who had never built a house before.?2

Similarly, from a beginning in tents and corrugated iron shacks,
the people at Nyango built their own accommodation and
schools. Some of the buildings are prefabricated - donations to
SWAPO from international aid agencies — but many others are
made with local materials. Accommodation includes single
and married quarters and large dormitories for the children.
Vegetables, maize and beans are grown there and ducks and
pigs are also kept.

Apart from adult literacy classes, the schools go from
kindergarten to the Zambian Form 3 (third year of secondary
school) and the syllabus used is the Zambian one. All the
sixteen teachers and medical staff at Nyango are Namibian, an
achievement in itself given the poor system of education
provided by the South African regime in Namibia. They were,
in fact, sent by SWAPO to study abroad and returned to teach at
Nyango.

The main centre in Angola was first at Kassinga, 150 miles
north of the Namibia/Angola border. But on 4 May 1978 the

settlexpent was attacked by the South African armed forces in a
combined air and ground’ attack:

After the planes had fired rockets and dropped explosive
and fragmentation bombs, as well as paralysing gases, the
paratroopers landed on the terrain and during the six and
a half hours that the attack lasted gave full vent to their

bagest instinct, indiscriminately massacring the terror-
stricken population in cold blogd, 13

The casualty figures were: 512 Namibian refugees killed (147
men, 167 women and 298 children); 12 Angolan soldiers and 3

Angolan citiziens killed: 511 Namii)ian refugees wounded; 63

Angolan sp]diers and 15 Angolan civilians wounded.** The
South Afncan; claimed that the settlement was a military base
and that their attack was, therefore, justified. But foreign
reporters who visited Kassinga reported that the dead in the
qiass graves were mostly women and children. Moreovel, @
South African Defence Force spokesman was later quoted a3
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saying ‘Many of our troops said afterwards that it was hell to
have to shoot at women.’!3

After the massacre at Kassinga, Namibians in exile in Angola
were moved to Kwanza Sul province, where they established a
new centre. Many people there lived at first in tents provided by
aid agencies, although buildings were soon erected or adapted
for the hospitals and and later for dwellings, schools,
\'\_fol‘kplaces etc. Some 10,000 are of school age, with 7,000 below
eight vears old. Women and the elderly are other large groups.

As at Nyango, there is a complex of schools, library,
kindergarten, etc. There are also further specialist training
courses in practical and technical skills, such as nursing and
other medical personnel, carpentry, typing, weaving, sewing.
Two separate centres, one for smail children and the other for
practical training for women, have been established at Ndala-
tando, near the main settlement.

Once again, an effort is made to produce as much foodstuff as
possible for the settlement’s own needs and there are agricultu-
ral centres outside the main settlements. Water has been a
Dayticularly acute problem, however, as it had to be transported
daily by truck from the nearest river. The lack of water and the
Sheer size of the settlement also made the spread of disease more
likely. Much piped water is now laid on.

The communities are organised in a completely different way
from traditional Namibian societies, and offer women especially
considerable opportunities. Child-care is provided and those
women who gain places and scholarships can study abroad.
Within the centres themselves, women organise and manage the
provision of social services, training programmes and food.
There are also, however, training programmes specifically for
women as administrators, accountants, radio broadcasters,
communications officers, mechanics, electricians, etc.
 Namibian women feel that they suffer ‘three levels of
injustice’.'® First, as part of an oppressed nation; second from
discrimination under the South African regime in Na}mlbla; and
third, from ‘oppressive feudal practices which are still end‘emlc
in a large section of Namibian men’."” They believe that ‘only
within a socialist restructuring of society can women b‘e
liberated from the different forms of oppression ar_ld exploi-
tation’, and that in order to achieve that women will have to

become ‘active participants in the political, economic and
administrative life of the society”.’® o
lity but it still does not

SWAPO is commitied to women's equa h ere
reflect this in its administrative structure.'ln 1982 t e}'g :{ ne
only three women on the Central Committee — Dr Libertl
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Amathila, Putuse Dwyili Appolus and Pendukeni Kaulinge —
and none on the Executive Committee. (Putuse Appolus died
suddenly in 1986.) Moreover, the very structure by which there
is a separate Women’s Council, although set up with good
intentions, could lead to women’s interests being marginalised.

SWAPO AND THE INTERNATIONAL FORUM

Since the early 1960s, SWAPO and SWANU had both recog-
nised the value of international lobbying in support of their
cause. SWAPQ, in particular, established a number of offices
overseas, campaigned at the United Nations and maintained
close links with the OAU and its Liberation Committee.
SWAPO's external missions lobbied governments, national and
international organisations, churches, trade unions and the
press for support and understanding of their cause. Organising
and raising funds for the defence of prisoners and detainees
within Namibia was also a focal point of this work. By the
mid-1970s

SWAPQ'’s quasi-diplomatic representatives at the UN and
elsewhere were beginning to win increased humanitarian
assistance in the West and more military assistance
elsewhere. SWAPO was accepted by the OAU and the UN
as the sole authentic representative of the Namibian
people pending independence and elections ... It was
allowed to participate in UN debates {(but not to vote} on
Namibian issues, and it was brought more closely into the
work of the Council for Namibia. The UN General
Assembly upheld the right of the Namibian people to
seek, by whatever means necessary — including force — the
liberation of their country.1®

~ SWAPO has participated in meetings of various UN agencies,
including UNESCO. 1t co-operated with the UN, and in
particular with the UN Gommissioner for Namibia, Séan
McBride, in the setting up of the UN Institute for Namibia
(UNIN) in Lusaka, which opened in 1976. UNIN was set up 10
carry out research, training, planning and related activities
with special reference to the development of administrative
staff and policy options for ap independent Namibia. Ifs
Directar, Hage Geingob, is a member of SWAPQ’s Executive
Committee.

SWAPO has also participated in the International Conferen-
ces on Humanitarian Law and op the Law of the Sea; in the
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Non-Aligned Movement and in many national and inter-
national solidarity and non-governmental organisations. In
1975 the Commonwealth Heads of State Summit in Kingston,
Jamaica, pledged financial assistance for the training of
Namibians. This enabled Namibia, although not part of the
Commonwealth, to benefit from this important grouping. Since
then, SWAPQ has expressed an interest in the possibility of
Namibia joining the Commonwealth after independence, if the
Namibian people so desire.
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17 THE WESTERN CONTACT GROUP'S
NEGOTIATIONS ON NAMIBIA 1977-8

The permanent Western members of the UN Security Co_unml
have consistently blocked any moves to compel South Africa to
withdraw from Namibia. From 1970-6 Britain and the USA
vetoed mandatory economic sanctions against South Africa
three times, with France adding its veto on two of those
occasions. One of the major reasons for this has been the
continued economic investment from these and other Western
countries in both Namibia and South Africa. These Western
governments were anxious to protect such investment in the
short-term. They also wanted to avoid a radicalisation of
Southern Africa through a long-drawn-out armed liberation
struggle, since this might jeopardise their long-term economic
and strategic interests in the area. And they wanted to maintain
some international credibility for their continued expressions
of support for Namibian independence. Thus it was that in
1977 the five western members of the Security Council
initiated negotiations with SWAPO and South Africa to try to
reach a peaceful settlement in Namibia:

We all felt that unity among the five would give us greater
strength and lessen the chance of fragmentation of effort.
We agreed to work with the frontline states to bring
Nujoma and SWAPQ into serious negotiations, taking care
to have one or more frontline states present when the
contact group met with SWAPQ leaders. This would help
to allay suspicion that we were trying to play the Africans
off against each other. All contact group proposals were
accordingly to be advanced jointly.!

In the first few months of 1977 representatives of what
became known as the Contact Group of Western Nations held
discussions with South Africa and the Front-line States. In
early April they presented an aide-memoire to the South
African Prime Minister B J Vorster, which outlined proposals
for an independence settlement in Namibia that would be it
line with UN Security Council Resolution 385. They added that
an internal settlement based on the Turnhalle scheme Was
unacceptable to the international community and added 28
veiled threat of supporting sanctions against South Africa if it
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‘did not agree to early negotiations for Namibian indepen-
dence’.® Vorster's initial reaction was to refuse to intervene
in the Turnhalle process, but later in April he accepted the
principle of elections in Namibia with some UN involvement.
The essential points agreed were as follows:

1 elections would be held on the basis of universal suffrage
for a constituent assembly whose task would be to decide upon
a constitution for an independent Namibia;

2 the UN would be involved in the electoral process to
ensure that they were free and fair. This ‘might include a UN
Special Representative appointed by the Secretary-General’;

3 the UN Special Representaive would ensure fair arrange-
ments for the election and electoral process;

_ 4 Namibians in exile would be free to return and participate
in the electoral process;

5 the South African regime would, ‘in consultation wi‘gh
those mainly involved’, develop a plan for its withdrawal in
stages from Namibia ‘to prepare a smooth transfer of power at
the end of the political process’.*

The release of detainees and political prisoners and the
abolition of racially discriminatory legislation was left for a
further date.

The Namibian churches, SWAPO’s internal leadership and
other political groups were briefed in windhoek on 9 May by
Iepresentatives of the Contact Group. SWAPO's Deputy
National Chairman, Daniel Tjongarero, stressed that

no atmosphere can be conducive for elections in N_amlbla,
as long as the South African armed forces, police and
administration is still in Namibia ... we should also
stress that no elections can be fair as long as there 1s no
UN supervision and control of such elections, and we
stress ‘control’,®

Anxious that SWAPQ’s internal leaders |
f}iaYEd off against the leadership abroad, Tjongarero
at

SWAPO is geographically divided, but there are not two
SWAPOQOs, a% m%mg want to believe. Any responsl,:e to :}]:2
[Contact Group’s] report should and would come from

whole SWAPO.®
ives briefed
On 15 May 1977 the Contact Group representalives Sri

SWAPO leaders in Maputo, Mozambique. In response.
15

hip should not be
stressed
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raised a number of substantial issues and questioned the
proposals and their wording. The main points were:

1 that the withdrawal of the South African administration
and armed forces, and the unconditional release of all Nami-
bian political prisoners were crucial to the electoral process;

2 that a settlement must not only be ‘internationally

| acceptable’ but also acceptable to the Namibian people;

i 3 which Namibians groups would be involved in the
: negotiations (here SWAPO recalled its recognition by the UN
‘ General Assembly as the ‘sole and authentic’ representative of
| the Namibian people);

4 the time limit set for negotiations;

5 the nature of South Africa’s intended interim central

[ administrative authority and its powers;

6 the nature of UN involvement in the electoral process
(here the importance of UN supervision and control as spelled
out in UN Security Council resolution 385 was stressed); and

7 the means of transferring power and arranging a South
African withdrawal from Namibia.’

The question of control of the electoral process became a
major issue in the negotiations. Moreover, it was clear that
South Africa intended to go ahead with the Turnhalle scheme
and wanted this to be the basis of an interim authority in
‘control’ of Namibia during the electoral process. Cyrus Vance
reported that ‘despite what Vorster told the Contact Group, the
.S°“th Africans intended to follow a two-track strategy: prepar-
ing the option of an internal settlement, while at the same time
continuing to explore the possibilities for a wider solution.®

_ The South Africans also refused to commit themselves on the
size and nature of the UN military and administrative presence
during elections. The Contact Group therefore ‘began a detailed
stuc_iy of the functions the UN might perform in the transition
per}qd, looking particularly at ways to monitor effectively the
pqh_tlcal process leading up to UN supervised elections’.? !
{ggrlly, the C?ntact Group mentioned a possible UN moni- |

Tou 10 - '
o g 5goo _p4f)008'r:11y 1,000.® SWAPO countered by sugges
‘ When. Sputh Ai_’rica appointed its first Administrator General
in Namibia, Justice M T Steyn, who took up the post on 1
September 1977, the question of control became focused on
who would have superior authority during the electoral
process — the South African Administrator General or the
proposed UN Special Representative. The Contact Group
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stressed that the Special Representative would have the
responsibility of satisfying himself that:

- the existing legislation is non-discriminatory and does
not impede the full participation of all Namibians in the
political process;

— the proposed electoral legislation is adequate; )
;fihe political campaign is fairly and peacefully conduc-
ed ...

—the registration of voters is properly and comprehen-
sively carried out;

— voting is secret and free from improper interference by
anyone;

~the votes are properly counted and the results are
properly declared.!?

There was also early disagreement over the question of the
withdrawal of South African troops. South Africa agreed to a
withdrawal ‘by independence, subject to the views of the new
government’.’> SWAPQO wanted a complete withdrayval
within three months of a ceasefire and before political
campaigning began for the elections. SWAPO also stressed that
the UN monitoring group should include an armed peace-
keeping force. The Contact Group felt it unlikely that the South
Africans would agree to withdraw all their troops before an
election and ‘expressed the view that the duties Eenvls.Elged by
SWAPO for a UN peace-keeping force could effectively be
carried out by either civilian or military observers’.'*

Another dispute arose over the issue of political prisoners
and the qualification for that status. The Contact Group
suggested an international panel of jurists, which would
include two South Africans. SWAPO wanted the legal section
of the staff of the UN Special Representative to decide any
disputes. The South African regime acknowledged for the first
time that it was holding Namibian political'pnsoners, but
accused SWAPO of having some too — referring to Andreas
Shipanga and others who were then in prison in Tanzanis.
President Nyerere’s decision to release the Shipanga grouk 1
May 1978 was no doubt influenced by wider political consider-
ations such as this.

_ South Africa insisted early on that Walvis Bay §hould r;c;i lz,?
included in the negotiations, and asserted tha}t) 31: ;gays7p50uth

South Africa, not Namibia. Then on 1 Septembe
Africa proclaimed that the port would be administered as part

i i i ial treaty of
of the Cape Province. Their claim rests on the colonial
1878 by which Britain annexed the enclave of Walvis Bay 1o
17
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prevent its falling into the hands of the Germans. It is Namibia’s
only deep-water port and is of crucial importance to the
economic growth of a future independent Namibia, as well as
being strategically significant to South Africa’s and the West’s
control of the Cape route. Since the League of Nations mandate,
however, the port has been administered as part of Namibia.
All Namibian nationalist organisations have claimed that
Walvis Bay is historically, culturally, geographically and
economically an integral part of Namibia and do not envisage
leaving the area under continued South African control. But
the Contact Group were aware that ‘if the independence
negotiations had to resolve the status of Walvis Bay, on which
the sides were diametrically and immovably opposed’,"
their initiative would be destroyed.

After further talks and consultations the Contact Group put
forward the following revised proposals in October 1877:

1 a South African force of 1,500 men would remain in
Namibia, confined to one base, under UN monitoring, until
independence;

2 all political prisoners would be released;

3 the UN monitoring team would include a military
peace-keeping force of about 2,000, the exact number still to be
determined;

4 measures would be taken to neutralise the South African
police and militia in Namibia;

5 the status of Walvis Bay would be deferred for negotiation
after independence.'®

Both South Africa and SWAPO rejected these proposals. To
try to break the deadlock, ‘proximity talks’ were held in New
York in February 1978. The SWAPO delegation included
leaders based in Windhoek and those in exile. The South
African delegation included, for the first time, representatives
from the Turnhalle. SWAPO accepted that 1,500 South African
troops remain in Namibia through the elections. Pretoria’s
response to this came when South African Foreign Minister R F
Botha walked out of the talks altogether.

Further amendments were then made to the proposals as
follows:

1 The South African-appointed Administrator General
would retain control of the Namibian police, who would
be accompanied in their duties by UN observers;

2 The UN Special Representative would determine the
size of the monitoring group and peace-keeping force . . .
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South Africa would be consulted on the national compo-
sition of the UN force to ensure that it was not drawn
primarily from nations avowedly sympathetic to SWAPO;

3 The Contact Group would take into account the
wishes of the constituent assembly chosen during the
UN-supervised elections if it asked that the South African
forces remain in Namibia after the elections; and

4 South African forces could be concentrated at two
bases in northern Namibia.l”

On 10 April 1978 these final proposals were presented to the
UN Security Council. On 25 April South Africa formally
accepted the proposals ‘in principle’.

A mere nine days later, on 4 May 1978, South African forces
attacked the Namibian refugee settlement at Kassinga, 150
miles inside Angola. SWAPO President Sam Nujoma was in
New York at the time of the Kassinga attack, in talks with the
Contact Group. He immediately returned to Angola and the
whole future of the Western initiative was in doubt. Cyrus
Vance reported that

the larger question on my mind was whether South Africa
was sincere about trying to negotiate an acceptal?le
settlement. Given the size of the attack and thfz prior
intelligence work and military planning it required, it
seemed that Pretoria must have been preparing the ra11§l
even as Vorster was agreeing to our clarified proposal.

The Contact Group’s proposal specified a three-month period
for the withdrawal of South African troops and then a
four-month election campaign, so the initial ceasefire would
need to come into force in May 1978 at the latest to allow
iIndependence by 31 December 1978 - the date set by the
Turnhalle and South Africa and accepted by the CDIllltaCt
Group, The attack on Kassinga therefore seems clearly to eg}re

een an attempt by South Africa to get SWAPO to reject the

Proposals or delay in responding to them.

Despite the Kassginga ati:ack. however, SWAPO agrqe.d totg::
Contact Group’s proposal on 12 July 1978, on C(?ndltloi’l i
they support a proposed UN Security Gouncil rglsjq u,Il,h o
affirming that Walvis Bay was an integral part of lfgn;\; 1a. the-
South Africans were ‘extremely upset’ al this. eretions
less, on 27 July the Security Gouncil adopted two rets%:lo up’s
on Namibia, Resolution 431 took note of the Con?a(t:a Special
Droposals; requested the Secretary General to appotit - Specie

epresentative for Namibia ‘in order to ensure
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independence of Namibia through free elections under the
supervision and control of the United Nations’; and urged the
Secretary General to submit recommendations for the imple-
mentation of the proposal ‘in accordance with Security Council
resolution 385 (1976).2° Resolution 432 declared that ‘the
territorial integrity and unity of Namibia must be assured
through the reintegration of Walvis Bay’ and gave its full
support to ‘the initiative of steps necessary to ensure the early

reintegration of Walvis Bay into Namibia’.?*
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18 THE UN PLAN FOR
INDEPENDENCE ELECTIONS IN NAMIBIA

gg ﬁegurll’iy Council Resolution 431 meant, in effect, that the
lo78 ad ta hen up the Contact Group’s proposals and, from July
iy le?r?, tt e UN prepared detailed measures for their actual
. plementation. The Contact Group still played a role in the
O%Enumg negotiating process, however.
quis }f‘ éﬂ}\: Commissioner for Namibia, Martti Ahtisaari, relin-
o Nae ‘b'is post and was appointed as Special Representative
b wemtl ia to tl}e_UN Secretary General. In early August 1978
U nt to Namibia to assess the practical requirements of the
N ISnomtormg group. On the basis of Ahtisaari’s findings, the
Th_BCretary General gave a report to the Security Council.!
Grouls {?Nport recomr{lepded a UN Transitional Assistance
ond p( 'l'TAG) consisting of a civilian component of 1,860
hi hﬂ H}lxl itary one of 7,500. Both figures were substantially
Ci\gril?r than either SWAPO or South Africa had envisaged. The
. lan component was to assist the Special Representative in
nsuring that the elections were free and fair and to cover the
proposed 400 polling stations. The military component was to:

SV%’ monitor the ceasefire, the restriction of South African and
APO troops to base, the phased withdrawal of all but 1,500
SOUt_h African troops and the restriction of those 1,500 to
specified locations;

2 prevent the infiltration of Namibia’s borders;

3 monitor the demobilisation of citizen forces,
and ethnic forces and the dismantling of their ¢
structure.

The report noted that Sout

commandos
ommand

h Africa still wanted to hold

elections in December 1978 and wished, therefore, t0 shorten
the_ transitional period to fit in with this, but it left the final date
of independence up to the elected constituent assembly. The
transitional period was to start on the date of approval of his

report by the Security Council, and the elections to take place
ific period of time had been

seven months later. As no specl

suggested for the elected constituent assembly to adopt a
constitution and move towards formal independence, the
report envisaged that UNTAG would be in place for about one

year in all.
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SWAPO welcomed the Secretary General’s report. It had
some outstanding reservations about certain details, but pro-
posed nevertheless that it sign a formal ceasefire with South
Africa to initiate the transitional period.?

South Africa’s response was angrily to claim that the report
deviated from the Contact Group’s proposals.? They insisted on
independence by 31 December 1978 and the shortening of the
time-table for the transitional electoral period to four months to
fit in with this. They also strongly objected to the size of the
military component of UNTAG. The South African Foreign
Minister, R F Botha, complained that the South African
government had accepted the Contact Group’s proposals,
‘nothing more, nothing less,” and said ‘We are prepared to
adhere to that decision but not to go along with interpretations
inconsistent with the proposal.’

Then on 20 September 1978 the South African Prime
Minister, B ] Vorster, announced his resignation. At the same
time, he formally rejected the UN Secretary General’s report on
implementation of the Contact Group’s proposals, and
announced that South Africa would go ahead with internal
elections in Namibia in December 1978 “in order to establish
unequivocally who had the right to speak for the people of
South West Africa’.®

On 29 September the UN Security Council approved the
Secretary General’s report in Resolution 435. This became
known as the ‘UN Plan’. In view of South Africa’s stand,
however, its implementation was immediately in question.

In a final effort to rescue the proposals for independence
elections under UN supervision and control, the Contact Group
Foreign Ministers flew to Windhoek and Pretoria in mid-
October 1978 to meet the new South African Prime Minister, P
W Botha.® Although they hoped to be able to persuade Botha
to drop the proposed internal elections in Namibia, they did

not succeed. The British Foreign Minister, Dr David QOwen, has
stated that

There was no way that we could stop Pieter Botha . . . he
was going .::lhead with this internal settlement. Therefore
the only thing we could salvage was an agreement that he
would not rule out UN elections and that the internal

elections would be done by him and would have no
relevance.”

!t was ag_regd that South Africa 80 ahead with internal elections
in Namibia and that it would persuade the constituent
assembly then elected to agree to the UN plan. This was in
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dirt_act conflict with the Contact Group’s original proposals
which had been endorsed by the UN Security Council.

This agreement can only be described as a humiliating
defeat for Western diplomacy, and, more importantly, it
was a major setback for the UN’s attempt to settle the
problem through negotiation. Although the West had
stated that it would not recognise the elections, the
agreement allowed South Africa further to promote
Turnhalle members as ‘elected’ leaders. South Africa still
had not given any undertaking to implement the UN
election plan and it became clear that even in the face of
open defiance, the West was unwilling to impose
sanctions against South Africa.®

SWAPO and the African states at the UN rejected this
agreement and on 13 November the UN Security Council
COnd'emned South Africa’s decision to go ahead with internal
elections.® The Contact Group abstained and Cyrus Vance
reported that ‘Western credibility with the African states was
damaged by this vote.’1°

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE 1978

Thg internal elections were held in Namibia in December 1978,
amidst widespread fraud and intimidation of voters. The
Democratic Turnhalle Alliance (DTA) claimed victory and
gained control of a newly established constituent assembly,

although this had no real power.

After the internal elections there were repeated attempts by
the Contact Group and the UN to implement the UN plan, but
South Africa constantly introduced new issues or problems to
be resolved. In January 1979 the UN Special Representative,

Martti Ahtisaari, visited Namibia with the Indian Commagder
of UNTAG's military component, Lt-General Prem Chand, to

complete i n the requirements for the
p consultations o e UN Secretary

deployment of UNTAG. In February 1
General sent ceasefire letters to be signeq by SWAFO anld So%lﬁf;
Africa, intended to initiate implementation of the UN'P gla:t the
ceasefire was scheduled to start on 13 March 1979, itorin
gouth Africans objected to the arraﬂgef";ﬁntijgj’l{zﬁ%oglilitarg
. - e :
WAPO fighters and the composition 0 never signed. In fact,

contingent.!' The ceasefire letters Were
both SWAPO and South Africa requested that the UNTAG
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military component be made up of troops from countries which
were friendly, or at least not hostile, to them.*?

The question of where SWAPO fighters were to be confined
to base had by this time become a major issue. SWAPO stated
that its ‘2,500 guerrilla forces’ should be confined to bases
inside Namibia:

[The] SWAPQO guerrilla army, being mobile, has no
permanently structured bases. Therefore, for the purpose
of implementing the UN Plan, it has been agreed upon
during the negotiations between SWAPO and the Five
that specific bases will have to be identified to which
SWAPOQ armed forces would be confined . . . SWAPO will
provide military liaison officers in order to ensure
effective coordination and consultation with the military
component of UNTAG.1?

South Africa refused to accept that SWAPO had fighters
permanently inside Namibia who could be confined to bases
within the country. They also feared that any SWAPO fighters
outside Namibia would cross into the country during the
electoral process. The UN and the Contact Group, therefore,
proposed the creation of a demilitarised zone along the
Namibia/Angola border. Discussions over this were drawn out
over many months.

Then in January 1981 the UN brought both sides together in a
‘Pre-Implementation Meeting’ in Geneva, to try to resolve all
outstanding issues. Delegations came from SWAPQ, South
Africa and the DTA, with South Africa trying to use the
meeting to promote the DTA and encourage direct talks
between it and SWAPO, thus ‘Namibianising’ the issue. South
Africa and the DTA also accused the UN of bias in favour of
SWAPO. Then, in the middle of the meeting, South Africa
announced that it was ‘premature to proceed with the discuss-
ion of the setting of a date for implementation’,’* and the
talks broke up.

In.March 1981 the UN General Assembly held a Special
Session on Namibia which adopted ten resolutions condem-
ning South Africa and calling on the Security Council to
impose comprehensive sanctions. The Contact Group countries
abstained on all these resolutions. Then in April they vetoed
four Security Council resolutions calling for sanctions against

South Africa and for an oil embargo and measures to strengthen
the arms embargo.15
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THE US ELECTION FACTOR

Akey factor in the South African withdrawal at Geneva was the
victory of the Republican Ronald Reagan in the US Presidential
election. He came into office in January 1981, making it quite
clear that he would change US policy towards South Africa,
and that he favoured ‘constructive engagement’, under which
direct pressure on South Africa for change would not be
considered, Reagan soon asserted his leadership of the Contact
Group and took over control of the pace and content of the
West's policy towards Namibia. The US administration then
introduced new issues to be resolved before the UN plan could
be implemented. These were proposed ‘constitutional princi-
ples’ to be agreed in advance of meetings of the constituent
assembly which was to be formed after UN elections, and the
linkage of Namibian independence to the withdrawal of Cuban
troops from Angola.

The idea of constitutional principles was influenced by the
Lancaster House agreement on Zimbabwe: they were designed
to reassure white settlers in Namibia and the whites in South
Africa itself. They were drawn up by the Contact Group after
discussions between the US and South African goygrnments
and included a Bill of Rights, independent judiciary, the
Protection of private property, and no introduction of criminal
offences with retrospective effect.'® SWAPO accepted these
principles but would not accept proposals for a gonfusmg
two-vote system combining proportional representation and a
single-member constituency system. . o

The linkage of Namibian independence with the situation in
Angola had, however, much more serious ilfnphcallons- It
showed that the US administration viewed Africa as a theatre
for East-West conflict rather than as a continent with its own
dynamics. It also offered the South Africans an excuse for 'Il‘ll.(llt
proceeding with the implementation of the UN plr:m.f e
Cuban troops remain in Angola to protect that country ront
attacks by South African armed forces and the rebel m(i:remfﬁle
UNITA, which South Africa supports and arms. T usb ;
withdrawal of the Cubans from Angola could be bll;ox?rl}t : Sc;;i]
by a change of policy by South Africa. Yet Sout : cl: e
says it cannot proceed with Namibian independen

Angola is free of the Cubans. .
SWAPO and the front-line states have con;nstellgt;}ifs;g?sz(;
to accept the concept of linkage between the f:COAn o The
Namibia and the question of Cuban troops in ARBOIS.
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British, West German, Canadian and French governments have
all said that they do not believe that the withdrawal of Cuban
troops from Angola should be a precondition for Namibian
independence. France, in fact, under the Socialist administ-
ration elected in 1981, temporarily suspended its participation
in the Contact Group in 1983, over the linkage issue.’” Other
Contact Group members, however, made little effort to over-
come this issue. The British Prime Minister, Mrs Margaret
Thatcher, aptly summed up the problem when she pointed out
that ‘the fact that other nations have made the linkage is
material to how and when the problem will be resolved.*®
The question of Namibian independence is thus no longer a
straightforward issue of self-determination, but has been made
part of wider political and strategic concerns.

In 1983 the DTA administration in Namibia collapsed, due to
its failure to initiate substantive reforms or win local or
international support, and due to financial mismanagement. In
June 1985 South Africa established an ‘interim government’ in
Namibia which consisted of the DTA plus a few small black
political groupings. It has remained deadlocked over the
question of constitutional reform. South Africa still insists on
retaining the ethnic division of Namibia. Nevertheless, it
maintains that it is keeping the door open for an internationally
acceptable independence solution. The international commu-
nity, meanwhile, is still seeking ways of implementing UN
Security Council Resolution 435.
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Only just over 100 years ago the various societies in Namibia
were still independent, although European missionaries, traders
and settlers were already encroaching on their land and culture.
None of these societies willingly or passively accepted foreign
rule. At the same time, however, none was able to resist the
imposition of that rule at all times. Nor were they ultimately able
1o stop the consolidation of German, and later South African,
control, In the final analysis, as in so many other parts of Africa,
those with superior weaponry had the upper hand.

Nevertheless, although they separately resisted the impo-
sition of foreign rule, there was a clear attempt by Namibian
societies in the centre and south of the country to forma united
front against the German colonial regime. Unity was not then
achieved; the Namibian resistance was overcome by the Ger-
mans. But unity was aiready perceived as necessary for a
successful resistance to foreign domination.

Throughout the 1920s various communities resisted the full
imposition of South African rule, again without success,
however. Then new forms of organisation began to spring up —
cultural associations, educational organisations, indepquent
churches, and labour organisations. Some of the traditional
community leaders, such as Herero Chief Hosea Kutako anq his
Chief’s Council, took a consistent stand against South African
rule, and petitioned the United Nations for an‘end to South
African rule, but others were incorporated into the new
administrative structures and no longer truly represented their

peoples’ interests.

Itpwas from the centres of traditional resistance and tl}‘? n?lw
forms of organisation that the move towards spec:flf' }31(
nationalist objectives took place in 1956-60. OPO"f‘wcvi $
represented the contract workers from the nprtly Spemhle f'r‘:
attainment of independence in its constitution. Td e s:.'l?-
organisation set up specifically to work towarh'S h was
determination of the Namibian people was SW-A NU, whe nti-
intended as an umbrella organisation in wlruchov alﬁouse?i its
South African groups could act jointly. Then OP1 C anggvertly
name - to SWAPO — and its status, becoming aisc an

nationalist organisation.
127




Conclusion

Initially, both SWANU and SWAPQO saw a key role for the
United Nations in Namibia’s path to independence, with a
possible period of UN trusteeship for the country. But the early
1960s saw a change away from this position, towards the desire
for full independence straight away. At the same time there was
a shift away from reliance on petitioning the UN as a means of
achieving independence. A major contributory factor in this
was the failure of the UN to enforce its own decisions on
Namibia and, more specifically, the refusal of the ICJ in 1966 to
judge South Africa’s administration of the country. A new form
of resistance was then called for. This was the context for
SWAPQ's decision to embark upon an armed struggle against
South African rule. SWANU approved in theory of the need to
take up arms, but was not prepared itself to do so.

The increasing support for SWAPO within Namibia and in
international forums was in part because of this decision to
take up arms. It was, however, also related to its original base
amongst the contract workers, as well as to the way SWAPO
worked with established anti-South African groups in the
country, in particular, the Herero Chief's Council. SWANU, on
the other hand came into conflict with the Chief’s Council and
did not manage to widen its support-base beyond the incipient
intelligentsia.

Throughout the 1960s and 1970s Namibian nationalists were
active in opposition to South African rule and South Africa’s
plans to divide the country on an ethnic basis into Bantustans.
By the end of the 1970s, SWAPO had emerged as the major
nationalist organisation in the country. The widespread
support it received from groups in the centre and south of
Namibia who joined SWAPO in 19767 helped to make it a
truly national movement.

After 1975, an independent Angola provided SWAPO's
mllltaw wing, PLAN, with wider access to Namibia and with
improved lines of communications SWAPO was able to expand
and de\'relop its armed struggle against the South African
occupation regime in Namibia. PLAN units began to operate
throughout the northern region, and reached places such as
Tsu_meb‘ an_d beyond. Some units now live on a semi-permanent
basis within the country and are part and parcel of the local
communities. The war is, nevertheless, still mostly confined to
northern Namibia — the northern Bantustans and the Kao-
koveld, pI:OVlding natural barriers to PLAN’s penetration of
South African controlled farming and industrial areas. But it
takes some 80,000-100,000 South African military and parami-
litary forces to avert a SWAPO military victory.
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‘The internal crisis SWAPO experienced in 1976 is not
w1t_hout its parallels elsewhere in Africa in the history of other
nationalist movements. What is interesting, though, is
SWAPO’s readiness, in this instance, to countenance a
Commission of Enquiry, whose findings and recommendations
showed up many problems in SWAPQ’s organisational proce-
dures and leadership, and a readiness to try to overcome these.

The challenge of a long drawn-out nationalist campaign and
a decade of armed struggle, together with the problems created
by the needs of thousands of Namibians in SWAPO’s care and
bY_ the internal crisis, compelled SWAPO to redefine its
objectives at its 1976 Enlarged Central Committee Meeting.
Here SWAPQO adopted a new Constitution and Political
Programme. Through the latter, SWAPO dealt with the type of
society it envisaged after independence. It chose 2 socialist
path of development, reflecting the general radicalisation of the
national liberation movements in southern Africa in the face of
the intransigence of the ruling white minority regimes.
_SWAPO has succeeded in challenging the South African
illegal occupation regime in Namibia through its politcal
mobilisation within the country, as well as through its armed
struggle. It has also organised thousands of Namibian refugees
in Zambia and Angola into increasingly self-reliant communi-
ties, and has achieved considerable international standing and
support.

The UN has not been able to establish its authority over
Namibia since the termination of the mandate because it was
blocked from taking action against South Africa by Western
vetoes in the UN Security Council. Thus, despite the mpral z_md
legal legitimacy accorded to the cause of Namibian nationalists

v the country’s unique international status, the UN has not
succeeded in bringing the country to independence.

The current deadlock over negotiations to implement the UN
plan for fair and free elections in Namibia under UN supervi-
sion and control has been caused by the linking of Namibian
independence to the internal situation in Angola.

The question of Namibian independence 15 seell not as a
straightforward issue of self-determination but as part of wider
Political and strategic concerns. Under such coqutlons,dpros-
pects for a negotiated settlement of Namibian independence

receded. ica is of
At the same time, the internal gjtuation in South Africa lE;ho’c
importance to Namibia’s future. There are some W]_lo a.rgse tes-
e regime in Pretoria is unlikely to accept Namibian % 'er? in
dence in the face of the threat of a widespread black uprising
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South Africa, because it fears a possible white backlash and
encouragement to black South Africans if it did so. Others
argue that Namibia will be used by the South African regime as
a card or pawn to play as it tries to hold off sanctions and other
international pressure for change within South Africa itself.

Certainly, the South African regime has yet to be convinced
that the advantages of a Namibian settlement would outweigh
what it perceives as the risks involved. This is not to say that
Namibia’s independence rests solely on changes within South
Africa. It depends on a combination of forces coming together
at the same time: negotiations, political and economic pressure
and the armed struggle.

There will come a time when South Africa judges that it is
more advantageous for it to withdraw from Namibia. The
combined pressure of political and military resistance to the
South African regime both in Namibia and in South Africa
itself will play a major role here. But also important will be the
reaction of Western governments to South Africa’s continuing
efforts to control and, at times, destabilise the whole of
southern Africa, and their reactions to the continuing nation-
alist campaign in Namibia and South Africa. If Western
governments feel that their interests in southern Africa can no
longer be protected by the South African regime they may
choose to step in. In the meantime their inaction protects the
South African regime and helps to perpetuate its illegal
occupation of Namibia.
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After enduring 23 years of illegal occupation by neighboring South Africa,
Namibia won the right to hold democratic elections in a 1989 UN spon-
sored agreement. This achievement was the result of years of popular
action (resistance) against German and South African occupation. Lead-
ing Namibian historian Dr. Peter Katjavivi has here provided a lively
account of many of the struggles that led up to the historic elections and
which will inform Namibia’s continuing quest for self-determination:

* the Herero, Nama and other popular resistance to German congquest

* the South African takeover of Namibia under the League of Nations
Mandata

* land, labor and other community based resistance from 1920 to 1960

* the emergence of Nationalist organizations

* appeals to the United Nations and the International Court of Justice

* nationalist responses to South Africa’s Bantustan policy

* the war of liberation and the role of neighboring Angola

Dr. Katjavivi is a representative in the Namibian Constituent Assembly and
a prominent member of South West Africa People's Organization
(SWAPOQ). He earned his doctorate in philosophy from Oxford University.
Currently a member of the Southern African Research Program at Yale
University, Dr. Katjavivi is the author of The Road to Namibian Indepen-
dence and co-editor of Church and Liberation in Namibia.
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